File # 82-5097

© [ S

 Aquarius Platinum Limited

Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2009




AQUARIUS PLATINUM LIMITED

CORPORATE DIRECTORY

Exempt Company Number

EC 26290 '
Incorporated in Bermuda

Registered Office
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton

Bermuda

Board of Directors
Nicholas Sibley
Stuart Murray

Sir William Purves
David Dix

Edward Haslam

Tim Freshwater

Kofi Morna

Zwelakhe Mankazana

Company Secretary
Willi Boehm

Stock Exchange Listings

Aquarius Platinum Limited is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (AQP.AX), the London Stock Exchange
(AQP.L), the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa (AQP.ZA) and has a sponsored Level 1 ADR program in the
United States.

Share Registers

Australia United Kingdom South Africa
Computershare Investor Services Computershare Investor Computershare Investor
Pty Limited Services Plc Services 2004 (Pty) Limited
Level 2, Reserve Bank Building The Pavilions 8" Floor
45 St Georges Terrace Bridgewater Road 70 Marshall Street
Perth, Western Australia 6000 Bedminster Down Johannesburg, 2001

Bristol BS99 7NH South Africa
Telephone:+61 8 9323 2000 Telephone:+44 870 702 0002 Telephone:+27 11 370 5000
Facsimile:+61 8 9323 2033 Facsimile:+44 870 703 6119 Facsimile:+27 11 688 7707
Internet Address

www.aquariusplatinum.com

info@aquariusplatinum.com



File # 82-5097

Aquarius Platinum Limited - Directors’ Report

The directors of Aquarius Platinum Limited (Aquarius) provide hereunder their report as to the resuits and state of affairs of
the group for the financial year ended 30 June 2009. The consolidated financial information is presented in US Dollars.

DIRECTORS
The names of the directors of the parent entity in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as
follows:

Nicholas T. Sibley

Non-executive Chairman

Mr Sibley is a Chartered Accountant, a director of TanzaniteOne Ltd, Comey & Barrow Group Ltd, Wah Kwong Maritime
Transport Holdings Ltd and of two investment companies. He was formerly chairman of Wheelock Capital from 1994 to 1997,
as well as executive chairman of Barclays de Zoete Wedd (Asia Pacific) Limited, from 1989 to 1993. Mr Sibley is a former
managing director of Jardine Fleming Holdings Ltd and Barclays de Zoete Wedd Holdings Ltd. Mr Sibley was appointed to
the Aquarius Platinum Board during October 1999 and assumed the Chairmanship in July 2002. Mr Sibley is a member of the
Audit/Risk, Nomination and Remuneration & Succession Planning Committees of the Group.

Stuart A. Murray

Chief Executive Officer

Mr Murray joined Aquarius Platinum Limited during May 2001 and was appointed Chief Executive Officer in September 2001.
After obtaining his degree in Chemical Engineering from Imperial College, London, Mr Murray commenced his career in 1984
with Impala Platinum Holdings Limited. He is Chairman of Aquarius Platinum (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd, the Group’s 100%
owned subsidiary. Mr Murray sits on the Boards of Mimosa Investments Limited the Group's 50% owned Zimbabwean
subsidiary, Platinum Mile Resources (Pty) Limited the Group's 50% owned tailings retreatment company, and Aquarius
Platinum (SA) Corporate Services (Pty) Limited, the owner of 50% of the Chrome Tailings Retreatment Plant. Mr Murray is a
member of the Nomination Committee and Executive Committee of AQP (SA).

Sir William Purves

Non-executive Director

Sir William Purves joined The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation in 1954 (now part of the HSBC Group) being
appointed Chief Executive in 1986 and Group Chairman the following year. Following its acquisition in 1992, he also became
Chairman of Midland Bank. He retired from the HSBC Group in 1998 after 44 years service. Sir William Purves is a non-
executive director of a number of private companies and was a non-executive director of Shell Transport and Trading from
1993 to 2002. He was also a member of the Executive Council, Hong Kong's highest policy-making body. He was appointed
a Commander of the Order of the British Empire in 1990 and was Knighted in 1993. Sir William Purves was appointed to the
Aquarius Platinum Board during February 2004 and is Chairman of the Audit/Risk Committee, Senior Independent Director of

the Company and a member of the Nomination Committee.
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David R. Dix
Non-executive Director

Mr Dix’s background is in economics, law and taxation and he is a Barrister and Solicitor in the High Court of Australia. He
has held various positions with Shell Australia Limited and worked for 16 years in Corporate Advisory at both Macquarie Bank
Limited and UBS AG specialising in the mining industry, including Head of Resources for Asia Pacific and in London as Head
of Mining. Mr Dix is Executive Chairman of Australian Oil Company, AED QOil Limited and Chairman of Quadrem Limited, a
company which provides eBusiness solutions to the resource sector. He brings to Aquarius a wealth of experience gained in
the international business and resources communities. Mr Dix was appointed to the Aquarius Platinum Board during March
2004 and is a member of the Audit/Risk, and Nomination Committees.

G. Edward Haslam

Non-executive Director

Mr Haslam joined Lonmin plc in 1981 and was appointed a director of Lonmin plc in 1999 and Chief Executive Officer in
November 2000. He retired from Lonmin plc in April 2004. Mr Haslam is Chairman of Finnish Nickel Mining Company
Talvivaara plc, which completed its listing on the LSE on June 1st 2007 and is Senior Independent Director of the South
African company Namakwa Diamonds Ltd., which completed its listing on the JSE in December 2008. Mr Haslam was
appointed to the Aquarius Platinum Board during May 2004 and is Chairman of the Remuneration & Succession Planning
Committee and a member of the Audit/Risk, and Nomination Committees.

Tim Freshwater

Non-executive Director

Mr Freshwater is a solicitor in the UK and Hong Kong and has been involved in Asian markets for over 35 years. Mr
Freshwater, Vice Chairman of Goldman Sachs Asia, is also a director of a number of companies, including Swire Pacific
Limited, Chong Hing Bank Limited, Cosco Pacific Limited and Grosvenor Asia Limited. He is a member of the board of
directors of the Community Chest of Hong Kong and a Council Member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council. Mr
Freshwater was appointed to the Aquarius Platinum Board during August 2006 and is a member of the Nomination
Committee.

Kofi Morna

Non-executive Director

Mr Morna is an Executive Director of Savannah Resources (Pty) Limited (Savannah), the lead investor in the Savannah
Consortium, Aquarius Platinum's BEE partner. Prior to joining Savannah Resources, Mr Morna worked with the International
Finance Corporation as an Investment Officer, Gemini Consulting as a Senior Management Consultant and Schlumberger
Oilfield Services as a Field Engineer. Mr Morna holds an MBA from the London Business School and a BS from Princeton
University in the United States. He is currently a director of Mkhombi Holdings and Delta Iron Ore. Mr Morna joined the Board
of AQP(SA) in February 2005 and was appointed to the Aquarius Platinum Board during February 2007. Mr Morna is a
member of the Nomination Committee of the Group.
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Zwelakhe Mankazana

Mr Mankazana is an Executive Director of Savannah Resources, the lead investor in the Savannah Consortium, Aquarius
Platinum’'s BEE partner. Mr Mankazana holds an MSc in Economics from the Patrice Lumumba University of Friendship. In
addition to his interests in mining, Mr Mankazana is also a director of South African mobile operator Cell C, Emerald Casinos
and Resorts, New Millennium Telecommunications and Ubambo Investment Holdings Limited. He is involved in community
development as a trustee on several development trusts. Mr Mankazana joined the Board of AQP(SA) in February 2005. He
was appointed to the Aquarius Platinum Board during November 2008 and is a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Willi M.P. Boehm

Mr Boehm joined Aquarius in June 1995. He has been with the Company since the commencement of its involvement in the
platinum sector and is responsible for the Company’s Corporate Affairs. He has 29 years experience.

INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY
As at the date of this report, the interest of the Directors in the shares and options of Aquarius Platinum were:

Director Common Shares
N.T. Sibley 1,777,777
S.A Murray 1,676,231
Sir W. Purves -
D.R. Dix 100,000
G.E. Haslam 16,666
T Freshwater -
K. Morna ") 68,658,728
Z. Mankazana " 68,658,728

(1) The interests held by Mr Morna and Mr Mankazana arise as a result of their directorship and beneficial interest in
Savannah which, as a member of the Savannah Consortium, holds 68,658,728 Common Shares.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of companies within the group during the financial year were mine development, concentrate
production and investment. During the year, the principal focus revolved around the operations of the Kroondal platinum
mine, the Marikana platinum mine, the Mimosa platinum mine, the Everest platinum mine, the Platinum Mile joint venture and
the Chrome Tailings Retreatment Plant.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The net loss of the group after provision for income tax and non controlling interest was a loss of $45.742m for the year
(2008: net profit of $236.474m).
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Operational highlights during the year included:
+  Group attributable production of 455,675 PGM ounces despite suspension of operations at the Everest Mine (2008:
500,203 PGM ounces),
* Improved production at all operating units; up 13% in total (excluding Everest & Platinum Mile)
« Recovery in operating margins through the second half of the financial year (2H) at South African operations
+  Capital raising completed by way of equity placement, rights issue and convertible note issue
«  Completion of the acquisition of Ridge Mining in July 2009
«  Mimosa Wedza Phase 5.5 expansion successfully completed and commissioned
+ Completion of the final phase of the group’s South African BEE transaction effectively increasing Aquarius’
shareholding in AQPSA to 100%

Total mine PGM production for the year increased 1% to 847,283 PGM ounces despite the temporary suspension of Everest
in December 2008. Production attributable to Aquarius was 9% lower at 455,675 PGM ounces. The decrease in attributable
production was due entirely to the reduction in production at the Everest mine. Encouragingly all other operations increased
annual production by 49,463 PGM ounces (13%) compared to FY 2008.

On 27 October 2008, Aquarius Platinum announced the completion of the final phase of its South African BEE transaction
with SavCon whereby SavCon exchanged its 32.5% shareholding in AQPSA for 65,042,856 new shares in Aquarius,
comprising approximately 20% of the enlarged share capital of Aquarius. Subsequently, Aquarius increased its holding in
AQPSA to 100% of AQPSA providing a modest boost to earnings.

In March 2009, the Boards of Aquarius and Ridge announced their agreement on the terms of a possible recommended all
share offer by Aquarius for the entire issued and to be issued share capital of Ridge at an exchange ratio of 1 Aquarius share
for every 2.75 Ridge Shares.

Subsequent to year end, Ridge Shareholders on 6 July 2009 voted in favour of the acquisition of Ridge by Aquarius by
means of a scheme of arrangement. Ridge Mining is now 100% owned by Aquarius Platinum Limited.

During the last quarter of the financial year Aquarius concluded its capital base restructuring raising gross proceeds of $270
million by way of:

+  $118.5 million from an equity placement of 46,330,000 common shares;

«  $73.5 million from a rights issue of 41,491,737 common shares as part of the 1 for 9 rights issue; and

«  $78.0 million (R650 million) from a convertible bond issue of 65,000 bonds of R10,000 par value.

Aquarius utilised funds received from the capital raising and convertible bond to reduce group debt by paying out the RMB
bridge facility of R1.577 billion ($177 million) in May 2009. As a result, the group’s balance sheet is significantly stronger;
group debt comprises $8 million of mainly bank interest bearing debt at Mimosa and $76 million of convertible bonds issued.

In Zimbabwe, Aquarius the Wedza 5.5 expansion was successfully commissioned in May 2009, providing capacity to produce
200,000 PGM ounces per annum of which 50% is attributable to Aquarius..
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The proposed amendments to the Mines and Minerals Act in Zimbabwe which were tabled just before the dissolution of the
previous parliament have been withdrawn by the current Minister of Mines. The Minister has requested for input from the
industry through the Chamber of Mines.

Since the announcement of the National Budget and Monetary Policy Statement in January 2009 that liberalised foreign
currency trading in Zimbabwe there has not been any further changes in the foreign currency regime.

Operating Results

Aquarius recorded a consolidated loss for the year to 30 June 2009 of $45.7million (US$ 13.30 cents per share) compared to
a prior year profit of $236.5 million. The result is attributable to a number of factors but in the main a collapse of PGM prices
during the first half of the financial year and reduced production due to the suspension of operations at the Everest mine in
December 2008.

Significantly, earnings in the second half of the financial year (2H 2009) reflected a $94.4 million swing resulting in a net profit
of $24.4 million in 2H. This net profit was achieved despite lower production (Everest), the impact of dollarisation of the
Zimbabwean economy and a significant strengthening in the vaiue of the SA Rand against the US$ in 2H. The net profit
achieved in the second half is attributable to improved US$ PGM prices (both provisional and realised) liting from the lows
experienced in the December 2008 quarter.

Revenue from ordinary activities for the FY2009 was $311 million (comprising sales revenue of $300 million and interest
income of $11 million), down from the previous corresponding period due to the factors described above. Revenue in 2H

2009 was $32 miltion higher than 1H 2009 despite lower production, reflecting a return to improved PGM prices.

The Group cash balance was $153.6 million at 30 June 2009.

DIVIDENDS
The 2008 final dividend of US$10 cents per common share was paid during October 2008. An interim dividend has not been
paid during the year. The directors have not declared a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2009.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE GROUP’S STATE OF AFFAIRS
The directors are not aware of any significant changes in the state of affairs of the group that occurred during the financial
year, which has not been covered elsewhere in this annual report.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
On 6 July 2009, Aquarius Platinum Limited (Aquarius) acquired 100% of the voting shares of Ridge Mining plc (Ridge), a
company registered and headquartered in England and publicly listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.

The acquisition of Ridge will build on the successful transformation of Aquarius into the fourth largest low cost platinum
producer in the Bushveld Complex. Ridge’s flagship Blue Ridge Mine is currently entering production and will further diversify
Aquarius’ portfolio, increase its resources base, add new production ounces and longevity to its production profile and add
significant optionality with the new Sheba’s Ridge project.
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Ridge is a platinum group metal explorer and developer with two key projects in the eastern limb of South Africa’s Bushveld
Complex, the 50% owned Blue Ridge project which is in the start up phase and which shipped its first concentrate in April
2009, and the 39% owned Sheba'’s Ridge project which is under feasibility study.

The total cost of the business combination was US$113,108,751 and comprised the issue of equity instruments — both
ordinary shares and options over ordinary shares. Aquarius issued 33,478,376 ordinary shares with a fair value of GBP
1.968 each, based on the quoted price of the shares of Aquarius on 6 July 2009. The ordinary shares have a total fair value
of GBP 65,885,443 or USD 107,575,775. Aquarius granted 14,089,324 replacement options over ordinary shares to cover
the outstanding Ridge employee share options, shareholder warrants, and options granted to joint venture partners. The
replacement options have a total fair value of GBP 1,857,565 or USD 3,032,976.

The consolidated net assets of Ridge at 31 December 2008 was USD108,599,000 from its 31 December 2008 Full Year
Results. The Group is currently undertaking an assessment of the fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities

of Ridge. Accordingly it is impracticable to provide further information.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS

Other than matters referred to in this report, the directors make no comments regarding the likely developments in the
operations of the group and the expected results of those operations in subsequent financial years. In the opinion of the
directors, any further disclosures might prejudice the interests of the group.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE

Companies within the Aquarius Platinum group are required, on cessation of mining operations, to rehabilitate the relevant
mining area on which mining operations have been conducted. Mr Hugo Holl, Managing Director of AQP(SA), is the officer
responsible for compliance on these matters for all South African properties within the Group. Mr Winston Chitando Managing
Director of Mimosa Group of Companies in Zimbabwe, is the officer responsible on these matters for all Zimbabwean located
properties within the Group. In South Africa, the company makes annual contributions to established trusts in order to
provide for its obligations in respect of environmental rehabilitation. Environmental activities are continuously monitored to
ensure that established criteria from each operations’ environmental management programme, approved by relevant

authorities, has been met. There have been no known significant breaches of any environmental conditions.
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The number of meetings of the board of directors of the parent entity held during the year ended 30 June 2009 and the
number of meetings attended by each director are tabled below:

Director Number of meetings held whilst in office Number of mestings attended
Remuneration & Remuneration &
Board Succession Audit/Risk Nomination Board Succession Audit & Risk Nomination
Planning Planning
N.T. Sibley 8 1 4 1 6 1 4 1
S.A. Murray 8 - - 1 8 - - 1
D.R. Dix 8 - 4 1 5 - 4 1
G.E. Haslam 8 1 4 1 6 1 4 1
Sir W. Purves 8 - 4 1 6 - 4 1
T. Freshwater 8 - - 1 6 - - 1
K. Morna 8 - - 1 8 - - 1
Z. Mankazana 8 - - 1 4 - - 1

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

During the year, the parent entity has paid an insurance premium in respect of a contract insuring against liability of current
directors and officers. The directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the
premium paid in respect of the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance contract, as such disclosure is prohibited under the
terms of the contract.

GOING CONCERN
The Directors are satisfied that the company has adequate financial resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.
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DIRECTORS' AND EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors and executive
management. The Board assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of emoluments of such officers on an
annual basis by reference to industry and market conditions. In determining the nature and amount of officers’ emoluments,
the Board takes into consideration the Company'’s financial and operational performance.

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emolument of each Director of the group and the other key
management personnel in aggregate during the financial year are shown in the table below. Refer also Note 36 — Share
Based Payment Plans and Note 37 — Related Party Disclosures for participation by the Directors’ and the key management
personnel in the Company’s Share Plan and Option Plan.

Short Term Share Post
based Employment
payments
Remuneration Senior Audit/Ris Base Bonus Share Retirement
Director Board Fee Committee Independent k Salary options Benefits Total
Director Committe
e
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

NT. Sibley 195,000 - i - - - - - 195,000
S.A. Murray 75,000 - ) - 829,181 55,345 - 45,673 1,005,199
D.R. Dix 75.000 - ) 7,500 - - - - 82,500
G.E. Haslam 75,000 12,000 ) 7,500 - - - - 94,500
Sir W. Purves 75.000 - 15,000 15,000 - - - - 105,000
T.Freshwater 75,000 - - - - - - - 75,000
K.Morna 75,000 - - - - - - - 75,000
Z. Mankanzana 50,000 - - - - - - 50,000

695,000 12,000 15,000 30,000 829,181 55,345 - 45673 1,682,199
Other key

- - - | 1119969 | 149,406 57,229 186,317 1,512,921

management
personnel

* Mr Mankanzana was appointed to the Board on 6 November 2008.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

%
Stuart Murray
Director

30 September 2009
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The following Statement sets out the governance practices of the Aquarius Platinum group.

The Board of Directors of Aquarius Platinum is responsible for the corporate governance of the group. The Board
guides and monitors the business affairs of Aquarius Platinum on behalf of shareholders by whom they are elected and

to whom they are accountable.

In accordance with the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Council’s (the Council’s) “Principles of Good
Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations” (the Recommendations), the company will disclose the
extent to which it has followed the guidelines and any reasons for departure from these. The Board will continue to
review and respond to corporate governance requirements. For further information on the corporate governance

policies adopted by Aquarius Platinum, refer to our website www.aquariusplatinum.com

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Company. It is govemed by a Charter, a summary of
which can be found on the Aquarius website at www.aguariusplatinum.com. Among other matters, the Charter sets out

the framework for the management of the Company, the responsibilities of the Board, its direction, strategies and

financial objectives and how they will be monitored.

In order to retain full and effective control over the company and monitor the executive management team, the Board
meets regularly and at least on a quarterly basis. Details of Directors’ attendance at these meetings is set out in the
Directors’ Report. In consultation with the Chief Executive Officer and the Company Secretary, the Chairman sets the
agenda for these meetings. All Directors may add a matter to the agenda. Key executives of the Company contribute

to board papers and are from time to time invited to attend Board meetings.

Each director has the right to seek independent professional advice on matters relating to their position as a director or
committee member of the company at the company’s expense, subject to prior approval of the Chairman, which shall

not be unreasonably withheld.

The names of the Directors in office at the time of this Report and their relevant qualifications and experience are set
out in the Directors’ Report within this Annual Report. Their status as non-executive, executive or independent
directors and tenure on the Board is set out in the table below.

Board Structure
Name of director in office at the Date appointed to Executive/

Independent
date of this report: office Non-executive
N.T. Sibley — Chairman 26 October 1999 Non-executive Yes
S.A. Murray — Chief Executive Officer 21 May 2001 Executive No
D.R. Dix 31 March 2004 Non-executive Yes
G.E. Haslam 1 May 2004 Non-executive Yes
Sir W. Purves 10 February 2004 Non-executive Yes
T. Freshwater 9 August 2006 Non-executive Yes
K. Morna 6 February 2007 Non-executive No
Z Mankazana 6 November 2008 Non-executive No

10
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The bye-laws of the company determine that the Board consists of not less than two and no more than nine directors.
At the date of this report, the Board is comprised of eight directors, seven of whom are non-executive directors, and
one executive director, Mr Stuart Murray, Chief Executive Officer.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is reviewed regularly and is
defined below:

e The Chairman, Mr Nicholas Sibley, is responsible for leadership of the Board ensuring its members receive
accurate, timely and clear information in order to facilitate effectiveness of its role.

e Mr Stuart Murray, Chief Executive Officer, leads executive management. He has been delegated
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day operation and administration of the Company. The Chief
Executive Officer is assisted in managing the business of the Group by the Managing Director, the Executive
Committee and the Board of Aquarius Platinum (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd. Mr Murray represents the Group’s
interests as a director of the Mimosa Group of companies which owns the Mimosa Platinum Mine in
Zimbabwe.

INDEPENDENCE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independence of directors in essence means those directors independent of management and free of any business or
other relationship that could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the exercise of unfettered
and independent judgement.

In line with the ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations the Board has
accepted the guidelines outlined below in determining the independence of non-executive directors. In accordance with
these, all directors, with the exception of Mr Stuart Murray as CEO of the Company, Mr Kofi Morna and Mr Zwelakhe
Mankazana, who represent the Savannah Consortium’s BEE interests, are deemed independent.

The Board has accepted the following definition of an independent director.

An Independent Director is someone who is not a member of management, is a non-executive director and who:

a) is not a substantial shareholder (5%) of the company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with a
substantial shareholder of the company;

b) within the last three years has not been employed in an executive capacity by the company or another group
member, or been a director after ceasing to hold any such employment;

¢) within the last three years has not been a principal of a material professional adviser or a material consultant
to the company or another group member, or an employee materially associated with the service provided,

d) is not a material supplier or customer of the company or other group member, or an officer of or otherwise
associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer;

e) has no material contractual relationship with the company or another group member other than as a director
of the company;

f) has not served on the board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere
with the director's ability to act in the best interest of the company; and

g) s free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived
to, materially interfere with the director's ability to act in the best interest of the company.

1
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SENIOR INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, Sir William Purves, is appointed by the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr Willi Boehm, is responsible for supporting the effectiveness of the Board by monitoring
that Board policy and procedures are complied with, coordinating the flow of information within the Company and the
completion and despatch of items for the Board and briefing materiais. The Company Secretary is accountable to the
Board on all governance matters. All directors have access to the services of the Company Secretary. The

appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole.

SUCCESSION PLANNING

The Board brings the range of skills, knowledge, international experience and expertise necessary to govern the
Group, but it is aware of the need to ensure processes are in place to assist with succession planning, not only for the
Board, but within senior management. The Board periodically assesses its balance of skills and those of the group in
order to maintain an appropriate balance within the company.

INDUCTION TRAINING AND CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

in order to assist new directors and key executives in fulfilling their duties and responsibilities within the company, an
induction programme is provided by the Chief Executive Officer, which includes meetings with the executive team and
visits to the operating sites of the company in South Africa and Zimbabwe. The program enables the new appointees to
gain an understanding of the Company’s financial, strategic, operational and risk management position. Full access to
all documentation pertaining to the company is provided. It ensures new directors and key executives are aware of
their rights, duties and responsibilities.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The Board of Aquarius conducts a performance review of itself on an ongoing basis throughout the year. The size of
the company and hands on management style requires an increased level of interaction between directors and
executives throughout the year. Board members meet amongst themselves and with management both formally and
informally. The Board considers that the current approach that it has adopted with regard to the review of its
performance and of its key executives, provides the best guidance and value to the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION

Aquarius’ bye-laws determine that at each Annual General Meeting, at least one third of the Board are retired by
rotation, therefore holding their positions for no longer than three years. This period of time provides continuity. Non-
executive directors are appointed for a three-year term and may be invited to seek reappointment. A Director appointed
during the year is subject for election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Pursuant to the bye-laws of the

Company, the Chief Executive Office is not subject to retirement by rotation.

SECURITIES TRADING POLICY

The Board has adopted a policy covering dealings in securities by directors and relevant employees. The policy is
designed to reinforce to shareholders, customers and the international community that Aquarius’ directors and relevant
employees are expected to comply with the law and best practice recommendations with regard to dealing in securities

of the Company.

12
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In addition to the Australian Stock Exchange Listing Rules, a director and relevant employees must comply with the
Model Code on directors’ dealings in securities, as set out in annexure 1 to Listing Rule 9 of the Rules of the United
Kingdom Listing Authority, a copy of which can be found on the Aquarius website at www.aquariusplatinum.com.

In addition to restrictions on dealing in “Closed Periods”, a director and relevant employees must not deal in any
securities of the Company on considerations of a short term nature and must take reasonable steps to prevent any
dealings by, or on behalf of, any person connected with him in any securities of the Company on consideration of a
short term nature. In line with the listing rules of the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX), the UK Listing Authority (LSE)
and the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa (JSE), all dealings by directors in the securities of the Company are
announced to the market.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Board has established three standing committees to assist in the execution of its responsibilities: the Audit/Risk
Committee, the Remuneration & Succession Planning Committee, and the Nomination Committee. Other committees
are formed from time to time to deal with specific matters.

In line with best practice, each of the committees operates under a Charter approved by the Board detailing their role,
structure, responsibilities and membership requirements. Each of these Charters is reviewed annually by the Board
and the respective committee. Summaries of the Remuneration & Succession Planning, Nomination Committee
Charters and a complete Audit/Risk Committee Charter can be found on the Aquarius website at

www.aquariusplatinum.com.

AUDIT/RISK COMMITTEE

The Audit/Risk Committee (the Committee) has been established to assist the Board of Aquarius in fulfilling its
corporate governance and oversight responsibilities in relation to the company's financial reports and financial
reporting process, internal control structure, risk management systems (financial and non-financial) and the external
audit process. The Committee is governed by a charter approved by the Board.

The Committee consists of:
o four members;
* only non-executive directors,
+ only independent directors; and
¢ an independent chairperson, who shall be nominated by the Board from time to time but who shall not be the
chairperson of the Board.

The members of the Committee at the date of this report are as follows:

e  Sir William Purves (Chairman)
e Mr Nicholas Sibley

e Mr David Dix

¢  MrEdward Haslam

13
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Qualifications of Audit/Risk Committee members:

Sir William Purves is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and Senior Independent Director of the Company. Sir
William joined the Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation in 1954 (now part of the HSBC Group). He was
appointed Chief Executive in 1986 and Group Chairman the following year.

Mr Sibley is a chartered accountant, a director of TanzaniteOne Ltd, Corney & Barrow Group Ltd and of two investment
companies. He was formerly chairman of Wheelock Capital from 1994 to 1997, as well as executive chairman of
Barclays de Zoete Wedd (Asia Pacific) Limited, from 1989 to 1993. Mr Sibley is a former managing director of Jardine
Fleming Holdings Ltd.

Mr David Dix’s background is in economics, law and taxation. He is a Barrister and Solicitor in the High Court of
Australia. He has held positions with Shell Australia Limited, Macquarie Bank Limited and spent nine years with UBS
Warburg, based in Melbourne as Head of Resources for Asia Pacific and London as Head of Mining. Mr Dix is
Executive Chairman of Australian Oil Company, AED Oil Limited and Chairman of Quadrem Limited, a company which
provides eBusiness solutions to the resource sector.

Mr Haslam is the former Chief Executive of Lonmin plc. He joined Lonmin in 1981, was appointed a director in 1999
and Chief Executive Officer in November 2000. He retired from Lonmin in April 2004. Mr Haslam is Chairman of
Finnish Nickel Mining Company Talvivaara plc, and is Senior Independent Director of the South African company
Namakwa Diamonds Ltd.

The Board deems all members of the Committee have the relevant experience and understanding of accounting,
financial issues and the mining industry to enable them to effectively oversee audit procedures.

The Committee reviews the performance of the external auditors on an annual basis and meets with them at least

twice a year to:

+ review the results and findings of the audit at year end and half year end and recommend their acceptance or

otherwise to the Board; and

o review the results and findings of the audit, the appropriateness of provisions and estimates included in the
financial results, the adequacy of accounting and financial controls, and to obtain feedback on the
implementation of recommendations made.

The Committee receives regular reports from the external auditor on the critical policies and practices of the company,
and all alternative treatments of financial information within generally accepted accounting principles that have been

discussed with management.

The Committee assesses the company's structure, business and controls annually. It ensures the Board is made
aware of internal control practices, risk management and compliance matters which may significantly impact upon the

company in a timely manner.

The Committee meets when deemed necessary and at least twice a year. The Company Secretary acts as secretary
of the Committee and distributes minutes to all Board members.

Details of attendance at Committee Meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report.
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REMUNERATION & SUCCESSION PLANNING COMMITTEE

The members of the Remuneration and Succession Planning Committee (the Committee) at the date of this report are:
¢  Mr Edward Haslam (Chairman)
e  Mr Nicholas Sibley

The Committee is governed by a charter approved by the Board, a summary of which is available on the Company’s
website www.aquariuspiatinum com. The Board deem all members of the Committee have the relevant experience

and understanding to enable them to effectively oversee their responsibilities. The members of the Committee are
non-executive directors, both of whom the Board consider independent.

The committee reviews compensation arrangements for the directors and the executive team. The committee
assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of emoluments of such officers on a periodic basis by
reference to relevant employment market conditions, with the overall objective of ensuring maximum shareholder
benefit from the retention of a high quality executive team. Such officers are given the opportunity to receive their base
emoluments in a variety of forms including cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles. The nature and amount of
directors’ and officers’ emoluments are linked to the company'’s financial and operational performance.

In carrying out its responsibilities, the Committee is authorised by the Board to secure the attendance of any person
with relevant experience and expertise at Committee meetings, if it considers their attendance to be appropriate and to
engage, at the Company's expense, outside legal or other professional advice or assistance on any matters within its

charter or terms of reference.

The Committee reviews succession planning for key executive positions (other than executive Directors) to maintain an
appropriate balance of skills, experience and expertise in the management of the Company. The Committee does not
allow for retirement benefits of Non-executive Directors and Non-executive Directors are remunerated by way of an
annual fee in the form of cash and do not receive options or bonus payments.

For details of remuneration of Directors and Executives please refer to the Directors’ Report.

The Committee meets as necessary, but must meet at least once a year. The Company Secretary acts as secretary of
the meetings and distributes minutes to all Board members. Details of attendance at Committee Meetings is set out in
the Directors’ Report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

In order to fulfil the company’s responsibility to shareholders to ensure that the composition, structure and operation of
the Board is of the highest standard, the full Board of Aquarius acts as the Nomination Committee. The Board believes
the input of all directors is essential due to their respective expertise and knowledge of the platinum industry and
exposure to the markets in which the Group operates.

The Board is guided by a Charter, a summary of which is available on www.aquariusplatinum.com. The Board may at

times take into consideration the advice of external consultants to assist with this process.
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Meetings take place as often as necessary, but the Committee must meet at least once a year. The Company
Secretary acts as secretary of the meetings and distributes minutes to all Board members.

Appointments are referred to shareholders at the next available opportunity for election in general meeting.
CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE

The Company has in place a Continuous Disclosure Policy, a summary of which is available on the website
www.aquariusplatinum.com. The Policy is in line with the Australian Stock Exchange’s guidance policy on timely and

balanced disclosure. This outlines the company’s commitment to disclosure, ensuring that timely and accurate
information is provided to all shareholders and stakeholders. The Company Secretary is the nominated Communication
Officer and is responsible for liaising with the Board to ensure that the Company complies with its continuous

disclosure requirements.

A three member Disclosure Committee has been formed comprising the Chief Executive Officer, Mr Stuart Murray, the
Company Secretary, Mr Willi Boehm and any one non-executive director. The Disclosure Committee is responsible for
overseeing and coordinating the disclosure of information and announcements to the regulatory authorities, analysts,
brokers, shareholders, the media and the public.

The Board regularly reviews the company’s compliance with its continuous disclosure obligations.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholder communication is given high priority by the Company. In addition to statutory requirements, such as the
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the half and full year, Aquarius Platinum maintains a website which
contains announcements and quarterly reports which have been released to the listing authorities — the ASX, LSE and
the JSE, and forwarded to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in the US. Media articles and
presentations are aiso placed on the website as they occur so they may be viewed by shareholders and prospective
investors. Shareholders are able to contact the Company via the website at info@aquariusplatinum.com. Through the
website, shareholders are also given the opportunity to provide an email address through which they are able to
receive these documents. The Chief Executive Officer hosts web-casts for the half-year and full-year results,
notification of these is provided to all on the website database.

MEETINGS

Aquarius Platinum Notice of Meeting materials are distributed to shareholders with an accompanying explanatory
memorandum. These documents present the business of the meeting clearly and concisely and are presented in a
manner that will not mislead shareholders or the market as a whole. The Notice is despatched to shareholders in a
timely manner providing at least 21 days notice pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company. Each notice includes the
business of the meeting, details of the location, time and date of the meeting and proxy voting instructions are
included.

Upon release of the Notice of Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum to the ASX, LSE and the JSE, a full text of the
Notice of Meeting and Explanatory Memorandums is placed on the website of the Company at
www.aquariusplatinum.com for shareholders and other market participants who may consider investing in the

company.
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CODE OF CONDUCT

The Aquarius Code of Conduct has been developed by the Board to provide a framework for all employees to conduct
the business of the Company in an ethical and legal manner. It is important that the Company maintains its obligations
to shareholders, the community, contractors and suppliers.

There are areas in which the Company must develop detailed policies in accordance with the requirements of local
authorities and comply with local laws. To this end the Code of Conduct stands more as a set of principles developed
by the Board to guide employees to act with integrity and make informed choices when communicating or acting on
behalf of the Company.

The Board and management of the Company have a clear commitment to the Code of Conduct. A summary of The

Code of Conduct is available on www.aquariusplatinum.com.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE

Notification of Departure

Iltem 2.5: Performance evaluation of the Board and key executives

Explanation of Departure

The Board of Aquarius conducts its performance review of itself on an ongoing basis throughout the year. The small
size of the company and hands on management style requires an increased level of interaction between directors and
executives throughout the year. Board members meet amongst themselves and with management both formally and
informally. The Board considers that the current approach that it has adopted with regard to the review of its
performance and of its key executives provides the best guidance and value to the Group.

Item 8.3: Disclosure of remuneration policy and procedures

Explanation of Departure

The Group operates in an industry that has a limited number of participants. The industry is under constant pressure
from skills shortages and is exposed to a high level of staff poaching. To protect against this, the Company considers
it imprudent to disclose the names and the exact value of the remuneration received by each of the top five non-
director executives. However, in accordance with the ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance, the Company
advises that the total amount paid, as set out in the Directors’ report, to the top 5 non-director executives includes

payments in respect of salaries, non-cash benefits such as motor vehicles and superannuation contributions.
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Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2009

Note 2009 2008
$'000 $'000
Revenue 7 310,556 919,012
Cost of sales 7 (334,327) (359,873)
Gross (loss)/profit (23,771) 559,139
Other income 7 1,815 2,109
Administrative costs 7 (9,919) (10,467)
Fair value movement in derivative liability 24 3,829 -
Impairment losses 7 (13,050) -
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 7 (20,328) 14,286
(Loss)/profit from operating activities before finance costs (61,424) 565,067
Finance costs 7 (35,968) (28,260)
(Loss)/profit before income tax (97,392) 536,807
Income tax (expense)/benefit 8 15,808 (173,214)
Net (loss)profit for the year (81,584) 363,593
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 32 (45,742) 236,474
Non controlling interest (35,842) 127,119
(81,584) 363,593

Eamings per share
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) 9 (13.30)" 86.58*
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) 9 (13.30)* 86.10*

* Earnings per share has been restated to account for the May 2009 Entitlement Issue to shareholders in accordance
with IAS 33
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2009

Note 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

ASSETS
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 11 11,362 10,795
Available for sale investments 12 1,917 4804
Property, plant and equipment 13 230,057 214,314
Mining assets 14 270,374 274,270
Restricted cash in environmental trusts 15 12,008 10,359
Intangible asset and goodwill 16 74,167 77,955
Total Non Current Assets 599,885 592,497
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 19 163,600 170,956
Trade and other receivables 20 119,866 186,964
Inventories 21 43,652 35,941
Total Current Assets 317,118 393,861
TOTAL ASSETS 917,003 986,358
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Issued capital 29 20,751 13,103
Shares reserved for share plan 30 (2,802) (1,012)
Reserves 31 444 637 279,292
Retained earnings 32 145,584 217,531
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 608,170 508,914
Non controlling Interest 33 - 35,600
TOTAL EQUITY 608,170 544,514
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 22 1,555 2,219
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 23 70,034 1,657
Deferred tax liabilities 8 92,767 111,738
Provisions 25 62,963 58,618
Total Non Current Liabilities 227,319 174,232
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 26 68,622 56,294
Derivatives at fair value 24 6,084 1,039
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 27 6,211 208,161
Current tax liabilities 8 1 1,644
Provisions 28 596 474
Total Current Liabilities 81,514 267,612
TOTAL LIABILITIES 308,833 441,844
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 917,003 986,358
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June 2009

Note
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Interest and other finance costs paid
Other income
Income taxes paid
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for property plant & equipment and mine
development costs
Payments for mine closure/rehabilitation costs
Acquisition of joint venture interest net of cash acquired 17
Redeemable deposit
Payments for purchase of equity investments
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue costs
Share buy back
Return of capital
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of share-plan loans
Repayment of borrowings
Purchase of shares reserved for share plan
Dividends paid
Dividends paid by subsidiary to non controlling interests
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial
year
Net foreign exchange differences
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE
FINANCIAL YEAR 19

20

2009 2008
$'000 $'000
354,558 894,269
(326,729) (378,364)
11,681 28,095
(27,300) (19,628)
1,104 2,111
(95) (175,851)
13,219 350,632
(59,342) (65,743)
(1,213) (4,372)
- (22,899)
(14,038) (32,159)
- (4,434)
(74,593) (129,607)
162,131 370,203
(13,661) (8,035)
- (733,813)

- (14,587)

73,770 210,361
(181,891) (82,773)
(1,790) (1,012)
(26,205) (51,307)
(3,600) (9,118)
38,754 (320,081)
(22,620) (99,056)
170,956 287,663
5,264 (17,651)
153,600 170,956




Aquarius Platinum Limited

Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expenses for the year ended 30
June 2009

Note 2009 2008
$'000 $'000
Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,634) (49,001)
Net gain/(loss) recognised directly in equity (1,634) (49,001)
Net profit/(loss) for the year (81,584) 363,593
TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR (83,218) 314,592
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (43,788) 209,286
Non controlling interest (39,430) 105,306

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR (83,218) 314,592
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2009

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of Aquarius Platinum Limited (Aquarius or the Company) for the year ended 30
June 2009 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 30 September 2009. Aquarius
Platinum Limited is a limited company incorporated and domiciled in Bermuda whose shares are publicly traded. The
principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ Report.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost accounting convention except for
available for sale investments and derivative financial instruments that have been measured at fair value.

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements of Aquarius Platinum Limited and all its subsidiaries have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial information is presented in US Dollars and has been rounded to the nearest thousand US
Dollars unless otherwise stated.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the accounts of Aquarius, the parent company and its controlled
subsidiaries, after the elimination of all material intercompany balances and transactions.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date the parent entity obtains control and continue to be consolidated until
such time as control ceases. Where there is a loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated accounts include the
results for the part of the reporting period during which the parent entity had control. A list of subsidiaries appears in
Note 37(a).

The accounts of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using consistent
accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies which may exist.

The non controlling interest principally represents the interests in AQP(SA) not previously held by the Company.
Acquisition of non controlling interests are accounted for using the entity method, whereby, the difference between

the consideration and the carrying value of the non controlling interest’s share of net assets acquired is recognised in
equity.
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3. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on 1
July 2008. The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations had no material effect on the profit
and loss or financial position of the group.

The following standards and interpretations have been adopted from 1 July 2008:

. Amendments to IAS 39, Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement; and IFRS 7, Financial

Instruments Disclosure — Reclassification of Financial Assets;

. IFRIC 4 (revised) Determining Whether and Arrangement Contains a Lease

The group has also elected to early adopt the revisions to both IFRS 3 Business Combinations (IFRS 3(R)) and IAS
27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements from 1 July 2008. In accordance with IFRS 3(R), the Group has
applied the acquisition method of accounting to all business combinations prospectively from 1 July 2008. The most
significant impact on the Group of the adoption of these revised standards is the requirement to expense all
transaction costs relating to a business combination and the allocation of losses in a subsidiary to a non-controlling
interest.. During the current financial year, the Group has expensed transaction costs amounting to $565,207 relating
to the acquisition of Ridge Mining Plc and has allocated losses amounting to $7,430,000 to the non controlling
interest in excess of their share of attributable net assets (see Note 33).

The early adoption does not significantly impact the current year or comparative financial earnings per share
information. The requirement to expense transaction costs in business combinations will impact future accounting
periods for the acquisition of Ridge Mining pic (Note 39) and any other future business combinations.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements and
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The
carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of future
events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

o  Determination of mineral resources and ore reserves
Aquarius estimates its mineral resources and ore reserves in accordance with the Australian Code for
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 2004 (the ‘JORC code’). The
information on mineral resources and ore reserves was prepared by or under the supervision of Competent
Persons as defined in the JORC code.

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral resources and ore reserves and
assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation may change significantly when new information becomes
available.

Changes in the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may
change the economic status of reserves and may, ultimately, result in the reserves being restated. Such
changes in reserves could impact on depreciation and amortisation rates, asset carrying values, deferred
stripping costs and provisions for decommissioning and restoration.
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o Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of
factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it
successfully recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale.

Factors which could impact the future recoverability include the level of proved and probable mineral
reserves, future technological changes which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes
(including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices.

To the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in

the future, this will reduce profits and net assets in the period in which this determination is made.

In addition, exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised if activities in the area of interest have not
yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically
recoverable reserves. To the extent that it is determined in the future that this capitalised expenditure
should be written off, this will reduce profits and net assets in the period in which this determination is made.

* Impairment of capitalised mine development expenditure
The future recoverability of capitalised mine development expenditure is dependent on a number of factors,
including the level of proved and probable and mineral reserves. To the extent that capitalised mine
development expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the future, this will reduce profits and net
assets in the period in which this determination is made.

In determining recoverable amount, future cash flows are based on estimates of the quantities of
economically recoverable ore reserves and mineral resources for which there is a high degree of confidence
of economic extraction, future production levels, future commodity prices and future cash costs of
production.

e Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment if there is any indication that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Where a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable amount is assessed
by reference to the higher of ‘value in use’ (being the net present value of expected future cash flows of the

relevant cash generating unit) and ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

In determining value in use, future cash flows are based on estimates of the quantities of economically
recoverable ore reserves and mineral resources for which there is a high degree of confidence of economic
extraction, future production levels, future commodity prices and future cash costs of production.

Variations to the expected future cash flows, and the timing thereof, could result in significant changes to

any impairment losses recognised, if any, which could in turn impact future financial results.

e Impairment of goodwill
The group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis or more frequently if an
indication of impairment exists. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Refer Note 16 for assumptions.
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In determining recoverable amount, future cash flows are based on estimates of the quantities of
economically recoverable ore reserves and mineral resources for which there is a high degree of confidence
of economic extraction, future production levels, future commodity prices and future cash costs of
production.

e  Restoration Provisions

The group records the present value of the estimated cost of restoring operating locations in the period in
which the obligation arises, which is typically at the commencement of production. The nature of the
restoration activities includes the removal of facilities, abandonment of mine sites and rehabilitation of the
affected areas. In most instances this arises many years in the future. The application of this policy
necessarily requires judgmental estimates and assumptions regarding the date of abandonment, future
environmental legislation, the engineering methodology adopted, future technologies to be used and the
asset specific discount rates used to determine the present value of these cash flows.

e  Convertible Bonds

An element of the convertible bond is classified as a derivative liability and is carried at fair value. The fair
value is determined by an external party using an option pricing model which takes into consideration the
terms and conditions of the instrument.

*  Revenue Recognition

The accounting policy for sale of goods is set out in Note 5 (h). The determination of revenue from the time
of initial recognition of the sale on a provisional basis through to final pricing requires management to
continuously re-estimate the fair value of the final pricing amount. Management determines this with
reference to estimated forward prices using consensus forecasts.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

@)

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised at the trade date i.e. the date the group
commits to purchase the asset.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference
to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments where there is
no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using arm's
length market transactions, reference to the current market value of another instrument, which is substantially
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models.
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Available for sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-
sale or are not classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or
held to maturity financial assets. After initial recognition available-for sale financial assets are measured at fair
value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is
derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously reported in equity is included in the income statement.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains
and losses are recognised in income when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.

(b) Mining Assets
Mining assets comprise exploration and evaluation, mineral properties acquired and mine development costs .

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Expenditure on exploration and evaluation is accounted for in accordance with the ‘area of interest’ method.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised provided the rights to tenure of the area of interest is
current and either:
. the exploration and evaluation activities are expected to be recouped through successfut
development and exploitation of the area of interest or, alternatively, by its sale; or

. exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached
a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically
recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or relating to, the area of interest

are continuing.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource has been demonstrated
then any capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is reclassified as capitalised mine development.
Prior to reclassification, capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment.

Impairment

The carrying value of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment at the cash
generating unit level whenever facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of the asset may
exceed its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money

and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount. Any
impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
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Mineral Properties Acquired

Mineral properties acquired are recognised at cost. Once production commences these costs are amortised
using the units-of-production method based on the estimated economically recoverable reserves to which they
relate or are written off if the property is abandoned. Costs incurred to maintain production are expensed as
incurred against the related production. The fair value uplift amortisation expense represents the additional
amortisation arising on the fair value adjustment recognised on acquisition of mineral properties acquired in
excess of the carrying amount in the acquiree.

Impairment
The carrying value of mineral properties acquired expenditure is assessed for impairment whenever facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of the asset may exceed its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of mineral properties acquired is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific

to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs, unless the asset's value in use can be estimated to be close to

its fair value.

An impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount. Any
impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Mine Development Expenditure

Mine development expenditure represents the costs incurred in preparing mines for production, and includes
waste removal costs incurred before production commences. These costs are capitalised to the extent they are
expected to be recouped through successful exploitation of the related mining leases. Once production
commences, these costs are amortised using the units-of-production method based on the estimated
economically recoverable reserves to which they relate or are written off if the mine property is abandoned.
Costs incurred to maintain production are expensed as incurred against the related production.

Impairment
The carrying value of capitalised mine development expenditure is assessed for impairment whenever facts and

circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of the asset may exceed its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of capitalised mine development expenditure is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time vaiue of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, recoverable amount is determined for the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs, unless the asset’s value in use can be estimated to be close to
its fair value.
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An impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount. Any
impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

(c) Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised where:
. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired,
. the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay
them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control! of the asset.
Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes
the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled
option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the
amount of the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option
(including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option

exercise price.

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired.

Asset carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either directly or through use of an
allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognised in profit or loss.

28



Aquarius Platinum Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2009

(e)

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that
are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the
extent that the carrying vaiue of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
profit or loss, is transferred from equity to the income statement. Reversals in respect of equity instruments
classified as available-for-sale are not recognised in profit. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments
are reversed through profit or loss, if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign Currencies
The consolidated financial statements are stated in US Dollars which is the Company’'s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the group determines its own functional currency and items included in

each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the applicable functional currency at the rate of exchange
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items are recorded in the
applicable functional currency using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. All exchange differences
are taken to the income statement.

Translation of financial reports of foreign operations
The Mimosa Investments Limited group financial statements incorporate those of its controlled entities in
Zimbabwe, which have been prepared using US Dollars as the functional currency. The functional currency of
subsidiaries in South Africa is considered to be the South African Rand. The functional currency of subsidiaries
in Australia is considered to be the Australian Dollar.
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The assets and liabilities of these entities are translated to the group presentation currency at rates of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at average exchange
rates for the period. Any exchange differences are taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign entity, cumulative deferred exchange differences are recognised in the income statement
as part of the profit or loss on sale.

() Property, Plant and Equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment in value. The carrying values are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable and where carrying values exceed their
recoverable amount, assets are written down to their recoverable amount.

Property, plant and equipment, excluding land, is depreciated at rates based on the expected useful economic
life of each item, using the straight line method. Mine plant is amortised using the lesser of its useful life or the
life of the mine based on the straight-line or unit of production method respectively. Buildings and equipment,
which includes vehicles and furniture, are depreciated on the straight-line basis at rates, which will reduce their
book values to estimated residual values over their expected useful lives. Capitalised lease assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. The major depreciation

rates for all periods presented are:

s Buildings - 3to 12.5 years
=  Furniture and fittings - 3 to 5 years
=  Plant and equipment, including assets held under lease - 3 to 13 years

An item of property plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income

statement in the year the asset is derecognised.

(g) Business Combinations and Goodwill

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquisition method requires that
the acquirer recognises, separately from goodwill, the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, at acquisition date. Acquisition costs directly attributable to the
acquisition are expensed in the period. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition, irrespective of the
extent of any non-controlling interest.

For each business combination, the Group has an option to measure any non-controlling interests in the

acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable

net assets.
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(h)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead,
goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events of changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired, and is carried at costs less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the

disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing (note 16).

When the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (group of cash generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. When goodwill forms part of a cash generating unit (group
of cash generating units) and an operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on
disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this manner is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of cash generating unit retained.

Impairment losses recognised on goodwill are not subsequently reversed.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at fair value to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Aquarius Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition

criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues on interest bearing cash deposits, using the effective interest
method.

Sale of Goods
Revenue on sale of mine products is recognised when risks and rewards of ownership of the mine product has
passed to the buyer pursuant to a sales contract.

For PGM concentrate sales the sales price is determined on a provisional basis at the date of delivery.
Adjustments to the sale price occur based on movements in the metal market price up to the date of final
pricing. Final pricing is based on the monthly average market price in the month of settlement. The period
between provisional invoicing and final pricing is typically between 2 and 4 months. Revenue on provisionally
priced sales is initially recorded at the estimated fair value of the consideration receivable. The revenue
adjustment mechanism embedded within provisionally priced sales arrangements has the characteristics of a
commodity derivative. Accordingly the fair value of the final sales price adjustment is re-estimated
continuously and changes in fair value recognised as an adjustment to revenue in the income statement and
trade debtors in the balance sheet. In all cases, fair value is determined with reference to estimated forward
prices using consensus forecasts.

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the Group's right to receive the payment is established.
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(i) Income Taxes
Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except
¢ Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax loses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax loses can be
utilised except:

¢ where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

¢ in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income

statement.
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(k)

M

(m)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Employee Entitlements

Provision is made for employee entitlement benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services
up to the balance date. Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and other benefits
expected to be settied within twelve months of the balance date are measured at rates which are expected to
be paid when the liability is settled.

All other employee entitlement liabilities are measured at the present value of estimated payments to be made

in respect of services rendered up to reporting date.

Contributions for pensions and other post employment benefits to defined contribution plans are recognised in
the income statement as incurred during the period in which employees render the related service.

Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings

Loans and borrowings other than financial instruments issued by the Group are initially recognised at the fair
value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial  recognition,  all
interest bearing loans and borrowings, other than liabilities held for trading, are subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Convertibles Bonds

The convertible bonds which are denominated in South African Rand, are split into two components: a debt
component and a component representing the embedded derivative in the convertible bond. The debt
component represents the Group’s liability for future coupon payments and the redemption on the principal
amount. The embedded derivative, a financial liability, represents the value of the option that bond holders have
to convert into ordinary shares in the Company.

The debt component of the convertible bond is measured at amortised cost and therefore increases as the
present value of the coupon payments and redemption amount increases, with a corresponding charge to

finance cost.

The embedded derivative is measured at fair value at each balance sheet date and the change in the fair value
is recognised in the income statement.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Trade and Other Payables
Liabilities for trade and other payables, whether billed or not billed to the group, which are normally settled on

30-90 day terms, are carried at amortised cost.
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(n) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some
or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement
net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a
current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used,
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

(o) Cash
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, and deposits at call which have an original
maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(p) Inventories
Inventories comprise consumables, reagents, produce, packaging, chromite, reef ore stockpiled and
concentrate awaiting further processing and are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on the weighted average method and includes direct mining expenditure and an appropriate
proportion of overhead expenditure.

(q) Trade and Other Receivables
Trade receivables include actual invoiced sales of PGM concentrate as well as sales not yet invoiced for which
deliveries have been made and the risks and rewards of ownership have passed. The receivable amount
calculated for the PGM concentrate delivered but not yet invoiced is recorded at the fair value of the
consideration receivable at the date of delivery. At each subsequent balance sheet date the receivable is
restated to reflect the fair value movements in the pricing mechanism which is considered to represent an
embedded derivative.

Other receivables are stated at cost less any allowance for uncollectible amounts. An allowance is made when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the debts. Bad debts are written off when
identified.

(r) Provision for Mine Site Rehabilitation
The provision for rehabilitation represents the cost of restoring site damage following initial disturbance.
Increases in the provision are capitalised to deferred mining assets to the extent that the future benefits will
arise. Cost incurred that related to an existing condition caused by past operations and do not have a future
economic benefit are expensed.

Gross rehabilitation costs are estimated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation, using estimated cash flows based on current prices. The estimates are discounted at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and where appropriate the risk specific to
the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recorded as an accretion charge within finance costs.
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(s)

®

(u)

v)

Rehabilitation costs capitalised to mining assets are amortised over the operating life of each mine using the
units of production method based on estimated proven and probable mineral reserves. Expenditure on ongoing
rehabilitation costs is brought to account when incurred.

In South Africa, annual contributions are made to an Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund, created in
accordance with South African Statutory requirements, to fund the estimated cost of rehabilitation during and at
the end of the life of a mine. The funds that have been paid into the trust fund plus the growth in the trust fund
are shown as an asset on the balance sheet.

Share Capital
Share capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are used by a joint venture in which the Company has a 50% interest (Platinum
Mile Resources (Pty) Ltd) to manage exposures to platinum group metals. Hedge accounting is not applied.
Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in

the income statement immediately.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at inception date of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a
specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified
as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Finance leases, which transfer to the group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the
leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income.

Interest in Joint Ventures

The group’s interest in joint ventures is accounted for by proportionate consolidation, which involves
recognising a proportionate share of the joint venture's assets, liabilities, income and expenses with similar
items in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.
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In respect of the Group's interest in jointly controlled assets, the following are recognised in the financial

statements:

(i) the Group’s share of the jointly controlled assets, classified according to the nature of the assets;

(ii) any liabilities that the Group has incurred;

(i)  the Group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly with the other venturers in relation to the joint venture;

(iv)  any income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output of the joint venture, together with the
Group’s share of any expenses incurred by the joint venture; and

(v)  any expenses that the Group has incurred in respect of its interest in the joint venture.

(w) Impairment of Non Financial Assets
The carrying amounts of the group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. if there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable
amount is estimated and the book value of the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of net selling price and value in use.

In assessing value in use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its

recoverable amount.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement
whenever the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount increases as a result of a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation) had no impairment loss been

recognised in prior years.

(x) Share-based Payment Transactions
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of equity based
payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (‘equity-
settled transactions’).

The Group currently has a Share Plan and an Option Plan for employees. Loans made under the Share plan are
treated as share based compensation under IFRS 2.

Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial or Black & Scholes
pricing model. In valuing equity-settied transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company, if applicable.
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(y)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award (‘the vesting date’). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will uitimately vest.

The income statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised
as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is

satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, which increases the total fair
value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Shares in the Group acquired on market and held by the Share Plan are shown as a deduction from equity.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than dividends, by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares, adjusted for any bonus elements.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:

. costs of servicing equity (other than dividends);

. the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have
been recognised as expenses; and

. other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the
dilution of potential ordinary shares;

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for

any bonus elements.
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(z) Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before the end of the financial year but not
distributed at balance date.

(aa) Intangible Assets
The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any

accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised using the straight line method over the useful life of the contract
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method is reviewed at least each financial year end. Changes in the
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is
accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in
accounting estimates.

(bb) Comparative Amounts

Where appropriate comparative amounts have been reclassified to be consistent with the current year's
classification.
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(cc) Future Accounting Standards

Certain International Financial Reporting Standards and IFRIC Interpretations have recently been issued or
amended but are not yet effective and have not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period
ended on 30 June 2009. The Directors have assessed the impact of the new standards or amended standards

and interpretations (to the extent relevant to the Group) as follows:
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Application Application
Reference Title Summary date of Impact on Group date for
financial report
standard Group
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the | This Interpretation requires that | 1 January 2009 | The Interpretation is | 1 July 2009
Construction of when the real estate developer not expected to
Real Estate is providing construction impact the Group.
services to the buyer's
specifications, revenue can be
recorded only as construction
progresses. Otherwise,
revenue should be recognised
on completion of the relevant
real estate unit.
i
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net This Interpretation requires that | 1 October 2008 | The Group does not | 1 July 2009
Investment in a the hedged risk in a hedge of a hedge net
Foreign Operation net investment in a foreign investments in
operation is the foreign foreign operations
currency risk arising between and accordingly this
the functional currency of the Interpretation is not
net investment and the expected to impact
functional currency of any the Group.
parent entity. This also applies
to foreign operations in the
form of joint ventures, i
associates or branches. ‘
IRFIC 17 Distributions of The Interpretation outlines how ; 1 July 2009 The Interpretation is | 1 July 2009
Non-cash Assets an entity should measure not expected to ‘
to Owners and distributions of assets, other impact the Group.
consequential than cash, as a dividend to its
amendments to owners acting in their capacity i
International as owners. This applies to w
Accounting transactions commonly i
Standards IFRS 5 referred to as spin-offs, split i
and 1AS 10 offs or demergers and in- 1
specie distributions. ‘
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Application Application
Reference Title Summary date of Impacton Group | e for
financial report
standard Group
N . . [ S
IFRIC 18 Transfers of This Interpretation provides Applies The Interpretationis | 1 July 2009
Assets from guidance on the transfer of prospectively to | not expected to
Customers assets such as items of transfer of impact the Group.
property, plant and equipment assets from
or transfers of cash received customers
from customers. The received on or
Interpretation provides after 1 July
guidance on when and how an | 2009
entity should recognise such
assets and discusses the
timing of revenue recognition
for such arrangements and
requires that once the asset
meets the condition to be
recognised at fair value, it is
accounted for as an ‘exchange
transaction’.
Once an exchange transaction
occurs the entity is considered
to have delivered a service in
exchange for receiving the
asset.
Entities must identify each
identifiable service within the
agreement and recognise
revenue as each service is
delivered.
IFRS 8 Operating New Standard repiacing IAS 1 January 2009 | The Group’s 1 July 2009
Segments and 14 Segment Reporting, which management
consequential adopts a management reporting approach
amendments to reporting approach to segment currently follows the
other International reporting. geographic
Accounting locations of its
Standards operations. The
Group is currently
reviewing any
potential impact.
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs The amendments to IAS 23 1 January 2009 | Adoption of the 1 July 2009
(Revised) and consequential | require that all borrowing costs standard will cause
amendments to associated with a qualifying a change in the
other International asset be capitalised. borrowing costs
Accounting accounting policy.
Standards
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Reference

IAS 1
(Revised),

IFRS 2
amendments

IAS 32
amendments

Title

Presentation of

Financial
Statements and
consequential
amendments to
other International
Accounting
Standards

Amendments to
International
Accounting
Standard — Share-
based Payments:
Vesting Conditions
and Cancellations

Amendments to
International
Accounting
Standards -
Financial
Instruments
Presentation:
Puttable Financial
Instruments and
Obligations arising
on Liquidation

Summary

Introduces a statement of

comprehensive income.

Other revisions include impacts
on the presentation of items in
the statement of changes in
equity, new presentation
requirements for restatements
or reclassifications of items in
the financial statements,
changes in the presentation
requirements for dividends and
changes to the titles of the
financial statements.

The amendments clarify the
definition of “vesting
conditions”, introducing the
term “non-vesting conditions”
for conditions other than
vesting conditions as
specifically defined and
prescribe the accounting
treatment of an award that is
effectively cancelled because a
non-vesting condition is not
satisfied.

Application
date of
standard

1 January 2009

1 January 2009

The amendments provide a

limited exception to the
definition of a liability so as to
allow an entity that issues
puttable financial instruments
with certain specified features,
to classify those instruments as
equity rather than financial
liabilities.

1 January 2009

Impact on Group
financial report

The new statement
of comprehensive
income will set out
the result for the
Group for the
reporting period
plus other
movements in
retained earnings
and reserves,

The Group is
currently reviewing
any potential
impact.

The Interpretation is
not expected to
impact the Group.

Application
date for

i

i Group
I
1 July 2009

1 July 2009

1 July 2009
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Application Application
Reference Title Summary date of Impacton Group | @ tor
financial report
standard Group
IFRS Annual Amendments to The improvements project is 1 January 2009 | The Group is 1 July 2009
Improvement International an annual project that provides currently reviewing
Project Accounting a mechanism for making non- any potential
Standards arising urgent, but necessary, impact.
from the Annual amendments to IFRSs. The
Improvements IASB has separated the
Project [IFRS 5, amendments into two parts:
IAS 1, 16, 19, 20 Part 1 deals with changes the
23, 27, 28, 29, 31, | |ASB identified resuiting in
36, 38, 39,40 and | accounting changes; Part If
41] deals with either terminology or
editorial amendments that the
IASB believes will have
minimal impact.
This was the first omnibus of
amendments issued by the
IASB arising from the Annual
Improvements Project and it is
expected that going forward,
such improvements will be
issued annually to remove
inconsistencies and clarify
wording in the standards.
The IASB issued these
amendments in two separate
amending standards; one
dealing with the accounting
changes effective from 1
January 2009 and the other
dealing with amendments to
IFRS 5, which will be
applicable from 1 July 2009
[refer below].
IFRS Annual Further This was the second omnibus 1 July 2009 The Group is 1 July 2009
Improvement Amendments to of amendments issued by the currently reviewing
Project International IASB arising from the Annual any potential impact
Accounting Improvements Project.
Standards arising Refer above for details
from the Annual '
Improvements
Project [IFRS 2,
and 8. 1AS 1,7, 17,
18, 36, 38, 39.
IFRIC 9 and 16]
IAS 39 Amendments to The amendment to IAS 39 1 July 2009 As the Group does 1 July 2009
amendments International clarifies how the principles not currently
Accounting underlying hedge accounting undertake hedging
Standards: should be applied when (i) a transactions these
Financial one-sided risk in a hedged item amendments are
Instruments is being hedged and (ii) not expected to
Recognition and inflation in a financial hedged impact the Group.
Measurement — item existed or was likely to
Eligible Hedged exist.
{ tems
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Reference

IFRS 4 and 7

Title

Amendments to
International
Accounting
Standards —
Improving
Disclosures about
Financial
Instruments [IFRS
4,and 7}

Summary

The main amendment to IFRS
7 requires fair value
measurements to be disclosed
by the source of inputs, using
the following three-level
hierarchy:

» quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active
markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level
1)

» inputs other than quoted
prices included in Level 1
that are observable for
the asset or liability, either
directly (as prices) or
indirectly (derived from
prices) (Level 2); and

» inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based
on observable market
data (unobservable
inputs) (Level 3).

These amendments arise from
the issuance of Improving
Disclosures about Financial
Instruments (Amendments to
IFRS 7) by the IASB in March
2009.

The amendments to IFRS 4,
IAS 23 and IAS 38 comprise
editorial changes resulting from
the amendments to IFRS 7.

Application
date of
standard

Annual

reporting
periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2009 that end
on or after 30
April 2009.

IFRS 5, IFRS
7,1AS 7, IAS
12, IAS 36 &
IAS 39 and
IFRIC 17
amendments

Amendments to
International
Accounting
Standards

These comprise editorial
amendments and are expected
to have no major impact on the
requirements of the amended
pronouncements.
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1 July 2009

Impact on Group
financial report

The amendments to

IFRS 7 are of a
disclosure nature
only and
accordingly will not
impact the Group’s
results or financial
position.

The amendments
are not expected to
impact the Group.

Application
date for
Group

1 July 2009

Lo
1 July 2009
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IFRS 2

accounting for group cash-
settled share-based payment
transactions, in particular:

» the scope of IFRS 2; and

» the interaction between
IFRS 2 and other
standards.

An entity that receives goods
or services in a share-based
payment arrangement must
account for those goods or
services no matter which entity
in the group settles the
transaction, and no matter
whether the transaction is
settled in shares or cash.

A “group” has the same
meaning as in IAS 27
Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, that is, it
includes only a parent and its
subsidiaries.

The amendments also
incorporate guidance
previously included in IFRIC 8
Scope of IFRS 2 and IFRIC 11
IFRS 2—Group and Treasury
Share Transactions. As a
result, IFRIC 8 and IFRIC 11
have been withdrawn.

Application Application
Reference Title Summary date of Impacton Group | < for
financial report
standard Group
IFRS 2 Amendments to The amendments clarify the 1 January 2010 | The amendments 1 July 2010

are not expected to
impact the Group.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Segment products and locations

The primary reporting format is determined to be geographical segments as the Group's risks and returns are

predominantly affected by geographical location. The Group’s operating companies are organised and

managed separately according to their geographical location, with each segment representing the country of
incorporation, operation and location of assets.

The Group operates predominantly two business segments. Mining and exploration operations take

place in South Africa and Zimbabwe, with administration functions in Australia and Bermuda.

The mining and exploration segment explores for and produces platinum group metals including

platinum, palladium, rhodium and gold. The other business segment relates to general head office and

corporate activities. The Group's geographical segments are based on the location of the Group’s

assets.
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(b) Segment accounting policies
The group generally accounts for inter-segment revenues and transfers as if the transactions were to

third parties at current market prices. Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the

location of the assets producing the revenues.

Segment accounting policies are the same as the consolidated entity’s policies.

(c) Geographical segments

Bermuda South Africa Australia Zimbabwe Unallocated Eliminations  Consolidated
30 June 2009
External revenue - 238,225 - 60,650 11,681 - 310,556
Intersegment revenues 49,586 - 621 - - (50,207) -
Segment revenue 49,586 238,225 621 60,650 11,681 (50,207) 310,556
Segment result 10,479 (75,041) (9) (8,420) (24,287) (114) (97,392)
Income tax expense 15,808
Profit after tax (81,584)
Segment assets 127,245 614,965 2,460 172,333 - - 917,003
Segment liabilities 101,632 172,024 363 34,914 - - 308,833
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure - 34,731 - 29,761 - - 64,492
Amortisation and
depreciation - 38,323 13 4,408 - - 42,744
Other non-cash expenses (1,092) 34,279 - 13,353 - - 46,540
Impairment losses - 10,082 - 2,968 - - 13,050

Bermuda South Africa Australia Zimbabwe Unallocated Eliminations Consolidated
30 June 2008
External revenue - 768,265 - 122,652 28,095 - 919,012
Intersegment revenues 24,760 - 691 - - (25,451) -
Segment revenue 24,760 768,265 691 122,652 28,095 (25,451) 919,012
Segment result 25,119 462,746 (50) 58,402 (165) (9,245) 536,807
Income tax expense (173,214)
Profit after tax 363,593
Segment assets 93,075 673,702 4,368 215,213 - - 986,358
Segment liabilities 18,982 403,030 381 19,451 - - 441,844
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure - 42,316 - 16,240 - - 58,556
Amortisation and
depreciation - 45,265 17 3,704 - - 48,986
Other non-cash expenses 7,432 - - - - - 7,432
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(d)  Business segments

Mining and Corporate and

30 June 2009 Exploration Investment Consolidated
Segment revenue 298,875 - 298,875
Segment assets 787,298 129,705 917,003
Capital expenditure 64,492 - 64,492
30 June 2008

Segment revenue 890,917 - 890,917
Segment assets 888,915 97,443 986,358
Capital expenditure 58,556 - 58,556

Zimbabwe

In Zimbabwe, the Indigenisation and Economic Empowerment Bill was enacted into law during the last quarter of the
previous financial year just before the dissolution of the previous Zimbabwean parliament. The proposed
amendments to the Mines and Minerals Act which applied to foreign controlled mining operations and mandated
51% indigenous ownership were withdrawn in July 2009 by the current Minister of Mines in Zimbabwe to allow for
stakeholder consultation. The Minister of Mines has requested input from the industry through the Chamber of
Mines. The operations and earnings of the Group continue to be affected to varying degrees by fiscal, legislative
regulatory and political developments in Zimbabwe.
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7. Revenue and Expenses

Revenue
Sale of mine products
Interest income

Other income
Other

Cost of sales

Amortisation and depreciation
Cost of production

Royalties

Administrative costs

Advertising and promotion

Consulting fees

Directors’ fees

Share based payments

Legal fees

Printing and stationery

Rental on operating leases

Stock exchange and registry management
Subscriptions and conferences
Telephone and facsimile

Travel

Wages, salaries and employee benefits
Other

Other operating gain/(loss)
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)

Finance costs

Interest and borrowing costs

Accretion of interest on convertible bond
Accretion of mine-site rehabilitation liability

Impairment of assets
Impairment of Everest mining assets
Impairment of available for sale investments

2009 2008
$000 $000
298,875 890,917
11,681 28,095
310,556 919,012
1,815 2,109
1,815 2,109
42,744 48,986
288,949 307,485
2,634 3,402
334,327 359,873
228 299
2,594 4,187
772 716

57 58
1,329 351
29 40

148 132

754 854

561 251

80 %
1,085 1,191
1,768 1,731
514 561
9,919 10,467
(20,328) 14,286
(20,328) 14,286
29,064 19,628
432 -
6,472 8,632
35,968 28,260
10,082 -
2,968 -
13,050 -
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Impairment of Everest mining assets

On 7 December 2008 the Company announced the suspension of mining operations for a minimum period of six months at
the Everest Platinum Mine in South Africa following detection of instability in an upper area of the mine. The instability was
subsequently found to be a result of subsidence that has occurred over an upper area of the ore body which includes the
upper levels of the decline shaft. The Company has made an assessment of the damage to the mine and associated

infrastructure resulting in an impairment charge of $10.082 million.

Impairment of available for sale investments

Listed investments are stated at fair value at 30 June 2009.

2009 2008
$'000 $'000
Staff costs included in the consolidated income statement
Salaries and wages 36,744 20,006
Superannuation 1,617 1,061
Share based payments 57 58
38,418 24,125
Depreciation and amortisation included in consolidated
income statement
Depreciation 10,124 24,208
Amortisation of intangible asset 4,264 -
Amortisation of fair value uplift on mining assets 8,142 6,535
Amortisation of original cost of mining assets 20,214 18,243
42,744 48,986
8. Income Tax
Major component of tax expense for the year
Income statement:
Current income tax (4,300) 126,773
Withholding tax 2,388 2,539
Secondary tax charge - 45,822
Deferred tax — origination and reversal of temporary (13,896) (1,920)
differences
Income tax expense (15,808) 173,214

As a Bermudan corporation, Aquarius has no tax liability under that jurisdiction with respect to income derived.
Certain of its foreign derived income is subject to applicable tax in the countries from which such income is derived.

Amounts charged or credited directly to equity:
Foreign exchange translation adjustment - -

The group’s effective tax rate in 2009 was 16.23% (2008: 32.3%). A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable
to profit/(loss) from operating activities before income tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense at
the group’s effective income tax rate at year's end is as follows:
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2009 2008

$'000 $000
(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities before income tax (97,392) 536,807
At the South African income tax rate of 28% (27,270) 150,306
Lower Zimbabwe income tax rate of 15% 1,120 (9.614)
Lower Mauritius income tax rate of 15% (53) (191)
Loss of parent company not subject to taxation 796 993
Foreign exchange adjustments on tax liabilities 7,272 (14,125)
Foreign tax credit - 2
Unrecognised tax losses 149 138
Income not assessable (5,085) (5,440)
Capital and incentive allowances (28) (24)
Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes 4,343 3,328
Withholding tax on dividends and technical fees received 2,388 2,539
Secondary tax charge on share repurchase - 45,822
Under/(over) provision from prior year 560 (517)
At effective income tax/(benefit) rate of (16.23%) (2008: 32.3%) (15,808) 173,214
Current tax liabilities
Tax payable 1 1,644
Deferred tax liabilities
Capital allowances on machinery 81,385 75,563
Fair value uplift on mining assets 17,147 19,083
Rehabilitation cost 2,614 2,427
Provision for mine site rehabilitation (6,685) (5,405)
Prepayments (129) 89
ldentifiable intangible assets 18,364 19,450
Tax losses offset against deferred tax liabilities (23,467) -
Other 3,538 531
Deferred tax liability 92,767 111,738
Reconciliation of movement in deferred tax liabilities to
tax expense
Balance of deferred tax liabilities at beginning of year 111,738 103,378
Foreign exchange translation of deferred tax liabiiities (56,075) (11,650)
Arising on acquisition of joint venture interest - 21,930
Deferred tax expense (13,896) (1,920)
Deferred tax liability 92,767 111,738

At 30 June 2009, the potential benefit of tax losses of a foreign subsidiary amounting to $5.4 million (2008: $5.5m)
has not been brought to account in these financial statements, as it is not probable that the benefit will flow to that
entity.

Potential withholding taxes not currently recognised on undistributed profits from jointly controlled entities totals
$11.341m.

49



Aquarius Platinum Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2009

File # 82-5097

9. Earnings Per Share

a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share - cents per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the
net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year.

b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share - cents per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the
net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the
year (after adjusting for the effects of dilutive options).

(c) Reconciliations
Net profit/(loss) used in calculating basic and diluted
earnings per share

Weighted average number of shares used in the calculation
of basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive securities

Share options

Adjusted weighted average number of shares used in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share

Number of potential ordinary shares not considered dilutive
Share options

Convertible bonds

(d) Headline earnings per share is disclosed as required by the JSE
Limited

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
entity

Adjustments net of tax
Plus: Impairment of Everest mining assets

Plus: Impairment of available for sale investments
Headline earnings

Headline earnings per share - cents
Basic
Diluted

50

2009 2008
$'000 $'000
(13.30)* 86.58*
(13.30)* 86.10*
(45,742) 236,474
Number of Number of
shares shares*
343,812,691 273,123,669
- 1,534,849
343,812,691 274,658,518
1,565,249 259,299
17,046,944 -
18,612,193 259,299
2009 2008
$'000 $'000
(45,742) 236,474
7.259 -

2,523 -
(35,960) 236,474
(10.46)* 86.58*
(10.46)* 86.10*
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* The earnings per share calculations for the years ended 30 June 2009 and 2008 have been adjusted for the 1 for 9
Rights Issue announced to the market on 26 March 2009 in accordance with IAS 33 Earnings Per Share. The effect of
this is to dilute the number of shares on issue by a factor of 1.062 for the periods prior to the Rights Issue.

On 6 July 2009, Aquarius Platinum Limited (Aquarius) acquired 100% of the voting shares of Ridge Mining pic. The
total cost of the business combination was US$110,608,751 and comprised the issue of equity instruments — both
ordinary shares and options over ordinary shares. Aquarius issued 33,478,376 ordinary shares with a fair value of
GBP 1.968 each, based on the quoted price of the shares of Aquarius on 6 July 2009. Aquarius also granted
14,089,324 replacement options over ordinary shares to cover the outstanding Ridge employee share options,

shareholder warrants, and options granted to joint venture partners.

10. Dividend Proposed or Declared

No final dividend for the 2009 financial year has been declared. A final dividend of 10 cents per common share was
declared for the 2008 financial year. The dividend has not been recognised as a liability in the consolidated financia!
statements at 30 June 2008.

Total dividends paid during the 2009 financial year amounted to $26,205,278, comprising a final 2008 dividend paid
during October 2008. There was no interim dividend paid during the year.

Total dividends paid during the 2008 financial year amounted to $51,306,853. This consisted of a final 2007 dividend
paid during October 2007 of $25,653,426 ($0.10 per share) and an interim dividend paid during March 2008 of
$25,653,427 ($0.10 per share).

2009 2008
$'000 $'000
11. Receivables = Non Current
Amount due from joint venture participant for share of mine site
closure costs 11,362 10,795

Based on the first and second Notarial Pooling and Sharing agreements (PSA’s) with Anglo Platinum,
AQP(SA) holds a contractual right to recover 50% of the rehabilitation liability relating to environmental
rehabilitation resulting from PSA operations from Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited (RPM), where this
rehabilitation relates to property owned by AQP(SA). Likewise RPM holds a contractual right to recover 50%
of the rehabilitation liability relating to environmental rehabilitation resulting from PSA operations from
AQP(SA), where the rehabilitation relates to property owned by RPM. Refer also Note 22(a). With respect to
the opencast section of the Marikana mine that is on AQP(SA) property, RPM have limited their contractual
liability to approximately ZAR50 million, being a negotiated liability in terms of an amendment to the second
Notarial Pooling and Sharing Agreement
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2009 2008
$°000 $'000
12. Available for Sale Investments — Non Current
Shares in other corporations 1,917 4,804
Available for sale financial assets consist of investments in ordinary shares and therefore have no fixed
maturity date or coupon rate.
13. Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant &
Land & Plant & Equipment
an an Under Finance
Buildings Equipment Lease Total

30 June 2009

Beginning carrying value 10,690 203,624 - 214,314
Additions 471 37,641 - 38,112
Disposals - - - -
Depreciation (605) (9,519) - (10,124)
Transfers to mining assets (1,642) (8,130) - (9,772)
Foreign exchange variance 4) (2,469) - (2,473)
Closing carrying value 8,910 221,147 - 230,057
At cost 11,632 294,784 - 306,416
Accumulated depreciation (2,722) (73,637) - (76,359)
Closing carrying value 8,910 221,147 - 230,057

Plant &
Land & Plant & Equipment
an an Under Finance
Buildings Equipment Lease Total

30 June 2008

Beginning carrying value 18,671 192,850 7,692 219,113
Additions 155 39,057 - 39,212
Acquisitions - 10,381 - 10,381
Disposals - - - -
Depreciation (581) (23,627) - (24,208)
Transfers to mining assets (7,534) (3,828) (7,592) (18,954)
Foreign exchange variance (21) (11,209) - (11,230)
Closing carrying value 10,690 203,624 - 214,314
At cost 11,483 265,136 276,619
Accumulated depreciation (793) (61,512) - (62,305)
Closing carrying value 10,690 203,624 - 214,314
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2009 2008
$'000 $'000
14. Mining Assets
Comprising deferred exploration and evaluation costs, mineral
properties acquired and mine development costs as follows:
Exploration and evaluation costs 1,110 -
Mineral properties acquired 153,014 156,335
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (64,169) (54,439)
88,845 101,896
Development costs 276,549 228,453
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (96,130) (56,079)
180,419 172,374
270,374 274,270
Reconciliation of mining assets:
Opening balance 274,270 289,313
Additions/expenditure incurred during the year 29,276 26,531
Provision for rehabilitation increment/(decrease) (2,896) (7,187)
Impairment of mining assets (10,082) -
Amortisation charges (28,356) (24,778)
Transfers from property, plant & equipment 9,772 18,954
Foreign exchange variance (1,610) (28,563)
Closing balance 270,374 274,270

In accordance with the Group’s policy on mining assets, the directors have reviewed the carrying value of mineral

exploration tenements as at 30 June 2009. The value of the mineral exploration tenements is carried forward as an

asset provided the rights to tenure of the area of interest is current and either:

« the exploration and evaluation activities are expected to be recouped through successful development and
exploitation of the area of interest or, alternatively, by its sale; or

« exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage, which
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence, or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active
and significant operations in, or relating to, the area of interest are continuing.

15. Restricted Cash in Environmental Trusts

Contributions to environmental rehabilitation trusts 12,008 10,359
12,008 10,359
Reconciliation of movement:
Opening balance 10,359 10,071
Contributions 520 645
Interest received 820 891
Foreign exchange variance 309 (1,248)
Closing balance 12,008 10,359
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AQP(SA) has established Environmental Rehabilitation Trusts into which the Company makes annual contributions in
order to provide for its obligations in respect of environmental rehabilitation. AQP(SA) also contributes to the
Rustenburg Platinum Mines Rehabilitation Trust in order to provide for the obligations in respect of environmental
rehabilitation for part of the jointly controlled operation’s obligation incurred in the Notarial Pooling and Sharing
Agreements. The trust balances are represented by restricted cash financial assets that can only be accessed in

compliance with meeting the trust objectives.

2009 2008
$000 $000
16. Intangible Asset and Goodwill
Contract at fair value 70,190 69,463
Less accumulated amortisation (4,603) -
65,587 69,463
Goodwill 8,580 8,492
74,167 77,955
Reconciliation of contract at fair value
Opening balance 69,463 -
Avrising on acquisition of joint venture interest (Note 17) - 69,463
Amortisation charge (4,264) -
Foreign currency adjustment 388 -
Closing balance 65,587 69,463
Reconciliation of goodwill:
Opening balance 8,492 -
Arising on acquisition of joint venture interest (Note 17) - 8,492
Foreign currency adjustment 88 -
Closing balance 8,580 8,492

The recoverable amount of the Company’s interest in the Platinum Mile Resources (Pty) Ltd (Plat Mile) joint venture
has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets and
long term future estimates approved by senior management, over a twenty year period. A period greater than five
years for these cash flows is justified on the basis that the estimated useful life of the contract for the treatment of
tailings material is considerably longer than five years.

The primary assumptions underlying the cash flow projections include PGM production of approximately 40,000
ounces per annum based on management estimates, a PGM basket price of approximately $1,349 per ounce based

on management estimates and a 9.20% post tax discount rate.

Management's approach to determining the values assigned to each key assumption was as follows:

e PGM production volume per annum — based on management’s acquisition model used when determining the
offer price. This took into account the anticipated tailings production based on Plat Mile production forecasts
combined with the estimated recovery’s based on past performance adjusted for expected efficiencies;

o PGM basket price — based on long term price forecasts from a number of brokers adjusted to reflect

management’'s expectations;
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« Discount rate applied — based on the weighted average cost of capital which is believed to reflect the risks specific
to the asset. This included a number of inputs which were both market based measures as well as management
estimates including, the risk free rate for bonds issued, an assessment of the equity market risk premium as well
as a risk adjustment (“beta”) specific to the asset. In determining the risk adjustment, the average of the betas of
comparable projects was used adjusted for management's expectations, and the forward looking equity market

risk premium was the average supplied by a number of investment banks; and

As the recoverable amount of the Company’s interest in the Plat Mile joint venture is equal to the carrying amount, any
negative adjustments to the above primary assumptions will cause the carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the
Plat Mile joint venture to exceed its recoverable amount. A reduction in the PGM basket price of 20% would produce
an impairment of $15.30 million.

17. Acquisition of Interest in Jointly Controlled Entity
AQP through its wholly owned subsidiary Aquarius Platinum (South Africa) Corporate Services (Pty) Ltd acquired a
50% interest in the ordinary issued capital of Plat Mile with effect from 1 March 2008.

Following a detailed review during the year of the provisional fair values assigned at 1 March 2008, the final fair values

relating to the acquisition of Plat Mile as at the date of acquisition are tabled below.

Carrying Provisional Final
Value of Fair Value of Fair Value
50% Interest 50% Interest at of 50%
30 June 2008 Interest
Plant and equipment 4,034 10,381 10,381
Intangible asset — contract value - - 69,463
Cash and cash equivalents 859 859 859
Trade and other receivables 4,006 4,743 4,743
Interest bearing liabilities (2,694) (2,571) (2,571)
Derivative liability (1,940) (1,940) (1,940)
Deferred tax liability (669) (2,481) (21,930)
Trade and other payables (3,118) (3,117) (3,118)
Net Assets 478 5,874 55,887
Goodwill 58,505 8,492
Total Consideration 64,379 64,379
Consideration
Cash consideration 23,758
Shares issued 40,621
Total consideration —67,37-9_
Net cash out flow on acquisition:
Cash consideration 23,758
Cash acquired (859)
Net cash consideration —T,BSS)_
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Details of material adjustments to the carrying values which have been applied to the comparative period were as

follows:

a) Plant and equipment - fair value was determined by a valuation undertaken by management at acquisition.

b) Contract value - this balance represents the fair value allocated to the sale of tailings and concentrate
agreement in place for Plat Mile's production. Fair value at acquisition was determined by reference to the value
of the net cash flows over the life of the contract;

c) Deferred tax liability — represents the difference between the tax base of assets (other than goodwill) and
liabilities and their carrying amounts. The balance on acquisition is primarily represented by the difference
between the tax base of the contract value and its fair value at that date; and

d) Goodwill - represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s share in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities and includes expected synergies and the skilled
workforce (in particular the management team’s expertise).

18. Interest in Joint Ventures
The group has the following interest in joint ventures:

e a50% interest in two joint ventures each referred to as the “Notarial Pooling & Sharing Agreements”. The
principal activities of the joint ventures is to extend the Kroondal mine over the boundary of the properties
covering the Kroondal mine and expand the Marikana mine operations through mineral rights contributed by
Anglo Platinum through its subsidiary, Rustenburg Platinum Mines Ltd.

e a50% interest in Mimosa Investments Limited, which owns and operates the Mimosa mine, a 50% interest
in a joint venture known as the “Chrome Tailings Retreatment Project” and a 50% interest in the Plat Mile
“tailings reprocessing joint venture”.

The group'’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint ventures which are included in the

consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

2009 2008

$000 $'000

Current assets 203,296 336,624
Non current assets ' 322,997 254,534
526,293 591,158

Current liabilities (45,548) (51,871)
Non current liabilities (33,128) (4,725)
447,617 534,562

Revenue 262,113 629,512
Cost of sales (247,283) (225,202)
Other expenses (1,432) (12,659)
Interest received 2,439 5,526
Interest expense (648) (340)
Profit before income tax 15,189 396,837
Income tax expense (8,694) (3,341)
Net profit before non controlling interests 6,495 393,496
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2009 2008
$'000 $'000
Capital expenditure (non cancellable) 2,817 39,786

These commitments represent contractual commitments relating to development activities at the Everest,
Marikana and Kroondal projects and include AQP(SA)'s share of capital expenditure associated with the
capital development of those mines.

19. Cash
Cash at bank 47,334 146,769
Short term deposits 106,266 24,187

153,600 170,956
The interest rate earned from cash at bank and short-term deposits ranged from 1.80% to 10.19% per
annum. Short-term deposits have maturity dates of three months or less.

20. Trade and Other Receivables (Current)

Trade receivables (a),(d) 60,042 140,754
Security deposit (b) 14,038 12,1589
Other receivables (c) 45,786 34,051

119,866 186,964

(a) Trade receivables have been offset by an amount of:

e $9.281m (2008: $82.820m) relating to the pre-financing by Implats of delivered PGM concentrates. This
amount is subject to interest at the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 1%. The pre-financing is due
to be offset in US dollars against the final invoice amount during July, August and September 2009.

» $38.755m (2008: $84.843m) relating to the pre-financing by Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited of delivered
PGM concentrates. This amount is subject to interest at the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 1%.
The pre-financing is due to be offset in US dollars against the final invoice amount during July, August and
September 2009. The group has a legal right of set off and balances are settled net.

Trade receivables are due from major minerals mining and processing companies. None of the amounts are past

due or impaired.
(b) The security deposit is held by FirstRand (Ireland) and bears interest at the rate of 3.91%.

(c) Other receivables are non-interest bearing and due within twelve months. Included in other receivables is an
amount of $28.620m (2008: $21,177m) due from the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe. The amount is immediately
repayable in USD and bears no interest. The amount owing relates to a former requirement for Mimosa to
repatriate a component of US dollar sales into Zimbabwean dollars through the sale of US dollars to Bank of
Zimbabwe in exchange for Zimbabwean dollars. The receivable has accrued during the current and previous
financial year. The amount owing represents an accumulated balance of US dollar sales for which Zimbabwean
dollars were in excess of the Mimosa’'s operational requirements. Following dollarisation of the Zimbabwean
economy in the March quarter 2009 the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe confirmed it will repay the amount owing in US

dollars.

(d) At 30 June 2009, gross sales of $91,106,000 were subject to price adjustments (2008: $286,321,000). See Note
38(b)(ii).
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2009 2008
$000 $'000
21. Inventories
Ore stockpiled at cost 3,164 5514
PGM concentrates at cost 1,330 1,915
Consumables at cost 39,158 28,512
43,652 35,941
22. Payables (Non-Current)
Amount due to joint venture participant in respect of mine
closure costs (a) 1,555 2,219
1,555 2,219

(a) Based on the first and second Notarial Pooling and Sharing agreements (PSA) with Anglo Platinum,
AQP(SA) holds a contractual right to recover 50% of the rehabilitation liability relating to environmental
rehabilitation resulting from PSA operations from Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited (RPM), where this
rehabilitation relates to property owned by AQP(SA). Likewise RPM holds a contractual right to recover 50%
of the rehabilitation liability relating to environmental rehabilitation resulting from PSA operations from
AQP(SA), where the rehabilitation relates to property owned by RPM. Refer also Note 11.

23. Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings (Non-Current)

Loan — other corporation (a) 1,196 1,264
Other secured loans (b) 271 290
Finance lease liabilities (c) 407 103
Convertible bond (d) 68,160 -

70,034 1,657

(a) Loan - other corporation is payable to Investec Limited by Plat Mile. The loan bears interest at 10.13% and is
repayable in quarterly instalments of capital and interest. The loan is secured against the plant and equipment
asset of the Plat Mile joint venture.

(b) Other secured loan of ZAR2,079,223 (2008: ZAR 2,306,250) is payable to the Land and Agricultural Bank of
South Africa by a subsidiary, TKO Investment Holdings Ltd. The loan bears interest at 12.00% and is repayable
in annual instaiments of ZAR468,097 on 15 June each year. The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond on all
the fixed properties amounting to ZAR3,273,903 within the TKO group and cross guarantees between all the
companies in the TKO group.

{c) Finance lease obligations are calculated at an effective interest rate of the South African prime bank lending
rate plus 2% with a lease term of 48 months.
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(d) On 11 May 2009 the Company issued ZAR 650 million of Convertible Bonds subject to the following
summarised key terms:

i)

i)

iv)

vi)

vii)

Xi)

The Principal Amount of the Bonds is ZAR 10,000 each and unless converted, redeemed or cancelled
beforehand will be redeemed on 30 April 2012 at that Principal Amount plus accrued interest. The Bonds
are listed on the JSE;

The Company has the right to redeem all but not some of the Bonds prior to 10 May 2010 at 115% of the
Principal Amount plus any accrued interest;

From 11 May 2010 the Company may redeem, at the Principal Amount plus accrued interest, all but not
some of the Bonds if the Company’s ZAR volume weighted average share price exceeds 128% of the
Conversion Price for more than 20 consecutive days. The Conversion Price is initially set at ZAR 38.13
but may be adjusted for certain events set out below. The Company must provide notice to the Bond
holders specifying a redemption date;

The Company may redeem all but not some of the Bonds at any time at the Principal Amount plus accrued
interest if more than 85% of the Bonds originally issued have been converted by the holders;

The holder has the right to convert the Bonds into Common Shares in the Company from 11 May 2010.
The number of Common Shares to be issued is determined by dividing the Principal Amount by the
Conversion Price;

Should a change of control event occur, the holder has the right to require the Company to redeem, for
cash, the Bond at 115% of the Principal Amount if the change of control occurs prior to 11 May 2010, or for
the Principal Amount plus accrued interest if the change of control occurs thereafter;

The Conversion Price for the Bonds shall be adjusted in various specified circumstances which are
intended to protect the holder of the Bond from the potential dilutionary effect of other issues of Shares or
Securities by the Company. The Conversion Price is also reduced if an offer is made to the Company’s
shareholders and more than 50% of the issued Shares becomes vested in the offeror;

The Bonds bear interest at the 3-month JIBAR plus 3%);

Aquarius Platinum (South Africa) (Proprietary) Limited (AQPSA) has guaranteed payment of all the
obligations of the Company in respect of the Bonds;

Should an Event of Default occur the Bonds become repayable immediately at their Principal Amount plus
accrued interest. Events of Default include failure to pay amount due under the bond terms, non-payment
of other financial indebtedness above certain thresholds and insolvency or similar events occurring; and
The obligations under the terms of the Bonds are secured by the Company’s shareholding in and loans to
AQPSA.

For accounting purposes the Bonds have two elements: a debt component included in Note 23 (a host debt

contract) and compound embedded derivatives included in Note 24 (primarily comprising the Bond holder’s right

to convert the Bond into Common Shares based on ZAR conversion price). The debt element is carried at

amortised cost whereby the initial carrying value of the debt is accreted to the Principal Amount over the life of

the Bond. This accretion is recognised as a borrowing cost. The embedded derivatives are carried at fair value

with any movement since the previous balance sheet date recognised in the income statement. As the Bonds

are denominated in ZAR and the functional currency of the Company is USD, the debt carrying amount is

subject to exchange rate movements that are recognised in the income statement.
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The fair value of the embedded derivatives has been independently valued taking into consideration factors such

as:

a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

f)

Volatility in the Company’s share price;

Company's current share price;

ZAR/USD exchange rate;

Company'’s right to redeem the Bonds in full in the first 12 months at 115% of the Principal Amount;
Holder's right to convert after 12 months should the Company notify of intention to redeem; and
Expected life.

The key assumptions used in valuing the embedded derivates were a Company share price of ZAR 38.60, base

share price at issue date of ZAR 30.51, conversion share price of ZAR 38.13, issuer redemption share price of
ZAR 48.8, ZAR/USD exchange rate of 7.88210, dividend yield of 3%, Interest rate of 11.08% and a 3 year term.

2009 2008
$'000 $000
24. Derivatives at Fair Value
Derivative at fair value associated with convertible bond (a) 6,084 -
Forward PGM contract (b) - 1,039
6,084 1,039
Movement in derivatives:
Balance at beginning of the year 1,039 -
Settlement (1,039) 1,039
Fair value of derivative at inception 9,913 -
Movement in fair value (3,829) -
Balance at end of year 6,084 1,039

a) Refer Note 23(d) above for details of derivative liability at fair value.

b) At 30 June 2008 Platinum Mile Resources (Pty) Ltd (Plat Mile) had remaining monthly forward commitments to

sell platinum, palladium and gold at fixed prices. During the period July 2008 to December 2008 these contracts

were fulfilled and no further contracts have been entered into.
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2009 2008
$'000 $000
25. Provisions (Non-Current)
Provision for mine site rehabilitation 62,858 58,509
Employee entitiements 105 109
62,963 58,618
Movement in provision:
Balance at beginning of the year 58,618 69,026
Additional provision for employee entitlements 15 31
Addition/(reduction) in mine site closure costs provided (2,896) (7,187)
Payments for minesite closure (1,213) (4,372)
Interest adjustment due to accretion in mine-site rehabilitation
liability 6,472 8,632
Net exchange differences 1,967 (7,512)
Balance at end of year 62,963 58,618

The mines for which the provision has been raised are expected to have remaining mine lives in the range of
12 to beyond 30 years.

Provision for mine site rehabilitation

The provision for rehabilitation represents the cost of restoring site damage following initial disturbance. Increases in
the provision are capitalised to deferred mining assets to the extent that the future benefits will arise. Cost incurred
that related to an existing condition caused by past operations and do not have a future economic benefit are
expensed.

Provision for employee entitlements
The provision for employee entitlements represents accrued employee leave entitiements.

26. Trade and Other Payables (Current)

Trade payables 30,842 47,301
Other payables 37,780 8,993
68,622 56,294

Trade and other payables are interest free, payable within 90 days, predominantly denominated and
repayable in ZAR and USD and located in South Africa and Zimbabwe.
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2008
$000

208,066
95

2009
$000

27. Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings (Current)
Secured loans (a) 5,390
Lease liabilities — refer Note 23(c) 187
Unsecured loans (b) 634
6,211

208,161

Total facility available:
Rand Merchant Bank loan facility -

301,337

Unused facility available:
Rand Merchant Bank loan facility -

a) Secured loans comprise:

i. Aloan of $5m payable to Nedbank London. The facility is a 12 month, 90 day revolving facility with an

interest rate of LIBOR plus 3%; and

ii. A $0.390 million loan payable to African Banking Corporation. The facility is a 12 month, 90 day

revolving facility with an interest rate of LIBOR plus 10%.

At 30 June 2009 the LIBOR was 0.3162%. The loans are secured by a charge against Mimosa's PGM

concentrate inventory and PGM debtors.

b)  Unsecured loans comprise an amount payable for ZAR 5m at the South African Prime Bank Lending Rate plus

3%. At 30 June 2009 the South African Prime Bank Lending Rate was 11.0%

28. Provisions (Current)

Provision for employee entitlements 596

474

Movement in provision:

576
(49)
(53)

Balance at beginning of the year 474
(Utilisation)/additional provision 118
Net exchange differences 4
Balance at end of year 596

474

Provision for employee entitlements

The provision for employee entitiements represents accrued employee leave entitlements.
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2009 2008
$000 $'000
29. Issued Capital
a) Authorised capita!l
530,000,000 (2008: 530,000,000) common shares with a par
value of $0.15 each 79,500 79,500
5 (2008: 5) “A” class shares with a par value of $2,400 each 12 12
50,000,000 (2008: 50,000,000) preference shares with a par
value of $0.15 each 7,500 7,500
87,012 87,012
b) Issued capital
415,014,680 (2008: 262,052,778) common shares of $0.05 each
fully paid 20,751 13,103
Movement in issued capital:
Balance at beginning of year (262,052,778 shares) 13,103 12,823
Issued on exercise of share options 97,309 (2008: 1,198,519
shares) 5 60
Share placement - 46,330,000 (2008: 23,144,000) shares 2,316 1,157
Selective share buy back (2008: 21,425,898) shares - (1,071)
Acquisition of interest in joint venture (2008: 2,680,854 shares) - 134
Rights issue — 41,491,737 shares 2,075 -
Acquisition of interest in AQPSA - 65,042,856 shares 3,252 -
Balance at end of year (415,014,680 shares) 20,751 13,103

Terms and Conditions of Issued Capital

Common shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on
shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the
company.

Preference shares, when issued, have rights and restrictions attaching to them as determined by the Board, in
accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company.

On 23 November 2007, shareholders approved a split of the Company’s issued shares on a three for one basis.

Options
For information regarding the Company’s Option Plans, refer Note 36.
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Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) Transaction

South Africa

The BEE transaction announced to shareholders on 26 July 2004 and approved by shareholders in Special General
Meeting on 11 October 2004 was formally executed with the receipt of ZAR860 million in cash by the Aquarius
Group on the 29 October 2004.

The transaction has two key components, both of which are complete.

The first step saw the BEE consortium, led by Savannah Resources (Pty) Limited (Savcon), subscribe for a 29.5%
shareholding in the enlarged share capital of AQP(SA) as follows:

e Savcon were issued with 400 shares in AQP(SA) for cash of $38,192,616 (ZAR234,544,678) and
shareholder loans of $97,439,401 (R598,385,104). The terms and conditions of the loans were as follows:

I. aloan of ZAR498,385,104 that was unsecured, subordinated to AQP(SA)'s third party debt, was interest
free, had no fixed terms of repayment and ranks pari passu with the other shareholder loans; and

Il. aloan of ZAR100,000,000 that was unsecured, subordinated to AQP(SA)’s third party debt, bore interest
at a rate of 12.745% per annum, had no fixed terms of repayment and ranked pari passu with the other
shareholder loans.

e Aquarius also agreed to sell 13 AQP(SA) shares to Savcon for $4,445,028 (ZAR27,070,218).

Concurrently Impala Platinum Holdings Limited (Impala) acquired an additional holding in AQP(SA) from
Aquarius to increase their sharehoiding to 20% in AQP(SA) following the dilution resulting from the issue of the
new shares in AQP(SA) to the BEE consortium. Aquarius agreed to sell 30 AQP(SA) shares to Impala for
$11,471,938 (ZAR71,500,000). This was settled by the cession of ZAR71,500,000 of interest bearing loan
account to Aquarius.

On 26 April 2007 the Company announced the acquisition of a 3.5% equity interest in AQP(SA) from Savcon for
cash consideration of ZAR342.5 million following the receipt of a Section 11(1) Consent from the South African
Department of Minerals and Energy. As a result of the transaction Aquarius increased its ownership interest in
AQP(SA) from 50.5% to 54%. The difference between the consideration paid of $33.148m and the carrying
value of the non controlling interest acquired was treated as an equity transaction. Refer Note 31(d).

On 16 April 2008 the Company announced the buy back by AQP(SA) of the 20% interest in AQP(SA) held by
Implats’ for consideration of $504.9 million and the buy back by AQP of Implats’ 8.4% interest in AQP for a
consideration of $285 million. As a result of the transaction Aquarius increased its ownership interest in AQP(SA)
from 54% to 67.5%. The difference between the consideration paid of $504.9 million and the carrying value of
the non controlling interest acquired in AQP(SA) was treated as an equity transaction. Refer Note 31(d).

The second step occurred on 27 October 2008 where the Company announced that it had completed the final
phase of the BEE transaction whereby Savcon exchanged its 32.5% holding in AQPSA for 65,042,856 new shares
in AQP. As a result of the transaction Aquarius increased its ownership interest in AQP(SA) from 67.5% to 100%.
The difference between the share consideration of $105.096 million and the carrying value of the non controlling
interest acquired in AQP(SA) has been treated as an equity transaction. Refer Note 31(d).
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2009 2008
$000 $000
30. Shares reserved for employee share plan
557,294 (2008: 65,000) common shares (refer Note 36) (2,802) (1,012)
Movement shares reserved for employee share plan:
Balance at beginning of year (65,000 shares) (1,012) -
Purchased by the Trustee - 492,294 shares (2008: 65,000
shares) (1,790) (1.012)
Balance at end of year (557,294 shares) (2,802) (1,012)
31. Reserves
Share premium reserve (a) 826,779 550,860
Foreign exchange reserve (b) (20,782) (22,679)
Equity benefits reserve (c) 466 409
Equity reserve (d) (361,826) (249,298)
Available for sale investments reserve (e) - -
444,637 279,292
Movement in reserves:
a) Share premium reserve
Balance at beginning of year 550,860 149,423
Premium on shares issued on exercise of share options 133 2,046
Share placement — 46,330,000 shares at £1.80 per share
(2008: 23,144,000 shares at £8.00 per share) 116,199 366,939
Fundraising costs (13,660) (8,035)
Acquisition of interest in joint venture — 2,680,854 shares at
$15.15 per share. - 40,487
Rights issue — 41,491,737 shares at £1.15 per share 71,403 -
Acquisition of interest in AQPSA — 65,042,856 shares at $1.57
per share 101,844 -
Balance at end of year 826,779 550,860

The share premium reserve is used to record the premium arising on the issue of shares calculated as the
difference between the issue price and the par value of $0.15 per share.

b) Foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at beginning of year (22,679) (988)
Gain/(loss) on translation of foreign subsidiaries 1,897 (21,691)
Balance at end of year (20,782) (22,679)

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record currency differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations
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2009 2008
$'000 $000
c) Equity benefits reserve
Balance at beginning of year 409 351
Value of equity benefits granted to employees 57 58
Balance at end of year 466 409

The equity benefits reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits granted to employees and the
value of shares reserved under the share plan.
d) Equity reserve

Balance at beginning of year (249,298) (22,584)
Adjustment on acquisition of additional 32.5% (2008: 13.5%)

equity interest in AQP(SA) (112,528) (226,714)
Balance at end of year (361,826) (249,298)

The equity reserve is used to record gains and losses associated with equity transactions with minority
shareholders where the Group maintains control of the subsidiary.
e) Available for sale investments reserve

Balance at beginning of year -
Movement in fair value of available for sale investments (2,968) -
Impairment recognised 2,968 -

Balance at end of year - .

The available for sale investments reserve is used to record movements in the fair value of available for
sale investments.

32. Retained Earnings

Balance at beginning of the year 217,531 317,113
Final dividend paid (26,205) (25,653)
Interim dividend paid - (25,653)
Excess over par value of share buyback - (284,750)
Net profit/(loss) for the year (45,742) 236,474
Balance at end of year 145,584 217,531

Repatriation of funds from South Africa and Zimbabwe are subject to regulatory approval in the respective
countries.
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2009 2008
$'000 $000
33. Non controlling Interest
Reconciliation of non controlling interests in subsidiaries:
Balance at beginning of the year 35,600 176,407
Share in post acquisition equity movements of AQP(SA) (43,030) 80,112
Adjustment to non controlling interest following share buy back - (220,919)
Acquisition of remaining non controlling interest 7,430 -
Balance at end of year - 35,600
Non controlling interest comprises:
Issued capital - -
Reserves - (18,977)
Retained earnings - 54,577
- 35,600

Non controlling interest relates to a nil (2008: 32.5%) interest in AQP(SA) and its subsidiaries.

34. Contingent Liabilities

The mining contract dispute between the company and Moolman Mining South Africa (‘MMSA”) that originally
arose over the interpretation of the contract price adjustment formula in the contract known as the “rise and fall”
which determined mining costs, has not been settled. AQPSA resiled from the mining contract in December 2005
on the basis of misrepresentation by MMSA. MMSA submitted a total claim on the termination of the contract of
R472 million, including an amount in respect of the “rise and fall” after AQPSA issued summons against MMSA
for R964 million for damages emanating from misrepresentation.

The company has served a plea to MMSA’s counterclaim. AQPSA does not believe that there are any amounts
owing to MMSA as the company has been advised by its legal representatives that the misrepresentation by
MMSA results in no amounts whatsoever being payable by the company to MMSA. Accordingly, counsel has
advised the company that it is not probable that the action by MMSA will succeed and therefore no provision for

liability has been provided for in the financial statements.
During May 2009 a consent order was obtained in the High Court to the effect that all the disputes in the matter

would be referred to trial in the High Court and this trial has been set down for hearing from 23 August 2010 to 17
September 2010.
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2009 2008
$000 $000
35. Expenditure Commitments
a) Operating lease (non cancellable)
Not later than 1 year 183 68
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 366 188
549 256
b) Finance Lease commitments
Not later than 1 year 224 114
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 453 113
Total minimum, lease payments 677 227
less future finance charges (83) (29)
Present value of minimum lease payments 594 198
Disclosed in the consolidated accounts as:
Current interest bearing liability (Note 27) 187 95
Non-current interest bearing liability (Note 23) 407 103
594 198
c) Capital expenditure (non cancellable) 4,003 40,140

These commitments represent contractual commitments relating to development activities at the Everest,
Marikana and Kroondal projects and include AQP(SA)’s share of capital expenditure associated with the
capital development of those mines.

36. Share Based Payment Plans

Directors’ and Employees’ Share and Option Plans

Aquarius has a Share Plan and an Option Plan (‘Plans”) for Chief Executive Officer and employees. The
Remuneration Committee administers the Company’s Plans, which were established pursuant to a resolution passed
at the Annual General Meeting of Aquarius held on 3 December 2001. Participation in the Plans will be at the

discretion of the remuneration committee, having regard to:

a) the seniority of the participant and the position the participant occupies with the company or subsidiary;
b) the length of service of the participant with the company or subsidiary;

c) the record of employment of the participant with the company or subsidiary;
d) the potential contribution of the participant to the growth and profitability of the company or subsidiary; and
e) any other matters which the committee considers relevant.

Option Plan

Options granted under the Option Plan may not be transferred without written approval from the Board of Directors.
Each option entitles the holder to one fully paid common share, which ranks equally in all respects with other shares
on issue. The option exercise price approximates the fair value of the shares at the date of offer, being the average of
the last sold prices on the LSE in the five dealing days prior to the offer date. No person entitled to exercise options
has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of the company or any related body corporate.
Information with respect to the number of options granted under the Option Plan is as follows:
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Number of Options
Balance at Granted Forfeited/ Exercised Balance at
Options beginning of Cancelled end of year
year

Exercise price of £1.11, granted 21 November

2003, expiring 21 November 2013 (a) (i) 280,002 - - - 280,002
Exercise price of £0.85, granted 11 June 2004,

expiring 11 June 2011 (a) (ii) 616,128 - - 48,157 (iv) 567,971
Exercise price of £0.85, granted 11 October

2004, expiring 11 October 2011 (a) (iii) 209,865 - - - 209,865
Exercise price of £0.97, granted 20 October

2004, expiring 20 October 2011 (a) (iii) 334,202 - 17,747 49,152 (v) 267,303
Exercise price of £2.34, granted 26 May 2006,

expiring 26 May 2013 (b) (i) (vi) 240,108 - - - 240,108
Total 1,680,305 - 17,747 97,309 1,565,249
Options Exercisable 306,704 1,405,177

(a) Options vested on grant date
(b) Options vested in accordance with Note (ii) below.

(i) Options granted under the Option Plan are exercisable on the following terms:
a) After 12 months have lapsed from the acceptance date, in respect of not more than one-third of the total
number of those options;
b) After 24 months have lapsed from the acceptance date, in respect of not more than two-thirds of the total
number of those options; and
c) After 36 months have lapsed from the acceptance date, in respect of the balance of those options.

(i) Options granted under the Option Plan are exercisable on the following terms:
d)  After 36 months have lapsed from the acceptance date, in respect of not more than one-third of the total
number of those options;
e) After 48 months have lapsed from the acceptance date, in respect of not more than two-thirds of the total
number of those options; and

f)  After 60 months have lapsed from the acceptance date, in respect of the balance of those options.

(iii) Options granted under the Option Plan are exercisable on the following terms:
a)  After 30 months have lapsed from the date of grant, in respect of not more than one-third of the total
number of those options;
b) After 42 months have lapsed from the date of grant, in respect of not more than two-thirds of the total
number of those options; and

c) After 54 months have lapsed from the date of grant, in respect of the balance of those options.
(iv) The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is £2.86

(v) The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the options exercised is £2.58

(vi) Options granted during the 2006 financial year have been valued at £3.67 per option using a Black & Scholes
option-pricing model which utilised the following variables: option exercise price - £7.01, dividend yield — 0.91%,
expected volatility of share price - 42%, risk free rate - 4.65% and the time to maturity of the option - 7 years.
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The weighted average remaining contractual life for Options outstanding at the end of the financial year is 2.5 years
(2008: 3.5 years).

Share Plans

The Company has adopted in 2008 a Share Plan for eligible participants. Under the Share Plan the Board can
authorise the Trustee to purchase shares and hold them as either unallocated shares or as shares for and on behalf
of an eligible participant. The participant may require the Trustee to transfer the plan shares held by the Trustee on
behalf of the participant to the participant subject to satisfaction of any performance criteria or vesting conditions
imposed by the board. The Board may also direct the Trustee to allocate to a participant shares purchased as
unallocated shares.

If a participant departs prior to satisfaction of any performance criteria or vesting conditions imposed by the Board
then, subject to Board discretion, the shares that were held on behalf of the participant will be held by the Trustee as

unallocated shares.

During the year 492,294 (2008: 65,000) shares were purchased by the Trustee at average price of $3.64 (2008:
$15.57) per shares. The shares remain unallocated at the end of the year.

Pensions and Other Post Employment Benefit Plans

Employer entities within the Group participate in defined contribution pension plans for eligible employees in
accordance with the applicable laws in their country of domicile. Contributions made by the Group ranged from 8% to
20% of the employees’ base salary.

70



Aquarius Platinum Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2009

2009 2008
$'000 $000
37. Related Party Disclosures
Compensation of Directors and key management personnel of the group:
Compensation of Directors:
Short term benefits 1,636 2,238
Post employment pension benefits 46 43
1,682 2,281
Compensation of key management personnel:
Short term benefits 1,270 1,288
Post employment pension benefits 186 267
Share based payments 56 57
1,512 1,612
Total remuneration of Directors and key management personnel
of the Company in respect of the financial year 3,194 3,893

Mr S.A. Murray, Chief Executive Office, is entitled to:

209,865 options exercisable at £0.85 per share expiring 11 October 2011. These were valued at £0.39
using a Black & Scholes option-pricing model, which utilised the following variables: option exercise price -
£0.85, dividend yield — 1.1%, expected volatility of share price - 38%, risk free rate - 4.81% and the time to
maturity of the option - 7 years. The remaining contractual life for the options outstanding is 2.3 years.
During the year no options were exercised (2008: 209,865), no consideration was received by the Group
(2008: £177,685).

The key management personnel are entitled to:

236,284 options exercisable at £0.85 per share up to 11 June 2011. These were valued at £0.39 per option
using a Black & Scholes option-pricing model which utilised the following variables: option exercise price -
£0.85, dividend yield — 1.1%, expected volatility of share price - 38%, risk free rate - 4.81% and the time to
maturity of the option - 7 years. The remaining contractual life for the options outstanding is 2.0 years.

101,009 options exercisable at £0.97 per share up to 20 October 2011. These were valued at £0.48 per
option using a Black & Scholes option-pricing model which utilised the following variables: option exercise
price - £0.83, dividend yield — 1.1%, expected volatility of share price - 61%, risk free rate - 4.73% and the
time to maturity of the option — 7 years. The remaining contractual life for the options outstanding is 2.3
years.

240,108 options exercisable at £2.34 per share up to 26 May 2013. The options vest evenly on 26 May
2009, 26 May 2010 and 26 May 2011. These have been valued at £0.85 per option using a Black &
Scholes option-pricing model which utilised the following variables: option exercise price - £2.33, dividend
yield — 1.1%, expected volatility of share price - 38%, risk free rate - 4.3% and the time to maturity of the
option — 7 years. The remaining contractual life for the options outstanding is 3.9 years.
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Related Parties
a) Controlled Entities

Details of controlled entities are as follows:

Country of
Name incorporation

Aquarius Platinum (Australia) Limited Australia
Aquarius Platinum Corporate Services Pty Ltd Australia
Aquarius Platinum (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd South Africa
Kroondal Platinum Mines Limited South Africa
Malfeb (Pty) Ltd South Africa
Magaliesburg Properties (Pty) Limited South Africa
Aquarius Platinum (SA) Corporate Services (Proprietary) Limited South Africa
TKO Investment Holdings Ltd South Africa
TKO Farming Enterprises (Pty) Limited South Africa
TKO Properties (Pty) Limited South Africa
Natal Kiwi Orchards (Pty) Limited South Africa
SA Kiwifruit Industries (Pty) Limited South Africa
Aquarius Platinum (SA) (Pty) Ltd Rehabilitation Trust South Africa

% Equity Interest

2009

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

2008

100%
100%
67.5%
100%
100%
67.5%
100%
67.5%
67.5%
67.5%
67.5%
67.5%
67.5%

Aquarius Platinum (South Africa) (Proprietary) Limited (AQPSA) has guaranteed payment of all the obligations of

the Company in respect of the Convertible Bonds. The obligations under the terms of the Bonds are secured by

the Company’s shareholding in and foans to AQPSA. Refer Note 23(d)

b) Jointly Controlled Entities

c)

Details of jointly controlled entities are as follows:

Country of
Name Incorporation
Mimosa Investments Limited Mauritius
Mimosa Holdings (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Mimosa Mining Company (Private) Limited Zimbabwe
Platinum Mile Resources (Pty) Ltd South Africa

Transactions within the Group

% Equity Interest

2009

50%
50%
50%
50%

2008

50%
50%
50%
50%

During the financial year, unsecured loan advances were made by subsidiaries within the Group and between

subsidiaries and the parent entity. Certain such loans carried a discounted rate of interest. Intra-entity loan

balances have been eliminated in the financial statements of the Group.
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38. Financial Instruments

a)

Financial risk management objectives & policies

The Group’s management of financial risk is aimed at ensuring net cash flows are sufficient to:
« meet all its financial commitments
« maintain the capacity to fund corporate growth activities

e pay a reasonable dividend

The Group monitors its forecast financial position on a regular basis. The Group has a Treasury Committee that
meets quarterly and considers cash flow projections for the following 12 months in detail, taking into consideration
the impact of market conditions including metal prices and foreign exchange rates. The Committee also receives
reports from independent exchange consultants and receives presentations from advisors on current and forecast
economic conditions.

Credit risk, liquidity and market risk (including foreign exchange, commodity price, interest rate risk and price risk)
arise in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest
bearing debt, cash and short-term deposits. Other financial instruments include trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from operations. The Group’s forecast financial risk position with respect to key
financial objectives and compliance with treasury practice are regularly reported to the Board. The Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for managing risks arising from financial instruments has not changed from the
previous financial year.

Market Risk

(i Foreign exchange risk
The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commitments, assets and liabilities that are
denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency for each entity within the group. The Group's
borrowings and cash deposits are largely denominated in US dollars, South African Rand and Australian
dollars.

Currently there are no foreign exchange hedge programmes in place, however, the Group treasury function
manages the purchase of foreign currency to meet operational requirements

At balance date the financial instruments exposed to movements in the South African Rand / USD are as follows:

2009 2008
$'000 $'000
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 34,411 1,168
Trade and other receivables 80,115 240,257
114,526 241,425
Financial Liabilities
Interest bearing loans (a) 299,230 316,742
Derivatives 6,084 -
305,314 316,742

(a) This amount includes inter-company payables which are denominated in USD which are eliminated on
consolidation.
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(i)

2009 2008
$'000 $'000
The financial instruments exposed to movements in the Australian / USD are as follows:
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 27,491 20,089
27,491 20,089

The financial instruments exposed to movements in the Great British Pounds / USD are as follows:

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 29,358 321

29,358 321

The financial instruments exposed to movements in the Zimbabwe / USD are as follows:

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents - 1,562
Receivables - 130
1,692

Financial Liabilities
Payables - 432
- 432

The following table summarises the sensitivity of financial instruments held at balance date to movements
in the exchange rate of the South African Rand, Great British Pound and Australian dollar to the US dollar,
with all other variables held constant. The South African Rand, Great British Pound and Australian dollar
instruments have been assessed using the sensitivities indicated in the table. These are based on
reasonably possible changes, over a financial year, using the observed range of actual historical rates for
the preceding 5 year period.

Impact on Profit/Equity Pre tax

gain/(loss)

Judgements of reasonable possible 2009 2008
movements $'000 $°000
ZAR/USD +14.2% (2008: 7.6%) (15,725) (5,582)
ZAR/USD —4.8% (2008: -5.1%) 3,357 4,236
AUD/USD +10% (2008: +10%) (2,499) (1,826)
AUD/USD —-10% (2008: -10%) 3,055 2,232
GBP/USD +10% (2008: +10%) (2,669) (29)
GBP/USD -10% (2008: -10%) 3,262 36

Commodity price risk

The Group’s revenues are exposed to commadity price fluctuations, in particular movements in the price of
platinum group metals (PGM's). The Group regularly measures exposure to commodity price risk by stress
testing the Group's forecast financial position to changes in PGM prices.
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(i)

The Group does not hedge commaodity prices. The Plat Mile Joint Venture (of which the Group has a 50%
interest) had a forward commitment which expired in December 2008 for the delivery of a fixed amount
PGM's at fixed prices as described in Note 29.

The financial instruments exposed to movements in metal prices are as follows:

2009 2008
$'000 $'000

Financial Assets
Receivables (gross notional amount) 91,106 286,321
91,106 286,321

The following table summarises the sensitivity of financial instruments held at balance date to movements
in the relevant forward commodity price, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivities are based
on reasonably possible changes, over a financial year, using observed ranges of actual historical rates.

Impact on Profit/Equity
Pre tax gain/(loss)

2009 2008
Judgements of reasonable possible movements $'000 $000
20% (2008: 10%) increase in PGM price 17,701 27,772
5% (2008: 35%) decrease on PGM price (4,455) (97,066)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the Group's financial position will be adversely affected by movements in
interest rates.

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from short-term loans with interest charges based on either the
London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) or the Johannesburg Interbank Acceptance Rate (JIBAR).
Floating rate debt exposes the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Cash holdings are subject to interest
rate risk in the country in which they are held on deposit. All other financial assets and liabilities in the form
of receivables, investments in shares, payables and provisions, are non-interest bearing.

The Group currently does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate

risk. In conjunction with external advice, management consideration is given on a regular basis to

alternative financing structures with a view to optimising the Groups'’ funding structure.
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The financial instruments exposed to movements in variable interest rates are as follows:

2009 2008
$'000 $'000
Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 163,600 170,956
Receivables - 12,159
153,600 183,115
Financial Liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities exposed to LIBOR* 53,425 187,664
Interest bearing liabilities and derivatives exposed to 90,009 197,086
JIBAR
143,434 384,750

Cash and cash equivalents are exposed to movements in USD and ZAR cash deposit rates.

* Interest bearing liabilities includes $48.036 million (2008 167.663 million) related to the pre-financing of
delivered PGM concentrates that has been offset against trade receivables in the balance sheet. Refer
also Note 20.

The following table summarises the sensitivity of the financial instruments held at balance sheet date,
following @ movement in variable interest rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivities are
based on reasonably possible changes over a financial year, using the observed range of actual historical

rates for the preceding 5-year period.

Impact on Profit/Equity
Pre tax gain/(loss)

Judgements of reasonable possible 2009 2008

movements $'000 $'000

Cash

- increase +50bps (2008: 100bps) 962 1,711

- decrease —50bps (2008: -100bps) (962) (1,835)
Receivables

- increase +100bps (2008: 100bps) - 121

- decrease -100bps (2008: -100bps) - (121)

Interest bearing liabilities

Sensitive to LIBOR
- increase +70bps (2008: 50bps) (374) (469)
- decrease Obps (2008: -50bps) - 523

Sensitive to JIBAR
- increase +70bps (2008: 25bps) (587) (985)
- decrease —0bps (2008: -250bps) - 1,109
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(iv)  Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the Group's financial position will be adversely affected by movements in the
market value of its available-for-sale financial assets. The financial instruments exposed to movements in

market value are as follows:

2009 2008
$'000 $'000
Financial Assets:
Other financial assets 1,917 4,804

The following table summarises the sensitivity of financial instruments held at balance date to movements
in the market price of available-for-sale financial instruments, with all other variables held constant the 20%
sensitivity is based on reasonable possible changes, over a financial year, using the observed range of

actual historical prices for 2009 and 2008

Impact on Profit/Equity
Pre tax gain/(loss)

Judgements of reasonable possible movements 2009 2008
$'000 $000

Market price + 20% - impact on equity (2008 + 10%) 383 480

Market price - 20% - impact on profit (2008 - 10%) (383) (480)

Derivative financial instruments at fair value are exposed to changes in variables as set out in Note 23 (d).

2009 2008
$000 $000
Derivatives 6,084 -

The fair value is sensitive to changes in the Company’s share price. The following summarises the sensitivity of
derivative financial instruments held at balance date to movements in the Company’s share price, with all other
variables held constant, using the observed change in historical share prices for 2009:

Pre tax gain/(loss)
Impact on Profit/Equity

Judgements of reasonable possible movements 2009 2008
$000 $'000
Share price + 50% (5,756) -
Share price - 30% 4,643 -
Liquidity Risk

The liquidity position of the Group is managed to ensure sufficient liquid funds are available to meet financial
commitments in a timely and cost effective manner. The Group Treasury Committiee continually reviews the
liquidity position including cash flow forecasts to determine the forecast liquidity position and maintain appropriate
liquidity levels. Notes 23 and 27 detail the repayment obligations in respect of the amount of the facilities.
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The contractual maturity analysis of payables at the reporting date was as follows:

Payables Ageing Analysis (US’000)

< 6 months 6-12 months 1-6 years >5 years

2009

Trade payables 30,842 - - -
Other payables 37,780 - - -
Loans and borrowings* 61,062 762 95,013 70
Total Payables 129,684 762 95,013 70
2008

Trade payables 47,301 - - -
Other payables 8,993 - - -
Loans and borrowings* 659 235,218 243 190
Total Payables 56,953 235,218 243 190

* This includes pre-shipment finance of $48.036 million at 30 June 2009 (2008: $167.663 million).

d) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligation under a financial instrument that will

result in a financial loss to the Group. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit

exposure. Receivables balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to

bad debts is not significant. The Group's credit risk is limited to the carrying value of its financial assets.

At balance date there is a significant concentration of credit risk represented in the cash and trade receivables
balance. With respect to trade receivables, this is due to the fact that the majority of sales are made to two

specific customers as per contractually agreed terms. The two customers, being Impala Platinum Holdings

Limited and Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited, have complied with all contractual sales terms and have not at

any stage defaulted on amounts due. The Group manages its credit risk on trade debtors, cash and financial

instruments by predominantly dealing counterparties with a credit rating equal to or better than the Group.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was as follows:

Current

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

Other receivables

Security deposit

2009
$000

153,600
60,042
45,786
14,038

2008
$000

170,956
140,754
34,051
12,159

273,466
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e)

The ageing of receivables at the reporting date was as follows:

Receivables Ageing Analysis $’000

Total <6 months  6-12 months 1-6 years >5 years

2009

Trade receivables 60,042 60,042 - - -
Other receivables 45,786 17,166 28,620 - -
Security deposit 14,038 14,038 - - -
Total receivables 119,866 91,246 28,620 - -
2008

Trade receivables 140,754 140,754 - - -
Other receivables 34,051 34,051 - - -
Security deposit 12,159 - 12,159 - -
Total receivables 186,964 174,805 12,159 - -

Capital Management

The Group treasury function is responsible for capital management. This involves the use of corporate forecasting
models, which facilitates analysis of the Group’s financial position including cash flow forecasts to determine the
future capital management requirements. Group treasury monitors gearing and compliances with various
contractual financial covenants. The group defines capital as total shareholders equity.

Capital management is undertaken to ensure a secure, cost effective supply of funds to ensure the Group’s
operating and capital expenditure requirements are met. The mix of debt and equity is regularly reviewed. The
Group does not have a target debt/equity ratio, but has a policy of maintaining a flexible financing structure so as
to be able to take advantage of new investment opportunities that may arise. At 30 June 2009 the Group's
gearing ratio is 13% (2008: 38%)

During the year the company paid dividends of $26.205m (2008: $51.307m). The Board maintains a policy of
balancing returns to shareholders with the need to fund growth.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability is the amount at which the asset could be exchanged or
liability settled in a current transaction between willing parties in an arms length transaction. The fair values of
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables approximate their carrying
values, as a result of their short maturity or because they carry floating rates of interest. The fair value of financial
instruments traded in active markets such as publicly traded available-for-sale securities are based on quoted
market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for available for sale securities held by the
Group is the current bid price. The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market such
as unlisted securities and convertible bonds are determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include
using recent arm’s length market transactions and option pricing models. All financial assets and liabilities

recorded in the financial statements approximate their respective net fair values.
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39. Events After Balance Sheet Date
On 6 July 2009, pursuant to a Scheme of Arrangement, Aquarius Platinum Limited (Aquarius) acquired 100% of
the voting shares of Ridge Mining plc (Ridge), a company registered and headquartered in England and publicly
listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.

The acquisition of Ridge will build on the successful transformation of Aquarius into the fourth largest low cost
platinum producer in the Bushveld Complex. Ridge’s flagship Blue Ridge Mine is currently entering production
and will further diversify Aquarius’ portfolio, increase its resources base, add new production ounces and longevity
to its production profile and add significant optionality with the new Sheba’s Ridge project.

Ridge is a platinum group metal explorer and developer with two key projects in the eastern limb of South Africa’s
Bushveld Complex, the 50% owned Blue Ridge project which is in the start up phase and which shipped its first
concentrate in April 2009, and the 39% owned Sheba’s Ridge project which is under feasibility study.

The total cost of the business combination was US$113,108,751 and comprised the issue of equity instruments —
both ordinary shares and options over ordinary shares. Aquarius issued 33,478,376 ordinary shares with a fair
value of GBP 1.968 each, based on the quoted price of the shares of Aquarius on 6 July 2009. The ordinary
shares have a total fair value of GBP 65,885,443 or USD 107,575,775. Aquarius granted 14,089,324
replacement options over ordinary shares to cover the outstanding Ridge employee share options, shareholder
warrants, and options granted to joint venture partners. The replacement options have a total fair value of GBP
1,857,565 or USD 3,032,976.

The consolidated net assets of Ridge at 31 December 2008 was USD108,599,000 based on its 31 December
2008 Full Year Results. The Ridge Financial Statements for the period ended 30 June 2009 are in the process of
being finalised and the Group is currently undertaking an assessment of the fair values of the assets, liabilities

and contingent liabilities of Ridge. Accordingly it is impracticable to provide further information.

2009 2008
$'000 $000
40. Auditor’'s Remuneration
Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for:

- an audit or review of the financial report of the company
and any other entity in the consolidated group 414 338

- other services in relation to the company and any other
entity in the consolidated group 684 193
1,098 531
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In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Aquarius Platinum Limited, | state that:
In the opinion of the Directors:

a) the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity:

I. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2009 and the performance for the year ended on

that date of the consolidated entity; and

Il. comply with International Accounting Standards; and

b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable.

On behalf of the Board

Stuart Murray
Director

30 September 2009
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Aquarius Platinum Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Aquarius Platinum Limited and the entities it
controlled (“the Group"), which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2009, and the
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of recognised income and expense and
consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting
policies, other explanatory notes and the directors' declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the
company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this financial
report in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes
establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’'s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the company, and have met the independence requirements of Australian and
International professional ethical pronouncements.

Liability limited by a scheme approved
under Professional Standards Legislation
PM:MB:AQP:020
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Auditor's Opinion

in our opinion, the consolidated financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Group as of 30 June 2009, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Ermst +Yog,

Ernst & Young

U/

Peter Mclver
Partner

Perth

30 September 2009

PM:MB:AQP:020
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Additional Shareholder Information

The following information was reflected in the Company’s registers and other records as at 1 September 2009.

Distribution of Shareholders

Ordinary Shares

Number of Holders
1 - 1,000 3,212
1,001 - 5,000 2,198
5,001 - 10,000 382
10,001 - 100,000 425
100,001 - and over 287
TOTAL 6,504

There were 170 holders of ordinary shares holding less than a marketable parcel.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The following shareholders have a substantial shareholding in the Company:

Number of shares
Shareholder Fully paid shares %
Savannah Consortium 68,658,728 156.20
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 31,653,830 7.01
Chase Nominees Limited 23,615,665 5.23

Voting Rights

Only the shares carry voting rights, which upon a poll are one vote for each share held.
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Twenty largest holders of fully paid shares

Shareholder No. of %
shares
1 Savannah Consortium 68,658,728 15.20
2 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 31,653,830 7.10
3 Chase Nominees Limited 23,615,665 523
4 Nutraco Nominees Limited 21,592,608 478
5 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 19,410,224 4.30
6 National Nominees Limited 14,607,687 3.23
7 HSBC Global Custody Nominee (UK) Limited (357206) 12,327,840 273
8 Chase Nominees Limited (CMBL) 8,678,900 1.92
9 Chase Nominees (LEND) 7,179,540 1.59
10 ANZ Nominees Limited (Cash Invome A/C) 6,456,590 1.43
11 PLC Nominees (Proprietary) Limited 6,206,802 1.37
12 Lynchwood Nominees Limited (20066420) 5,360,920 1.19
13 State Street Nominees Limited (OM02) 5,140,576 1.14
14 The Bank of New York (Nominees) Limited (BIL) 5,11,904 1.13
15 The Bank of New York (Nominees) Limited 4,967,711 1.10
16 Vidacos Nominees Limited (5437) 4,942 472 1.09
17 Roy Nominees Limited (880255) 4,504,000 1.00
18 Securities Services Nominees Limited (2060000) 4,495,182 1.00
19 BBHISL Nominees Limited (122512) 4,192,252 0.93
20 State Street Nominees Limited (OM04) 3,916,810 0.87
Top 20 Shareholders 263,020,241 58.23
Other Shareholders 188,682,171 41.77
Total 451,702,412 100.00
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INCORPORATION AND GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company and is subject to Bermudian law.

In Australia, the Company is registered as a foreign company under the Australian Corporations Act (registration no. ARBN 087
577 893). It is not subject to Chapter 6 of the Australian Corporations Act dealing with the acquisition of shares (including
substantial shareholdings and takeovers). However, the Company has inserted into its bye-laws some restrictions on the ability
to acquire shares in the Company. These sections of the bye-laws reflect the restrictions on acquisitions of shares contained in
Parts 6.1 and 6.2 of the Australian Corporations Act. The Company has undertaken to comply with the Listing Rules of the ASX.

Bermuda law does not impose any limitation on the acquisition of securities in the Company.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements for Aquarius for the year ended 30 June 2009 were authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the directors on 30 September 2009. Aquarius is a limited company incorporated and registered as an
“exempted company” in Bermuda. As an “exempted company”, Aquarius is authorised to carry on business outside Bermuda but

may not (except in certain circumstances) carry on business within Bermuda.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented using United States Dollars as the reporting and
measurement currency. The USD is traded at par with the Bermuda Dollar and accepted as the currency of Bermuda's
main industries.

The registered office of Aquarius is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, Bermuda.

During the year, the principal activities of the Aquarius Group, which comprises Aquarius and its consolidated
subsidiaries, were exploration, development and acquisition of PGM projects, and mining of PGM.
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Aquarius Platinum Limited
Additional Shareholder Information

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following definitions apply throughout the annual financial statements:

Aquarius

AQP(SA)

AQS

ASX
AUD
GBP

Implats

JSE

KPM

MIL

Mimosa
LSE
PGM
P&SA1
P&SA2

TKO

usD

Aquarius Platinum Limited, the parent entity, a company incorporated in Bermuda with registration number
EC 26290

Aquarius Platinum (South Africa) (Proprietary) Limited (registration number 2000/000341/07), a company
incorporated in the Republic of South Africa and a controlled entity of Aquarius

Aquarius Platinum (Australia) Limited (A.B.N. 007 870 699), a company incorporated in Australia and a
wholly owned subsidiary of Aquarius

Australian Stock Exchange
Australian Dollar
Great British Pound

Impala Platinum Holdings Limited (registration number 1957/001979/06), a company incorporated in the
Republic of South Africa

JSE Securities Exchange South Africa

Kroondal Platinum Mines Limited (registration number 77/02213/06), a company incorporated in the
Republic of South Africa and a controlled entity of Aquarius

Mimosa Investments Limited (registration number 26645/6593), a company incorporated in the Republic of
Mauritius and a jointly controlled entity of Aquarius and Implats (formerly known as ZCE Platinum Limited)

Mimosa Mining Company (Private) Limited, a company incorporated in Zimbabwe
London Stock Exchange

Platinum group metals comprising mainly platinum, palladium, rhodium and gold
Pooling & Sharing Agreement between AQP(SA) and RPM Ltd on Kroondal
Pooling & Sharing Agreement between AQP(SA) and RPM Ltd on Marikana

TKO Investment Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Republic of South Africa and a controlled
entity of AQP(SA)

United States Dollar
South African Rand

Zimbabwe Dollar
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Corporate directory

Exempt Company Number
EC:26290
Incorporated in Bermuda
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Hamilion

Bermide

Board of Directors
Micholos Sibley
Stuart Murray

Sir William Pyrves
Dewid Dix
Edward Haslam
Timy Freshwater
Koft.Morma
Zwelokhe Mankazana
Company Secretary

Wil Boehm

Stock Exchange Listings

Aguiarius Platinum Limited is listed ‘on the Australion Securi

s Exchange (AQPAX), the tondon Stock
Exchange {AQPY and the [SE Limited [AQP.ZA), and has o sponsored Level 1 ADR progiam in the
United Stafes:
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Sroup affributable PGM production on track af 455,675 ounc
_ despite suspension of operations at Everest

Successful restructuring of capital base with overwhelming
shareholder support

Positive cash balance of $154 million af yearend
Reduction in group debt

Completion of capital raising by way of equity placement,
rights issue and convertible nofe issue

Acquisition of Ridge Mining concluded post yearend

oloration portfolio in South Africa expanded
£ : P
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Location of Aquarius’ operations
in southern Africa
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Platinum Mile

Zimbabwe, Aguarius interest in Mimosa, one ol the lowest cost producers in the PGM |

through o 50% stoke in Mimosa Invesiments Limited,

®
*
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o

iithermore, Aquarius hos an octive exploation programme in and around existing operations, wifh

.

a focus on the eastern Bushveld Complex in particular

Aquarius’ shares afe guofed on the Australian Securities Exchange [ASK), the main board of the
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fo group revenue

Total attributable mineral resource (4E) 4.46Moz

Total attributable PGM 211,03%0z Cash costs R5,174/PGM ounce
production 3573/ PGM ounce
Attributable confribution $146 million Capital expenditure  $31 million

(100%)

fo group revenue

Total attributable mineral resource (4E) 3.23Moz

Total attributable PGM 78,9690z Cash costs R6,677 /PGM ounce
production $739/PGM ounce
Attributable contribution $54 million Capital expenditure  $10 million

(100%)

Totot atiributoble mineral resource (4E) 4.15Moz

)
)

production '
Attributable contribution $33 million Capital expenditure S?miﬁm
fo group revenue {100%)

* Production and financial data apply only to the first half of the year as operations were suspended here in December 2008

fo group revenue

Total atiributable mineral resource (4E) 8.19Moz

Total attributable PGM 90,0110z Cash costs R4,565/PGM ounce
production $501/PGM ounce |
Atfributable contribution $61 million Capital expenditure  $48 million

(100%)

fo group revenue

)
=
)

Total atiribuiable PGM 3,4)20z Cash costs

fo group revenue ' {100%}

Total attributable PGM 8,1760z Cash costs R3,586/PGM ounce
production $398/PGM ounce
Attributable contribution $7 million Capital expenditure  $6 million

(100%)

AQUARIUS ANNUAL REPORT 2009



Chairman’s letter

Dear shareholder

Your Company’s results for FY2009 as a whole obscure an enormously
encouraging, hard-won recovery that took place in the second half of the
year. The negative impact of adverse circumstances initially felt during the first
half of FY2009 - not least the substantial weakening in PGM prices -
continued throughout much of the year. Remedial measures — aided by a
degree of market recovery - started to have a perceptible, positive effect in
the second half. This, together with steps taken to restore balance-sheet health
and resume growth in production puts your Company in a good position to
benefit from any further improvement in the global economy. Equally, your
Company is now in a much improved position to weather the storms which

will accompany any disappointment in expectations of recovery.

The full onset of the global economic crisis in the
second half of calendar year 2008 and the
consequent credit squeeze hit consumer markets
hard - the automotive, jewellery and electronics
sectors particularly. Platinum plunged from
US$2,064 per ounce in June 2008 to a low of
US$778 in October 2008 before recovering to
close the financial year at US$ 1,183 per ounce.
Other PGM metals suffered similar corrections
with thodium, for example, decreasing from
US$9,725 per ounce in June 2008 to
US$1,000 per ounce in December 2008 to
close the financial year ot US$ 1,450 per ounce.

The full upside of the price recovery for us was
contained by a strengthening of the South African
rand which appreciated 16.7% against the US
dollar from US$1:ZAR9.46 at 31 December
2008 to US$1:ZAR7.88 at 30 June 2009.

Operationally, no sooner had we begun to
recover from the power and labour disruptions of
FY2008 - in respect of the latter through
implementation of new contractual arrangements
giving us greater management confrol — than we
were obliged to temporarily close our Everest
Mine due to a subsidence event.
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All of the operations, with the exception of
Everest and Platinum Mile, recorded improved
production for the year with Mimosa in particular
turning in a credible performance. The decline
yearonyear of 44,528 ounces was aftributable
entirely to the temporary closure of Everest in

December 2008.

While lower production and prices for the year
resulted in a 66% decrease in revenue fo
US$311 million, the price improvement in the
second half offset the impact of fewer ounces in
the period. Consequently, we recorded a second
half profit of US$24.4 million compared with a
first half loss of US$70.1 million, containing the
loss for FY2009 to US$45.7 million.

We drew handsomely on investor support in the
year under review, successfully recapitalised
your Company through a rights issue, an equity
placement and a convertible bond issue. This
recapilalisation enabled us to repay South
African debt of R1.6 billion and ot yearend our
cash position was a healthy US$154 million.

We were able to acquire further mining assets
during the year. We concluded allshare offers



for both Ridge Mining Ple and First Platinum {Pty)
limited, the former adding a fourth longdife
mining asset, the Blue Ridge Mine, to our
portfolic and the latier several years' life
extension fo both the Kioondal and Marikana
mines. We have continved with greenfields
exploration, our targets being additional shallow
mining projects that will consolidate our position
as o highproduction, low-cost producer.

In recent weeks there has been much ialk and
some evidence of recovery in global economies.
It is oo early o say if this recovery is soundly
based and likely to confinue. We have every
reason fo believe that operational improvements
will continue 1o be made and that our twophase
plan fo resiore Everest fo production will be
successful. We are confident that we are well
posifioned within our industry and are cautiously

optimistic that market conditions will improve
over the next year. Economic recovery is well out
of our hands, but if there is a sustained recovery
we are well placed 1o take advantage of it
Cerfainly, we are better placed 1o break out of
the "year of two halves’, "boom-bust’ ‘patiern of
forunes of the last couple of years.

[ would like to thank my fellow board members,
management, employers, confractors — ond not
least our shareholders — for their commitment in
challenging times and | look forward to iheir
continuing support.

eS) Lt

Nicholas Sibley
Chairman
30 October 2009




CEQO’s review

The 2009 financial year, in contrast fo the previous financial year, was one of
extremes — PGM prices collapsed from the highs previously recorded, a result
of platinum group metal (PGM) markets dramatically weakened by the global
economic meltdown, volatile currencies in both South African and Zimbabwe,
and the resultant intense focus on cost containment at our operations so as to
preserve margins. All this was in addition to the successful restructuring of the
Company’s capital base undertaken during the course of the year.

In particular, in the first half of FY2009 we
began firmly fo address operational difficulties,
although in a weakening market/pricing
environment. The temporary closure of Everest
in December 2008 due to instability in the
main decline was, however, an unforeseen and
substantial reversal that resulted in lower
afiributable production both in the second half
and for the year as a whole.

Nevertheless, in spite of the combined effect of

- this, the negative impact of dollarisation of the
Zimbabwean economy and the strengthening of
the South African rand against the US dollar in
the second half of the year, we were able to
make the best of the almost simultaneous, modest
recovery in PGM markets and the basket price.
A net profit was recorded in the second half,
compared with a firsthalf loss, containing the
loss for the year as a whole.

At an altogether more positive and encouraging
financial level, your Company successfully
recapitalised its balance sheet and substantially
reduced debt. Then, with our eye on achieving
growth for the future, we acquired Ridge
Mining Plc.

Safety

While - overall - safety performance showed
some improvement in FY2009, it is with deep
regret that | must advise that three fatalifies
were recorded — two at Kroondal and one at
Marikana — within the first seven months. More
encouragingly, the last five months of the year,
across our operations, were fatalityfree.
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The men who died were:

At Kroondal:

® Mr. Siyabonga Hlungwani, filter assistant, an
employee of mining contractor Redpath
Mining.

® Mr. Castigo Machel, load haul dumper operator
employed by mining contractor Redpath Mining.

At Marikana:
® Mr. Victor Ndou, a mechanical assistant and
employee of MCC Confracts.

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my
deepest sympathy to their families, friends and
colleagues.

A range of initiatives has been implemented at
all operations during the year to effect continuing
safety performance improvement. Results have
been particularly pleasing at Mimosa, with
progress recorded ‘across the board'.

At the South African operations, risk assessment
has been a key focus, particularly regarding falls
of ground, trackless mining, conveyor belts and
fires. Mandatory codes of practice, broadening
the scope of risk assessment, are in place and
functioning well, as are more rigorous traffic
management plans.

Good progress is being made on the
Areboleleng, ‘hearts and minds’ campaign
intended to effect improved behaviour from the
workforce in relation 1o safety. Stated simply, the
objective is to have everyone follow the
appropriate course of action, not so much
because they are told to do so but more because

OO0O0O0OO0O00O0OC0CO0U O

(



they understand the rationale, and care aboul

doing so. An interesting, computerbased safety
training programme, making use of three-
dimensional, animated simulations of working
environments, was piloted successhully af Everest
and is being rolled out 1o the other operations.

Al the South African aperations, there is no doubt
that change to confractual arangements last year
fo effect greater AQPSA management control
has resulted in greater workplace stability. As
fime goes on, | expect this o reflect positively in
overall safety improvements af these operations.

| am pleased to report that relations with the
safely inspectorate of the South  Alrican
Depariment of Mineral Resources are improved
from last year. Operational management advises
that safety matters of mutual concern are now
addressed more by reaching consensus and
practical resolution, than by the inspectorate
impesing socalled Section 54 stoppages.

Aquarius recognises that its operations can and
will have an impact on the natural environment,
and is committed fo not merely meeting
legislative  requirements  but  ensuring  that

environmenta
and rehabilitation  are  performed in a
responsible and progressive manner.  As such,
environmental management extends 1o the

management, impact mifigation

measurement  of carbon  emissions,  waler
conservation measures and a focus on ongoing

>

rehabiliiaion activities during the operationa
phase of each mine, such as the openpit- mining

area at Marikana where R2 million per month is
allocated o ongoing rehabilitation activities.
Aquarius remains compliani in respect of the
relevant envirenmental legislation both in South
Africa and Zimbabwe, and continues fo interact
with the respeciive regulatory atthorities 1o
achieve best practice outcomes.

Market review

In the year under review, and during the second
half particularly, the PGM basket price gradually
recovered. However, this was primarily as a
result of a stronger platinum price — buoyed by
resilient Chinese jewellery demand ~ which
started the year at $2,080 per ounce and
closed at $1,199 per ounce, having fallen fo
$782 per ounce in Ociober 2008. Palladium
and thodivm continued fo languish for much of
the vear, a clear indication that global economic
recovery during the year has been slight and
slow. By way of general comment, the market
has continued, relatively speaking, to ‘gind
along the bottom’. For South African producers -

and we are predominantly a South African

producer, of course — there was the 'double-
whammy effect of a strong rand on revenue,
particularly in the second half of the year.

looking ahead, the global demand/supply
equation will, of course, determine the pace and
extent of continued recovery in the PGM busket
price. Although it is easy to say that the outlook
for demand will improve ‘when people around
the world can afford 1o stert buying new motor
cars again’, it is likely that increased demand for




CEQO'’s review cont.

motor vehicles will be a primary factor; it will be
at this point that the allimportant autocatalysis
consumption can be expected to sirengthen.
Renewed consumer interest in motor vehicles,
indicative of better access to credit and
consumers’ ability to buy, is likely to be
accompanied by fresh enthusiasm for jewellery
and high-end electronic goods, both also
important to the PGM sector.

Key to the supplyside going forward will be
both how major producers choose to react to
improving demand, and their ability to do so.
While one would expect that production
cutbacks, such as there were, will be gradually
reversed and mothballed projects revived,
funding capital requirements for the latler are
likely to continue to be challenging for some time
to come.

The extent to which supply lags behind demand
should be good for prices, but for as long as
international currency speculators are drawn to
the rand on the basis of its relative strength in the
absence of other options, we can expect litle in
the way of improved rand revenues.

Operational and financial
performance

Attributable PGM production of 455,675 ounces
for the year under review was 9% lower than the
previous year, due entirely to the aforementioned
temporary closure of Everest.

All of the other major operations recorded
significant production improvements. Kroondal
and Marikana both benefited from the re-
organisation of their confractual arrangements in
the second half of FY2008, which gave AQPSA
more management control and has resulted in
greater stability. We now have our own ‘hybrid’
contracting models, fit for purpose, which are
helping to see us through the current difficult
market environment.
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Key operational features of FY2009 include:

® At Kroondal, continued progress with the
development and ramp-up in production at the
K5 decline shaft. Geological conditions are
challenging, but once development through
the Townlands Fault is completed, higher
output from K5 is expected. Plans for K6, and
the extension of K5, have been suspended
pending an improvement in market condifions.

¢ At Marikana, an increase in open-pit volumes
as a result of a change in the mining method
and to the pit shape in FY2008. Ramp-up in
production from underground proceeded,
notwithstanding challenging mining conditions,
and plant process control enhancements
delivered improved recoveries.

® At Everest, in June 2009, the start of a
R250 million, twophase project to resume
both underground and open-pit mining. The
first, sixmonth phase focuses on the
development of a new, main decline and the
second, 10-month phase on the development
of a secondary decline and the re-establishment
of stoping sections.

® At Mimosa, steadier operations arising from
improved powergrid stability and plant
optimisation, the latter following on from the
ramp-up of the Wedza 5.5 expansion project
which takes annual throughput capacity
to about 185,000 tonnes and annual PGM
production to around 200,000 ounces.

Lower production and a 41% drop in the average
PGM basket price received for the year to
US$1,044 per ounce were the key contributors
to a 66% drop in revenue to US$310.6 million.
After accounting for cost of sales, 7% lower at
US$334.0 million due to lower production,
Aquarius reported a gross loss for the year of
US$23.8 million compared with a gross profit of
US$559.1 million the previous year.

The following factors:
o higher debt interest charges of US$29 million;
® US$19.6 million of pretax adjustments



Group financials by operation {$m)

Kroondal Marikana Everest Mimosa

Revenue* 145.8 53.8
On-mine cash costs (122.4)  (59.6)
Amortisation and depreciation (12.4) 2.5)
Gross profit 11.0 (15.3}
Amortisation of fair value 6.0) 1.7)
Gross profit after FVU 50 (17.0)
Other income - -
Corporate admin and other costs -

Foreign currency gain/{loss) 179 1.5
Finance charges - -
Fair value adjustment of convertible bond - -
Impairment of assets - -
Profit/(loss) before tax (12.9) (18.5)

Tox expense
Minority interest
Net profit/(loss) after tax

* net of foreign exchange sales

associated with the femporary suspension of
mining at Everest;

® US$24 million of pretax foreign currency
losses on pipeline advances due o US dollar
strength during the year;

* US$41 million of negative pretax sales
adjustments  (relating to the difference
between the value of PGM concentrate sales
provisionally priced and recorded in the June
quarter of 2008 and the actual setled PGM
price recorded in the December 2008 half
year); and

* a onceoff noncash US$7.2 million adjustment
to deferred tox relating to the Zimbabwe
operation, a result of the dollarisation of that
economy,

contributed to a US$45.8 million net loss in

FY2009 compared with a net profit of

US$236.5 million in FY2008. The annual net

loss, however, masks a turnaround to a second

half profit of US$24.4 million in FY2009 from a first-

half loss of US$70.1 million, reflecting a 14%

recovery in the average PGM basket price

CTRP  Plat Mile Corp  Total

32.6 61 2.6 6.8 79 3105
[53.1) (48.0} (2.1} 4.1 {2.1) (291.4)
39 4.1) {02 (0.2 - {30.3)
24.4) (9.0 (03] 2.5 57 (11.2)
- {0.6) - (4.1 - {12.4)
(24.4) 8.4 03 .9 57 (23.6)
0.7 0.1 o.m 0.1 1.0 1.8

- ~ - - 9.9) (9.9)
6.3 {13.4) - - 188 (203
- - - - 3.0 (36.0)

- ~ - - 3.8 38
[10.1)  13.0) - - - {131
(40.1} (7.9} 0.2 (1.5) (16.6) (97.3)
158

358

{45.7)

received from the second quarter (US$770 per
ounce} of the year 1o the fourth quarter (US$879

per ounce).

Corporate matters

It was vital for your Company’s continued well-
being — indeed, for its survival — that, during the
year, we took big, bold steps to recapitalise the
balance sheet and reduce debt. It is enormously
rewarding to reflect now that we were able
to do this successfully, with support from our
shareholders, particularly in the very difficult
global economic conditions prevailing. We
simultaneously raised US$118 million from an
equity placement of 46,330,000 common
shares; US$73 million from a rights issue of
41,491,737 common shares; and US$78 million
from a convertible bond issue.

From this fund-raising we were able to repay our
bridge loan facility of US$177 million, and still
end the year with a healthy cash balance of
US$154 million.

AQUARIUS ANNUAL REFORT 2009
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CEQ'’s review cont.

It would have been easy — but irresponsible - for
us, given the difficulties we have been through
and the tesfing times that still lie ahead, to have
lost sight of our growth obligations. We did not,
and | am pleased to report that past yearend,
on 6 July, we concluded our acquisition of Ridge
Mining and have began the task of infegrating
Ridge's assets into Aquarius. A priority is the
completion of the ramp-up phase at the Blue
Ridge mine, which is expected to produce
125,000 PGM ounces a year, 50% of which is
attributable to Aquarius.

Our relationship with our black economic
empowerment {BEE) partner, the Savannah
Consortium {Savcon), continued to grow and
mature in the year under review. It was most
encouraging fo witness the completion of the
final phase of the BEE transaction with Savcon,
in ferms of which Savcon exchanged its 32.5%
shareholding in AQPSA for 20% of the enlarged
share capital of Aquarius, the holding company.

Appointments during the year included that of
Hugo H&ll, previously Group Manager for
Projects and Transformation and General
Manager of Everest, as Managing Director of
AQPSA; of former Managing Director, Anton
Wheeler, to the new post of Operations Director
of the eastern limb operations, comprising
Everest and Blue Ridge; and of Anton Lubbe,
who has 28 years of varied mining experience,
as Operations Director for the western limb
operations, comprising Kroondal and Marikana.

Looking ahead

Taking a view on the likely market conditions in
which we must operate our business in the year
ahead, | would suggest that the PGMs market
may have found its bottom and is likely to
recover with, or at a slight lag to, world
economic recovery. It will take time for
consumers to regain their confidence. Given the
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current weakness of the dollar, | think the rand
will continue to outperform for some fime to
come; which, of course, means this ‘external’
factor in our lives will continue fo be a challenge
for us.

Other external challenges? We have had a year
relatively free of power supply disruptions but in
both South African and Zimbabwean contexts —
as the utilities in both countries struggle to deal
with their own demons — | think we should
anticipate that power will continue to have the
potential to ‘spook’ international markets for
some fime yet. Organised labour, if its recent
conduct in respect of doubledigit wage
demands is anything to go by, cannot be relied
upon to share our concern fo preserve jobs and
grow our business for the benefit of all
stakeholders.

For the rest, it is the shared responsibility of your
board and the executive management and
employees of your Company to manage to the
best of our ability those aspects of the business
that can be managed, using our new foundation
of operating and financial stability, being ever-
watchful for the unexpected, and looking to
future growth. | have every confidence we can
and will rise 1o the occasion.

Stuart Murray
Chief Executive Officer
30 October 2009
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rebuild their positions in PGMs, and more
especially in the demand for platinum jewellery
in the Far East.

Platinum: Total platinum demand was hard hit by
the decline in autocatalyst demand and fell in
2008 for the first time since 1999. This was
mostly a function of sharply reduced light vehicle
production in North America and Europe and
despite the greater use of platinum-containing
particulate filters in diesel vehicles. In the United
States, this was exacerbated by continued efforts
to substitute palladium for any remaining
platinum in gasoline catalysts.

Platinum jewellery demand in Japan and China,
which had slumped in FY2007/8 as prices
soared and became ever more volatile, has in
fact been boosted by the fall off in the price
since April 2008. Demand for platinum
jewellery in Japan had been sorely hit by the
steady rise in prices since 2004/5 but has been
supported recently by the relative strength of the
yen. The strength in jewellery demand in the Far
East has helped to outweigh the slump in the
North  American and European jewellery
markets.

Palladium: While autocatalyst demand for
palladium fell along with that for other PGMs in
the United States especially, in Europe, China
and Japan, the increasing use of palladium in
diesel autocatalysts underpinned demand for
palladium by the automotive sector.

Rhodium: As with platinum and palladium,
weakened demand by the automotive sector
has dampened both demand and the outlook
for this metal. Demand was further depressed by
thrifting programmes introduced by vehicle
manufacturers following the sharp rise in prices in
the latter half of FY2008.

Supply

On the plus side for PGMs, supply constraints
cushioned the decline in prices and by June
2009 (average monthly price of $1,223/02),
the price of platinum in particular was 50%
up on the average low of $850/0z in
December 2008, and was trading ot levels
previously seen in the first quarter of 2007.

Several factors contributed to the reduced supply
of PGMs onto the market. Many producers, both
in South Africa and Russia, failed to meet their
production targets and overall production
declined. In South Africa, production was
affected by excessive rainfall, geological
challenges, safety shutdowns, smelter closures,
skilled staff shortages and power supply
constraints. Also in South Africa, which supplies
around 80% of global platinum production, low
PGM dollar prices and even lower prices in
terms of South African rands (o function of the
latter's relative strength to the US dollar) and the
current shortage of investment capital available,
resulted in the postponement of several new
PGM projects. This will also have implications
for future growth in supplies of PGMs in the
longer term.
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Market review cont.

An increase in the supply of recycled melal,
[N

especially platinum, had been o feature of
the market in 2008 and as prices subsided

in 2009, this has dried up

Consequently, these reductions in supply have
helped to offset the fall off in demand, and the

platinum market is currently almost in balance.

Outlook

While an upiurn in the

1
omy would

P T . S
be the single biggest stimulant of PGM

demand, the latter will also be boosted
by tighter emissions legislation, increased
demand  for and the intended

establishment of an ETF in the United States.

While demand for PGMs is underpinned by
ever stricter emissions legislation globally,
recent shrength in jewellery and investor
demand has shown that they still have their
place in the PGM market. However, breaking
out of the current status quo depends on the
next uplum in the global economy, the timing

of which is much debated.

Platinum — supply and demand by calendar year {0000z)

Supply

South Africa
Russic
North America

Other

Total sljpp{y '

2008 2007 2006
530 5,070 5,295
820 Q15 Q20
325 325 345
290 270
5,970 6,600 6,830

Autocatalyst ~ gross 3,805 4,145 3,940
- recovery [1,005) [©35) {860)
Jewellery 1,365 1,455 1,640
Indusirial 1,755 1,845 1,830
Investment 425 170 140)
Total demand 6,345 6,680 6,475
Stock movements [375) [80) 1355)
Palladium ~ supply and demand by calendar year {0000z)
Supply 2008 2007 2006
South Alica 2,430 2.765 2775
Russia - primary production 2,700 3,050 3,220
- siate sales Q60 1,490 700
North America Q10 Q0 985
Other 310 285 270
Total supply 7,310 8,580 7,950

Demand
Autocatalyst — gross

- recovery
Jewellery
Electror
Other
Total demand
Stock movemenis

1CS

0

4,380 4,545 4,015
1170 (1,015) (805]
855 715 995
1,325 1,240 1,205
1,460 1,350 1,195
6,850 6,835 6,605
460 1745 1,345
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- Operations review

Three-year stafistics by operation
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v  Mimoso
FY2009* FY2008 Fy2007 EY2009 FY2008 EY2007

Everest

CIRP

Platinum Mile

058 080 062 010 018 041

226 1,468 176 199
1,224 05 1286 931 974

(89) 70 62 50 3 74
676 1293 1720 600 1435 1452
263 353 321 238 346 322
879 723 718 - -

511 308 23
58 43 32 43 39 35

761 571 470 s01 446 383

623 464 363 477 423 36D

839 1912 1802

- 202 585

839 2114 2387 2100 1732 1697

289 298 2890 340 357 360
IR A— 74

7643 .94 94 (.92 .08 '8
19,365 46 52 49 58 59

Cea99 16157

[o]
562 T b2 10 T
64068 158 164 180 351194
.
)

78295 194 196 189 156

122 195 224 2539 2086 2078

FY2009 12008

28

1241

26

603
223

9.03

FY2007

83 96 07
9 13 13
3003 2666 2377
332 369 31
2,047 1,742 87
27 24
1 6 1
- 1
247 274 182
247 274 182
2.34 420

3B

64 95 111 2074 1719 1732

For our mondhs of FYZ(

12

10

purchase effective 1/

FY2009 FY2008**

28
4,568
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Operations review

Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Statement 2009

The 2009 Resource and Reserve statements reflect the Mineral Resources and
Mineral Reserves of Aquarius’ operations in South Africa (through AQPSA)
and Zimbabwe (Mimosa) as ot 30 June 2009. A summary of exploration
conducted on existing mines and the various exploration projects and

prospects is provided.

Reporting on Mineral Resources, Mineral
Reserves and Exploration Results is done in
accordance with the South African Code for
Reporiing of Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves [SAMREC 20071 and the Australian
Code for Reporting of Mineral Rescuices and
Ore Reserves (JORC 2004).

The JORC code is the Ausiralasian equivalent of
SAMREC and is prepared under the auspices
of the Australasian Institvle of Mining and
Metallurgy [AustMA]. The SAMREC Code and
SACNASP (South African Council for Natural
Scientific Professions) are officially recognised on

a reciprocal bosis by Austi,

Mineral rights status
Aquarius’ operations in South Africa

in Aprit 2004, the Mineral and Pefroleum
Resources Development Act, 2002 [Act No. 28
of 20027 IMPRDA) was promuigated in South
Africa to make provision for equitable access to,
and sustainable development of the nafion's
mineral and petroleum resources. The MPRDA
provides a dispensation which entfirely replaces
that created by the Minerals Act 1991, and

vests the Stale, as opposed o private properly
owners, with custodianship of South Alrica’s
resources. Based on the MPRDA, any company

can apply for the right to prospect for
PRy g RIOS|

i

1

or mine a mineral from the Department o
Mineral Resources [DMR]. Any such application
must comply with the provisions of the MPRDA,
which includes proof of financial abiliy to
conduct the work proposed, an approved
Environmental Management plan, as well as o
Social and Labour plan. The MPRDA also forcas

companies to ulilise the rights granied fo them in

order 1o refain them.

At the time of promulgation of the MPRDA, it
was recognised that mining companies had old
otder rights under the Minerals Act of 1991 For
this reason o ransition period was established
o give mining companies the opportunity fo
convert their old order rights to new order rights
it the old order right was in force on the date
immediately before the MPRDA was enacted

into law. For prospecting rights a grace period

of one year was se

and for mining rights o
grace pericd of five years was sel for the
conversion 1o new order righis. Thus all old
order prospecting rights should have been

Currently, Aquarius helds three mining rights as shown in the table below.

Mine Province

Kroondal Mine North Wes
Marikana Mine North West
Everest Mine Mpumalanga
Mpumalanga

Hoogland 28 JT
Sterkfontein

|

Mpumalanga Included in Ever

Type of right

Converted mining right

Converted mining right

Converted mining right

Included in Everest Mine's converted mining right

t Mine's converted mining right

et



the five prospecting rights that are currently held by Aquar

Province

Mpumalanga

Vygenhc

Chiefiains Plain Mpumalanga

Walhalla Mpumalanga
Hoogland 38 [T Mpumalanga

Townlands North West

converted to new order rights by April 2005
rights
converted by April 2009. If these deadlines

and all mining should have been

were not met the old order rights will lapse.

The mineral rights that  Anglo  Platinum
contributed fo both P&SAT and PASAZ were old
order mining rights. Anglo Platinum has applied
io the DMR for conversion of these tights in ferms
of the MPRDA  The DMR has accepted the
conversion applications.

Il mining rights are held in good order with
there being no perceived risk as to Aquarius’
rights fo confinue mining for minerals on the

specific sites.

Aquarivs Platinum  Limited, through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, ASACS, concluded the
of a number of

consolidation exploration

properties info a special purpose vehicle known

Type of right

Converied prospecting right
New order right

MNew order right

Converted prospecting right

7

New order right

as Zondemaam Mining. The consolidation
included the exploration rights of Bakgaga
Mining (Pty} Ud and that of MinEx Projects {Pty)
tid, This consolidation brings together a tolal of

seven conliguous farms. Once the required
regulatory processes have been  concluded,
ASACS will have a 74% inferes! in Zondermaam
Mining, with Bakgaga Mining holding a 26%

Tr

interes!. These prospecting rights are new order

prospecting rights issued in terms of the MPRDA.

Al prospecting rights are heid in good order
with there being no perceived risk as fo
Aquarius’ rights 1o prospect for minerals or
continue with the mining on their projects.
Where Aquarivs is currently  mining or
prospecting in areas not fisted in these fables,
the work is being done in agreement with the
particular company  holding the mining  or
right.  All

agreements are currently held in good order.

prospecting these rights and




Operations review — Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve

Statement 2009 cont.
Aquarius’ operation in Zimbabwe

Part VI, Section 135 of the Mines and Minerals
Act Chapter 21.05 enables the holder of
a registered mining location or of contiguous
mining locations to make a written application fo
the mining commissioner for the issue to them of
a mining lease in respect of a defined area
within which such mining locations are situated.

On 5 September 1996, a mining lease, mining
lease number 24, was granted to Mimosa
Mines {PVT) Utd for an area of 6,591ha. The
mining lease comprises the consolidation of
39 registered claims. The lease was registered
for nickel, copper, gold, silica, chromite and
platinum group minerals and Mimosa Mines
{PVT) Ud currently holds the mining rights to
that lease.

Mimosa Mine's mining right for the South and
North Hill areas covers 20km of strike of the
Great Dyke, including virtually almost all the PGE
resources within the Wedza subchamber. The
excepfions are a 5km stike length along the
western side of South Hill and the southemn side
of the far South Hill, where the claims are held by
Anglo American Plc.

Aquarius Platinum has a 50% interest in Mimosa
Platinum Mine [Mimosa) through its 50%
shareholding in Mimosa Investments Ltd.

Geological setting
The Bushveld Complex

The 2 billionyearold Bushveld Complex,
located in South Africa, is the world's largest
tabular, layered igneous intrusion. These rocks
are believed fo be the result of crystal settling
from a magma during slow cooling, resulting in
laterally persistent layering which can be traced
for hundreds of kilometres from west o east.
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The Bushveld Complex consists of a 7km to Qkm
thick sequence of magmatic rocks exposed in
four socalled limbs (the western, eastern,
northern and Bethal limbs) covering an area of
about 65,000km?. The western limb supplies
most of South Africa’s platinum-group element
production which comes from both the Merensky
and the UG2 Reefs, and is sourced from
Northam Platinum, Implats {Impala Platinum),
Anglo Platinum {Amandelbult, Union and
Rustenburg  Sections), Aquarius Platinum and
Lonmin Plc (Western and Eastern Platinum, and
Karee Mine). Another large source of PGEs is the
Potgietersrus Platinum Mine (PPM} on the
norther limb of the Bushveld Complex, and the
mines established on the eastern limb over the
past few years.

These cyclic, layered mafic to uliramafic units,
the Rustenburg Llayered Suite, comprise five
major zones [from bottom to top): the Marginal
Zone, Llower Zone, Critical Zone, Main Zone
and Upper Zone. The Critical Zone hosts the
world’s largest and most important resources of
PGE and associated base metals and other
compounds. The two mineralised layers, which
contain the economically important PGEs, are
the Merensky Reef and the Upper Group No. 2
chromitite layer (UG2 Reef).

The Merensky Reef is not mined at any of the
AQPSA mines. The UG2 Reef is locally defined
as the main chromitite layer, termed the
‘Main Seam’, and confains most of the PGE-
mineralisation. This is overlain by a feldspathic
pyroxenite, the ‘Parting’ and the lowermost
chromitite layer of the UG3 or Triplets, termed
the ‘Leader Seam’. These two chromitite layers
and the intervening waste parting together
form the mineable reef. Pyroxenite bands or
lenses occasionally occur in either of the
chromitite layers.
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Locality of the Bushveld Complex and some PGM mining operations in South Africa

9]

P astem limb

N T
Western limb

South Africa

/,

Amandelbuli

MNortham
Union

Pilanesberg

Complex

Bafokeng-
Rasimone
impala

o
Kroondal Mine //M

Marikana Mine oo

o
Western and
Eastern Platinum

Zondernaam

Limpopo lebowa

Twickenham
_Marula

Modikwa
Kennedy's Vole

Der Brochen

Blue Ridge

Everest-Mine

Sheba's Ridge Booysendal

O Johanneshurg

A Aqguarius’ operations
o Other PGM mining operations
o Towns

The Great Dyke

Zimbabwe's Greal Dyke is an elongate, NNE-
wrending layered intrusion that is 550km long
and 4km to 11km wide. 1t is V- or Yshaped in
section, with layering dipping in fowards the axis
of the intrusion. It comprises af least two
chambers separated by floorrock highs: @
north chamber consisting of the Musengezi,
Darwendale [formerly the northern part of the
Hartley Complex] and Sebakwe subchambers;
and @ south chamber consisting of the Selukwe
and Wedza sub-chambers. The Mimosa Mine is
within the Wedza subchamber.

0 20 40 60 80
R )

km

The above sub-chambers were initially isolated,
but merged as the layering aceumulated
upwards and became more silllike. loyering
generally dips inwards from the sides of the Dyke
towards the axis, but in localised sub-chambers
or basins the dip is centripetal.

Stratigraphically it consists of:

e A lower Ultramafic Sequence that is up fo
2,200m thick and consists mainly of dunites
and pyroxenites. These rocks host all the
chromitite and PGE resources; and

e The upper Mafic Sequence that is up fo
1,150m thick and consists mainly of gabbros
and norifes,




Operations review — Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve

Statement 2009 cont.

Locdlity of the Great Dyke and some PGM mining operations in Zimbabwe

Bulawayo w

Economic PGE mineralisation occurs within the
Main Sulphide Zone (MSZ}, which is generally
10m 1o 20m from the top of the Ulramafic
Sequence. Because it lies just below the Mafic
Sequence, the PGE resources coincide with the
four main erosional remnants of these rocks.

The MSZ is typically 2m to 3m thick, but is
locally up to 20m with a marked decrease in
grade with thickening of the zone. Areas of very
thick, uneconomic MSZ are mainly restricled to
the axis of the Darwendale and Musengezi

chambers.

The Great Dyke is intrusive into Archean
granite, gneisses and greenstones. The latest
dating indicates this occurred 2.5 billion
years ago, which is 500 million years older
than the Bushveld Complex.
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Zvishavane®

Complex

» Haorare

Hartley
Complex

Complex

Various NNE+rending satellite dykes with the
same age are located east and west of the main
intrusion.

Important reporting criteria

¢ The Mineral Resource is inclusive of the
Mineral Reserve.

¢ The Mineral Resource tonnages and grades
are reported exclusive of infernal and external
waste dilution.

e The in situ corrected 4E grade is used for the
estimation of Mineral Resources.

o All dyke volumes are excluded from Mineral
Resource and Mineral Reserve estimations.

e The Mineral Reserve is quoted as fully diluted
delivered to the plant.

® Mineral Resources for the UG2 Reef (South
Africa’s Bushveld Complex) includes both the
Leader and the Main Seams.



Mineral Resources are siated inclusive and
exclusive of geclogical losses.

Mineral Resource esfimates for the Main
Sulphide Zone [Zimbabwe's Great Dyke] are
based on optimal mining widths.

Rounding off of numbers in the fables may
result in minor compulational discrepancies;
where this occurs it is deemed insignificant.
All references 1o fonnage are fo the metric unit,
All references fo ounces are toy with a

31.10348 used to

convert from meiric groms o ounces.

conversion factor of

Only Aquarius™ atiributable  Resources and
Reserves are listed in the summary tables.

The Mineral Reserve is that portion of the
Mineral Resource which geological, technical
and ecoromic studies have confirmed to be
economically extractable according to the pre-
teasibility study criteria as set out in SAMREC.
Metal price and exchange rate forecasts ore

based on conservative but realistic internal

views derived from comporisons o average
and consensus pronouncements by major
international commeniators and  financial
institutions.

Aquarius uses a discounted cash flow model
that represents  production, financial and
economic siafisfics in the valuation of their
mineral assets. Key inputs and forecasts are:
e metal recoveries:

» produciion profile;

e capital expendifure;

operating expenditure;

» rand/US dollor exchange rate; and

® relative rates of inflation in South Africa and
the United States.

The outputs are net present value, internal rate
of return, annual cash flow, project payback
period and funding requirements.




Operations review — Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve
Statement 2009 cont.

Summary - Resources and Reserves

Summary and comparison of Aquarius’ afiributable Mineral Resources as at 30 June 2009

2008 2009

Measured Indicated  Inferred Inferred  Total
{Oxides)

Measured Indicated  Inferred Inferred  Total
{Oxidles)

Kroondal ~ UG2 1
298 04l 2002 1877 2.06 0.33 18.16

26

Tonnage Mt 16.63
fe g/1 5.84 6.14 594 5.8G 587 6.22 5.88 5.91
Content Moz 312 059 008 379 0 298 0.41 0.06 3.45
oo Prosp'ect e o 2 RS O S ¢ SA et At
Tonnage Mt - 138 0.13 0.06 1.57
Grade g/t S 623 6.88 6.45 630
Confent Moz 0.28 0.03 0.01 0.32
Mok U _— S o e
fonnage Mt 10.71 4.21 1.28 1670+ 948 4.45 1.16 15.08
Grade 518 5726 2.82 501 5.41 502 2.78 509
Content 178 071 0.12 2.61 1.65 0.72 0.10 247
Evélﬁs’ V’ \/ £ ' ' ' { S
k M 1622 13.56 584 3567 1534 1314 583 34.31
g/t 3.70 3.23 2.66 335 1 373 3.27 2.74 3.38
Moz 1.93 1.41 0.50 : L 1.64 1.38 0.51 373
Everest western Resaurce ~ Sterkfontein — UG2 . s
Tonnage Mt 13.00 13.00 ’ 13.00 13.00
Grade g/t 3.50 3.50 3.50 3.50
Content Moz 1.46 146 1.46 1.46
Everest southern Resource — Hoog‘fm"\a - UG2 I »
Tonnage Mt Q.00 Q.00 2.71 3.89 6.60
Grade g/t 3.50 3.50 3.16 2.68 2.88 5
Content Moz 101 101 028 033 0.61 ’
Everest North — Vygenhoek — LIG?2 . ‘ o -
Tonnage Mt 4.20 4.20 277 277
Grade g/t 5.40 540 511 511
conlent Moz 073 0.73 0.46 e OAQ
Chiefiains Plain — UG2 o R
Tonnage MY 11500 115.00 115.00 115.00
Grode g/1 570 570 570 570
Conient Moz 21.07 21.07 ) 2107 21.07 G
Chieftains Plain — Merensky o -
Tonnage M 85.00 8500 | 85.00 85.00
Gode g/t 430 430 | 430 430
Confent Moz 1175 1175 1175 11.75




Measured

Walhalla ~ UG2

2008

Indicoted  Inferred  Inferred
[Oxides)

Total

Measured Indic

2009
ted Inferred

Inferred  Totol
{Oxidles)

Tonnage M 185.00 185.00 185.00 185.00
Grade 5.7 570 570
Content 33.90 33.90 33.90
Walhglla -
Tonnoge 13500 135.00 135.00 135.00
Grade 4.30 430 4.30 4.30
Content Moz 1866 18.66 18.66 18.66
Total AQPSA
Tornage  Mi 4356 2074 55374 61803 4474 2250 54427 611.50
Grade g/t 4.88 4.06 502 497 500 3.90 502 4.98
Content Moz 6.84 271 8929 98.84 7.20 2.82 8788 97.90
Mimosa — South Hill - MS7

13.45 7.52 3.32 4582 19.87 13.44 7.51 332 4415
Grade 3.85 3.70 3.82 3.90 3.54 3.85 370 3.77
Conlent Moz 277 1.53 0.93 0.40 563 249 1.53 0.93 0.40 535
Mimosa ~ North Hill - MSZ ’ ’ ’ a o
Tonnage 24.33 24,33 ’ 2433 2433
Grade 3.64 3.64 3.64 3.64
Con 2.85 2.85 2.85 2.85
Aquarius Tofal
Tonnage Mt 6509 3419 58558 332 68817 6461 3594 55178 2765 67997
Grade g/t 4.59 3.86 4.94 3.70 4.85 4.66 376 501 3.65 4.85
Content Moz 261 424 9307 0.40 107.31 9.69 435 8881 324 10609
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Statement 2009 cont.

Summary ~ Resources and Reserves cont.

Summary and comparison of Aquarius' atfributable Min

2008
Openceist Underground  Tolal

Proved Probable Proved Probable

Kroondal - UG2

Tonnage M 0.04 25.31 497 w067

e 9/t 5.34 290 326 296
Content Moz 0.01 2.36 0.45 2.82
Townlands Prospect ~ UG2 '
Tornage M 0.00 :
Grade g/1 0.00
Confent Moz 0.00
A >rikla&: -UuG2
lonnage Mt 239 040 1137 7.65 16.81
GCrade g/i 3.38 5.58 316 333 3.28
Content Moz 026 007 116 0.28 17
Bverest - UG2 ) ' ' ‘
Tornoge MU 14.49 796 2245
g/t 298 283 293
Content Moz 139 2.1
Everest western Resource - Sterkfontein - UG o |
Tonnage M 000 |
Grad g/t 0.00
> Moz Q.00
Everest southern Resource ~ Hoogland ~ G2 ‘
lfonnage A 0.00
Grade g/t 0.00
C Moz 0.00
Everest North — ‘}yéeﬁhéék “uc2 -
Tonnage M 0.00
Grade a/t 0.00
Content Moz 0.00
Chiefiains Plain - UG2 - B
Tonnage M 0.00
Grade g/t 0.00
Content Moz 0.00
Chieftains PldinV':/\/\erenskyyf ' ' \\
fonnage Mt 0.00
Grade g/t 0.00
Conlent Moz 0.00

ral Reserves as at 30 June 2009

Opencast

1.32
376

016

0.39
529
0.07

2009

Underground

2437
2.86

L

10.65
3.24
1

13.53
3.00
1.31

Proved Probable Proved Probable

2.93
3.29

031

2.53
318
026

7.42
2.89

08

Total

1490
3.33
1.40

20.95
2.96
1.99

0.00
0.00
000

0.00
0.00

000

0.00
0.00

0

0.00
0.00
000

0.00
0.00
000

G




2009

Opencast lere \ Total Opencost Underground  Totel
Proved Probable Proved Probable Proved Proboble Proved Probable

Walhalla - UG2 !

lornage Mt 0.00 0.00
Grade g/t 0.00 0.00
Cantent Moz 000 0.00
Wathalla ~ Merensky ‘

M 0.00 0.00
Grade g/t 0.00 0.00
Content Moz 0.00 0.00
Totol AQPSA ‘
Tonnage Mt 2.44 0.40 5117 1488 6888 1.32 039 4855 1288 4315
Grade g/t 3.42 5.58 2.98 3.04 303 376 529 2.98 3.03 3.02
Content Moz 0.27 0.07 4.91 1.45 6.70 0.16 0.07 4.65 1.26 6.14
Mimosa - South Hill - MSZ :
lonnage Mt Q.22 846  17.68 8.15 8.46 1641
Grade g/t 361 333 3.48 3.68 3.33 3.50
Conten! Moz 1.07 0.91 198 0.97 0.91 1.87
Mimosa ~ North Hill ~ MSZ ’ ’ . ’ \ o o '
Tornage M 0.00 0.00
Grode g/t 000 | 0.00
Confent Moz 0.00 0.00
Aquarius Total !
Tonnage Mt 2.44 040 6039 2334 8656 1.32 039 8671 2134 7976
Grade g/t 3.42 5.58 3.08 315 312 376 529 3.08 315 312

Confent Moz 0.27 0.07 5.98 2.36 8.68 016 0.07 562 2.16 8.01




Operations review — Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve
Statement 2009 cont.

Locality of Aquarius’ operations in South Africa and Zimbabwe
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Operations review —

Kroondal Mine

Kroondal Mine is situated on the western limb of the Bushveld Complex near
the town of Rustenburg, in North West Province and immediately up-dip of the
Rustenburg Section (RPM] of Anglo Flatinum (AP). It consists of the Kroondal

and the Townlands blocks.
Review of the year

Key statistics

FY2009 EY2008
Tonnes milled A 6.49 6.10
Average head grade g/t 2.57 .61
Cost per PGM ounce R/oz 5174 4,241
- $/oz 573 587
Revenue (net of foreign exchange sales variance) $m 146 347
On mine cash cosls $m (135) 123)
Gross profit $m 1 224
Capital expenditure Rm 281 347
$m 31 48

Production - metal in concentrate oz
Platinum 250,525 234,041
Palladium 123,620 113,400
Rhodium 45,912 41,852
Gold 2,022 1,823
Total PGM production 422,078 391,117
Total attributable PGM production 211,039 105,558
Labour - ot (;nCQt)d}ng confractors| 4,517 30954

Safety

There was an overall deferiorafion in safety
performance with the DIR declining to 0./74 pe
200,000 hours worked in FY2009 from 0.49
in FY2008. Unfortunately two fatalities were
recorded af Kroondal, both of which occurred af
Kroondal's K5 shafi and involved mobile rackless
mining equipment. As o result, the assessment of
safety risks has been broadened 1o include as

many varicbles s possible and new  traffic
management regulations have been implemented
underground. As part of our salely systlem, @
process to review the baseline risk assessment that
incorporates the changes info the codes of practice
[COPs) and fraining lesson plans was begun.
These revisions were also enforced by means of a
dedicated safety campaign fo enirench fhe
changes in the workplace.




Operations review — Kroondal Mine cont.

Production
In FY2009, Kroondal confributed 211,039 PGM
ounces or 46% of group attributable production.

Tonnes processed, sourced almost entirely from
underground, increased by 7% yearonvyear fo
5.9Mt. As planned openpit production was
minimal and ceased during the course of the
year. A marginal decline in head grade, a
function of geological conditions, was countered
by improved recoveries at the concentrator plant,
following improved process control and plant
stability. This resulted in an overall increase of
8% in PGM production to 422,078 ounces in
total. Improved production was partly due to
greater stability in the workforce and in
relationships with contractors, in tum a result of
the managed contractor model implemented
towards the end of the previous financial year,
which gave greater managerial and operational
responsibility to Aquarius management and the
alignment of deliverables.

While progress was made with development
and rampup in production at the K5 decline

shaft, the geological conditions nevertheless
remained challenging. Development is being

Kroondal — annual atiributable PGM
production (0000z)
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advanced through the Townlands Fault and,
once accomplished, will enable a sustained
increase in output from K5. After yearend and
following negotiations, there was a change in
the contractor employed at K5. The contract
model was revised in line with that in practice
elsewhere at the operation.

Financial

The change over fo the managed contract model
towards the end of the last financial year had an
inifial effect on costs in the first half of the 2009
financial year. Nevertheless, cash cost increases
for the year were contained at 23% and 22%
respectively per ROM tonne {R337/tonne) and
per PGM ounce (R5,174,/PGM ounce). Drivers
of higher costs were principally marketrelated
wage increases, excepfionally high electricity
tariff hikes and the increased price of steel
and diesel.

The increase in production was offset by a
45% decline in the basket price received to
$1,044/PGM ounce, which resulted in
reduced attributable revenue of R1,290 million.

Total capital expenditure at Kroondal was
R281 million (R140 million attributable to
Aquarius) for the year, spent mostly on expanding
the underground mining infrastructure and the rail
link to the K5 Shaft. There was a reduction in the
expenditure of sustaining capital, in terms of re-
engineering ond reclamation planning, a result
of more judicious management given the current
market outlook.

Outlook

Total annual production at Kroondal remains
scheduled at 450,000 PGM ounces with its life
of mine due fo end in FY2018. Work on the
K6 project, an extension of the K5 resource
(Townlands block), has been postponed until
market conditions improve.



Mineral Resources

The tables below encompass the Mineral Resources and Mineral Resources affer application of

geological losses contained in the Kioondal and Townlands blocks of Kroondal Mine.

Mineral Resources

z . . 6523
0.55 588 0.10 505 626
5.88

Kroondal
Bloe
.

Q1

Measured 1063 5.66 K

I, G272
0.44 588 008 3.68 6.26

Indicated

622

Mineral Resources affer application of geological losses

Townlands

Kroondal Mine
Attributable to AQPSA

Kroondal

330 | 40.26 5.0C 20.13 590
102 560 622 112 280 622
017 0.46 588 00
4.49 0339 593 4.

093
4678

Kroondal Mine
Attributable to AQPSA

Kroondal

, . 1577 587
074 | 412 622 082 206 622
013 067 588 013 033 588 006

inferred ‘ i 0.6/ 588

Total 3.65 | 16,25 6.22

325 3632 591 690 1816 591 3.45

de [Pr-Po+Rh+Au)

Notes on the Mineral Resource statement:

e The Mineral Resouice is inclusive of the Minerol
Reserve.

e The Mineral Resource tonnages and PGE
grades are reported exclusive of infernal and
external waste dilution.

e The in sitv comrected 4E grade is used for the
estimation of Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves.

e All dyke volumes are EXCLUDED from Mineral
Resource eslimations.

Kroondlal Block:
Geological losses applied:
e Central Mine — 11.5%
e Fast Mine - 18.6%

e Cenfral Mine deep ~ 15%
e Fast Mine deep — 19%
e No. 3 Shaft — 21%

The geosiatistically estimated density is used for
the chromitite and 3.12t/m’ for the waste
material in the underground areas.

Townlands Block:
Geological losses applied: 28.0%

The geostatistically eslimated density is used for
the chromitite and 3.12t/m’ for the wasle
material in the underground areas.




Operations review — Kroondal Mine cont.

Kroondal Mine Mineral Resources
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Mineral Reserves

The tables below encompass the Mineral Reserves contained in the Kroondal and Townlands blocks of
Kroondal Mine. Current practice at Kroondal Mine is to mine the leader Seam, Parting linfernal waste),

NMain Seam and O.2m of footwall waste with @ minimum stoping widih of 2.0m.

Mineral Reserves

Kroondal Townlands Kroondal Kroondal Mine

block bloc

d

29.44

Proved L 4B7A 2.86 448 @ 2437

Probable 065 286 006 586 329 0062 293 3.2
Total 30.09 5460 290 510 27.30 290
o = il B
Notes on the Mineral Reserve statement: is applied in the 3 shalt area where the width
e The Mineral Reserve fonnages and PGE grodes  between the lowermost chromitite stringer in the
are reported inclusive of infernal and external  hangingwall and the top of the leader Seam is

waste dilution.
» The Mineral Reserve is quoted as hully diluted
delivered fo the plant.

less than O.3m.

Townlands Block:
Pillar loss varies bhetween 14% and 22%

Kroondal Block:

" ) : . depending on the depth below surface
Pillar loss varies between 10% and 30% F 9 b v 1

depending on the depth below surface. . ) e o
' Scalping of waste material: 25% of Parling
Scalping of waste material applied:

e Ceniral Mine and East Mine — 10% of Parting
e No. 3 Shaft ~ 7% of Parting Allowances have been made for addifional

A mining loss of 5% is applied to the ROM ore

hangingwall dilution due to the close proximity of
A mining loss of 5% is applied to the ROM ore. hangingwall chromitite stingers to the fop of the
Additional hangingwall dilufion of varying widths — leader Seam

Kroondal Block — metal split Townlands Block — metal split
Pt 57.2% Pt 58.6%
Pd 31.3% # Pd 30.7%
Rh 10.8% ® Rh 10.0%
Au 0.7% ® Au 0.7%
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Operations review — Kroondal Mine cont.

Kroondal Mine Mineral Reserves
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Operations review —

Marikana Mine

Marikana Mine, which consists of the Marikana and 4 Shaft orebodies,
is located approximately 8km to the east of Kroondal Mine.

Review of the year

Key statistics

‘ FY2009 FY2008

Tonnes milled Mi 2.58 213
Average grade (4E) g/t 2.84 2.89
Cost per PGM ounce (4E] R/oz 6,677 7,575
) B $/oz 739 1,048
Revenue [net of foreign exchange sales variance) $m 54 e
On mine cash costs $m {69) [76)
Gross profit $m (15) 36
Capital expenditure Rm 87 110
’ $m 10 » , 15
Production of mefal in concentrate oz o
Platinum 97,203 78,786
Palladivm 43,618 33,916
Rhodium 16,166 12,073
Gold 950 808
Total PGM production 157,937 125,583
Total attributable PGM production 78,969 62,791
tabour - fofal [including confraciors| 1,650 1,891

Safety

Overall safely performance deferiorated with the
DIR declining to 0.91 per 200,000 hours
worked in FY2009 from 0.54 in FY2008. To
address this, addilional management  safety
measures were implemented which had begun
io produce positive results by yearend. There

was unfortunately one fatality during  the
course of the year at the open-pil operations

at Marikana.

Production
Marikana contributed 78,969 PGM ounces or
17% o group atfributable production in FY2009.

37



Operations review — Marikana Mine cont.

Total tonnes mined at Marikana were up by
27% to 2.6Mt on the year — 1.4Mt (54%)
from underground and 1.2Mt (43%) from the
open-pit operation. The ramp-up of underground
production proceeded apace, despite the
challenging mining condifions encountered.
Production here was constrained initially in the
year by the loss of face length, a result of the
increased frequency of potholes. Development
was thus adapted to contain and limit geological
losses. By the last quarter of the vear,
underground production amounted to 57% of the
total and that from the open pits 43%.

Marikana’s 2 shaft, which has geological
constraints and insufficient crifical mass in the
current economic climate, was placed on care
and maintenance. Skills and equipment from this
shaft were redeployed at revenue generating
shafts such as 1 and 4 shafts where primary
development and redevelopment continued.
While the stoping sections at 4 shaft maintained
the improvements made in efficiencies, offreef
primary development limited reef production as
did the high incidence of potholing.

Changes implemented to the open-pit mining
method and the shape of the pit in FY2008,
bore fruit in FY2009 and resulted in an increase
in volumes mined here. As a result of these

Marikana ~ annual attributable PGM
production {0000z}
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changes, and the Whittle model that was run to
optimise the openpit, the stripping ratio was
maintained at 28:1 for the year. The change in
mining direction was completed at all the pits
with mining taking place along dip.

The average head grade declined to 2.84g/t
compared to 2.89g/1, a result of the higher
relative contribution to underground material and
the dilution of this material by redevelopment
and development tonnes.

Enhancements in process control implemented at
the plant resulted in metallurgical recoveries
improving by 5% to 67%. Total PGM production
increased 26% yearonyear to 157,937 ounces.

Financial

Cost pressure were mitigated by the significant
increase in volumes mined at Marikana in
FY2009, and the cash cost per ROM tonne
decreased by 9% to R408/tonne with a
corresponding  decrease  of  12% 1o
R6,677 /PGM ounce produced.

A 43% decline in the average PGM basket price
achieved for the year to $1,035/PGM ounce
outweighed the higher level of production, with
the overall result that mine revenue fell by 41% to
RP60 million, of which R480 million was
atiributable to Aquarius.

Total capital expenditure at Marikana was
R87 million (R44 million attributable to
Aquarius), spent mostly on the establishment of
underground infrastructure.  Given prevailing
market conditions, however, management was
increasingly circumspect in approving such
expenditure.

Outlook

Hand-inhand  with the buildup to full
production will be the planned decline in
open-pit production. Marikana currently has a
planned life of mine of 11 years.



Mineral Resources

The tables below encompass Mineral Resources and Mineral Resources after application of geological

losses contained in the Marikana and 4 Shaft orebodies of Marikana Mine.

Mineral Resources

Marikana 4 Shaft

Orebod%/

Measur

308 064 1917 596

5.00

Marikana Marikana Mine

i .
3.67 0 2418 555 431

ndicted 436 428 060 662 576 123 1008 517 183
ifered | 3.67 2.57 0. 010 535 002 377 2.64 032
Toldl  13.03 3.68 1.54 2589 590 491 3892 5.16 6.46

cor 3 AE giode (P

o/ F =
4

4 Shaht
Orod

Marikana
Orebod

A

)
B

Mineral Resources affer application of geological losses

Marikana Mine
fiributable to AQP

Marikana

A 5A

easued | 4.74 379 058  14.21 595 272 1895 541 3.30 0.48 541 1.05
indicaled |~ 370 3.99 047 | 520 576 0.96 890 502 1.44 445 502 072
erred 225 269 0.19 | 007 536 001 232 278 021 = 116 278 010
Total 1069 363 125 1948 590 3.69 3017 509 494 1508 509 2.47
g/1 = corected Af grade (P!#-Pd#/é%’?-:f»%\a/} T ‘

Notes on the Mineral Resource statement:
he Mineral

e The Mineral Resource is inclusive of 1
Reserve.

e The in situ corrected 4F grade is used for the
estimation of Mineral Resources.

o All dyke volumes are EXCLUDED hom Mineral

Resource estimations.

Marikana Orebody

Mineral Resource tonnages and PGE grades are
reported inclusive of infernal waste dilufion. A buffer
zone of 2.5m to 5m either side of the major faults
and dykes has been EXCLUDED.

Geological losses applied:
o Opencast — 4%
e Underground — 6%

4 Shaft Orebody:
The Mineral Resource tonnages and 4k grades are
reported  exclusive  of

infernal and  external

waste dilution.

Geological losses applied:

s Southern portion west of the decling
- 36% (36% in FY2008}

Southemn portion east of the decline
- 39% (36% in FY2008)

Deeper portion west of the decline
- 24% (22% in FY2008)

Deeper portion east of the decline
~ 28% (22% in FY2008)
Remainder of 4 shaft - 22%




Operations review — Marikana Mine cont.

Mineral Resources cont.

The geostatistically estimated density is used for the A density of 3.81/m* is used for the chromitite and
chromitite and 3.12i/m* for the waste material in+ 3.0t/m* for the waste in the opencast areqs.
the underground areas.

Marikana Mine Mineral Resources
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Mineral Reserves

The tables below encompass the Mineral Reserves contained in the Marikana and 4 Shaft orebodies
of Marikana Mine. Current practice at Marikana Mine is 1o mine the leader Seam, Main Seam, all

infernal waste and allowance for 0.2m footwall overbreak in the underground sections.

Mineral Reserves

Marikana

0.65 516
079 529

Proved | 1.99 330 0.21

Probable

Poved | 2.50 321 027 1871 3.25
5073808
458 325 048 2522 335

g/ = corrected 4F grade (PrePeleRheAu)

Notes on the Mineral Reserve statement:

e The Mineral Reserve is quoted as fully diluted
delivered to the plant.

e The Mineral Reserve fonnages and PGE-grades
are reported inclusive of internal and external
waste dilution.

Marikana orebody

e All dyke volumes are EXCLUDED from Mineral
Reserve estimations.

o A buffer zone of 2 5m o 5m either side of the

major faults and dykes has been EXCLUDED.

A pillar loss of 25% is applied in the

L]

underground section.
+ No underground or surface scalping is applied.

A mining loss of 2% is applied fo the ROM ore
{opencast and underground).

External waste dilution of 17% is applied
for the opencast areas and 15% for the
underground areas.

o A crown pillar of 20m between the opencast
and underground workings.

4 Shaokt

Marikana Mine
AQPSA

Marikana
! tributable.

1.32 376
5.29

52130 3.24 222 1065 3.24 1.1
507 318 052 = 2.53 3.18 026
979 3.33 3.19 | 1490 3.33 160

The following densities were applied:
e Topsoil and oxide ore ~ 3.0t/m’
e Transitional ore = 3.3t/m?
e Fresh ore — geostatistically estimated from
borehole data.

The lower metal prices instigaied revision of
the opencast highwall with the use of VWhitlle
pit opftimisations. The decreased opencast
highwall resulted in a total of 89 0000z reverting
from Opencast Proved Mineral Reserve fo

Underground Indicated Mineral Resource.

4 Shaft orebody

e All dyke volumes are EXCLUDED from Mineral
Reserve estimations.

e Pillar loss varies between 10% and 30%,
depending on the depth below surface.

# Scalping of waste material applied:
7% of Parting.

» A mining loss of 5% is applied to the ROM ore.




Operations review — Marikana Mine cont.

Mineral Reserves cont.

® Additional hangingwall diluion of varying  The increased ge

slogical losses for the southern
widths is applied where the width between  area resulied in a loss of 45,500 Reserve
the lowermost chromitite stringer in the  ounces.

hangingwall and the top of the leader Seam

is less than 0.3m.

Marikana Orebody — metal split 4 Shaft Orebody - metal split
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Operations review —

The Everest mine is located on the southern portion of the eastern limb of the
Bushveld Complex near the town of Mashishing (formerly lydenburg).

Review of the year

Following the subsidence and the resultant
geotechnical instability in the upper area of the
mine and in previously mined out areas around
the decline, operations at the Everest mine were
temporarily suspended on 8 December 2008.

Safety

In the five months of the financial year that
Everest was in operation, salely levels improved
with a DIR recorded for the half year of 0.58
per 200,000 hours worked compared fo 0.84
for the first six months of FY2008.

Production

In this time, Everest produced 64,068 PGM
cunces, equivalent to 14% of group atributable
production for the year. In total, 839,000 tonnes
were mined undesground with the original open-
pii operation having ceased in FY2008. This

was, however, less than had been planned.

Financial

Revenve for the period was adversely affected
by a 21% decline in the PGM basket price
received, decline in production, the temporary
suspension of operations and the repayment
of sales advances. Together these factors

Everest Mine

contributed to revenve of R274 million, 77%

down on the comparable period in FY2008.

Outlook

The subsidence stabilised towards the end of the
financial year. An independent rock engineering
specialist, in conjunction with the onmine rock
engineer, defermined through rock engineering
models and analysis that the subsidence s
limited to the affected area.

The subsidence was caused by the exceptionally

high levels of rainfall in November and

Everest — annual aftributable PGM

production {0000z)
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Operations review — Everest Mine cont.

2008  which
conditions specific fo the affected area. Stoping
and development areas were not affected by the
subsidence and it will be possible o resume
mining operations with the establishment of new
declines to the underground workings.

December affected  ground

Multiple access aliermnatives were evaluated and
the development of two new declines, one north
and one south of the original decline, was
identified os the most expedient and capital
efficient means to recommence operafions while
ensuring optimal longerterm placement of
infrastructure in terms of the orebody geomeiry.
The initial focus will be on the establishment of
the north decline, which will serve as the main
decline (including decline conveyors) while the
south decline will be used for ventilation, men
and materiol access. Capital of RS0 million has
been approved for the first phase of the project to
revestablish access to the workings: namely the
north  box cuf, storm  water
temporary and permanent services, access roqd,
initial - underground  development and  rock

management,

-89 000 Y 88 000 Y -87 000 Y

support. Excavation of the north decline box cut
began in June 2009, and will take approximately
six months fo complee.

The second phase will include the complefion
of the decline development, the establishment
of underground  services, the reclamation of
infrastructure, the equipping of declines and
strike sections, and the re-establishment of sioping
sections. Permanent surface infrastruciure, such
as mine services and overland conveyors will
also be complefed during this phase. This
preparation, coupled with early production from
the new open-pit area, will allow for the ramp-up
of underground production, with reef being
stockpiled  prior 1o the resumption of milling
operations.

Completion of Phase 2 and the rampup in
production to enable the process plant to resume
operating will iake approximately 10 months.
Preliminary capilal budget estimates confirm that
the capital requirement for the enfire project
[Phase 1 and 2) will be approximately R250 million.
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Mineral Resources

H

The 1ables below encompass the Mineral Resources and Mineral Resources after the application of
geological losses contained in the Everest mine.

Mineral Resources after application of
Mineral Resources geological losses

Everest Mine

i
Measured 7 3 Measured

Indicated 3.27 1.54 Indlicated 1.38
Inferred 2.74 Q.57 ‘«”f@U@d 0.51
tha! . 373

3.38 415 Total

88 000 Y 87 000 Y
.
3
2
@D
=
Everest Mine Mineral Resources
3 Measured
§ | Indicated
Inferred

1 Mined ouf
o

7

) g 7 Dyke

Notes on the Mineral Resource statement:  Everest Mine ~ metal split

e The Mineral Resource is inclusive of the
Mineral Reserve.

e The in situ corrected 4E grade is used for the

estimation of Mineral Resources.

All dyke volumes are EXCLUDED from Mineral

Resource and Mineral Reserve estimations.

A buffer zone of 10m either side of the major

dykes and faults has been EXCLUDED.

All infernal waste, encompassing mineralised

internal waste, is included in the Mineral

Resource estimations.

* Geological losses of 10% is app

Pt 58.8%

Pd 29.7%

L]

® Rh 10.5%

® Ay 1.0%

ied.




46

Operations review ~ Everest Mine cont.

Mineral Reserves

The table below encompass the Mineral R
I in Everest Mine.

ves
confain

Mineral Reserves

Prove 13.53 3.00 1.31
Foboble 742 289 069
Total 20.95 2.96 1.99
g/t = PraPeleh
89000 Y -88 000 Y &7 000 Y 86 000 ¥
/ i

=

r
\

SCALE

Dilution includes:

e Footwall allowable overbreak of 0.15m.

e A minimum hangingwall overbreak of 0.10m.

e Additional hangingwall dilufion up to the top
of the hangingwall shear if the width between
the bottom of the shear and the top of the reef
is less than 1.50m.

Densities applied:
e Hangingwall waste — 2.8t/m’

e Footwall waste — 3.11/m’
¢ Underground ore above 50m below

face — 3.3t/m®

Sur

X 000284

X800 v8s

Notes on the Mineral Reserve statement:
e The Mineral Reserve is quoted as fully diluted
delivered fo the plant.

All dyke volumes are EXCLUDED from Minercl

Reserve esfimations.

A buffer zone of 10m either side of the major

dykes and faults has been EXCLUDED.

A mining loss of 2% is applied to the ROM ore

in the underground section.

e All internal waste, encompassing mineralised
infernal waste, is included in the Mineral
Reserve estimations.

¢ No underground or suface scalping is

applied.

The Minetal Reserve for the new open pit

adjacent to the old decline has not vel been

included in the reserve estimate.

*

@

Everest Mine Mineral Reserves
Hi Proved

i Probable

Mined out

Dyke

" Pillars

e Underground ore below 50m below surface
- geostatistically estimated

Minimum stoping width:
e Breast mining — 1.50m
o Bord and pillar mining ~ 1.80m

Pillar losses:

o Breast mining 9./%

@ Bord and pillar mining
O-130m below suface - 11.1%
130-200m below surface — 14.8%
200-230m below surface — 16.7%

St
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Operations review —

Mimosa Mine is located in the southern part (the Wedza sub-chamber) of the
Great Dyke in Zimbabwe. It is situated approximately 450km south-south-west
of Harare and 30km west of Zvishavane by road.

Review of the year

Key statistics

FY2009 FY2008

Mimosa Mine

Tonnes milled M 2.11 1.73
Average grade (4E) a/t 3.60 3.57
Cost per PGM ounce {4k} $/0z 501 446

N Rl 4569 3,386
Revenue [net of foreign exchange sales variance] $m 61 126
Cost of sales $m {52) (39
Gross profit $m 9 87
Capital expenditure ; $m 48 33
Production — metal in concentrate oz ' o S
Platinum @1,520 76,565
Palladium 69,423 58,154
Rhodium 7170 5,966
Gold 11,909 10,148
Total PGM production 180,023 150,832
Total attributable PGM production 90,011 75416
Labour — total {including contraciors) 1,931 179

Safety

Overall safety performance continued to improve
with @ DIR of 0.10 for the year compared 1o
0.18in FY2008. Every effori was made o ensure
that the enhanced awareness of the importance
of safely wos sustained and management
participated in strategic safety sessions.

Production
In FY2009, Mimosa contributed 90,011 PGM
ounces or 20% fo group aliributable production.

Following the challenges of FY2008, Mimosa
had a more stable, steady year operationally in
FY2009, especially in the second hall of the
year. In particular, the instability that had been
experienced in the power grid was overcome
which facilitated operational Improvements.

Tonnes mined rose fo 2.1 1 TME anincrease ‘of
11%. Of this 2. 1Mt were processed and The
balance stackpiled to bring the stockpile at year-
end o7 235,765 tornes, equivalent 1o one
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Operations review — Mimosa Mine cont.

monih’s mill feed. The average head grade rose
by 1% to 3.60g/1t while recoveries fell marginally
fo 74%. This was due fo unsteady processing
operations in the first-and third quarters of
the year as a result of mill breakdowns. There was
however, a significant improvement in recoveries

in the last quarter. Overall, total PGM production
increased by 19% to 180,023 PGM ounces.

The Wedza Phase 5 expansion increased
monthly mill processing capacity 1o 175,000tpm.
This was followed by the commissioning of the
Wedza Phase 5.5 expansion which further
increased processing capacity fo 185,000tpm,
equivalent fo PGM production of approximately
197,000 ounces annually.

Conceptualisation work for the Wedza Phase 6
expansion project has began. It is anficipated
that implementation of this project will resuli in @
significant increase in processing capacity.

Financials
Revenue was adversely affected by the

26% PGM  baskel

decline in the

price

received of $931,/PGM ounce. This more than
countered the increase in production and
resulted in a 25% fall in revenue to $176 million
[$88 million attributable to Aquarius). The cash
margin for the year fell to 50%. Cash cost per
ROM tonne rtose 10% to $43/tonne while
cash costs per PGM ounce were 12% up
at $501. The dollarisation of the Zimbabwean
economy brought additional cost pressures to
bear on the operation as all salaries and
services are now priced in US dollars.
Contracts with various private and municipal
service providers have been revised and
materials, procurement and inventory are being
strictly managed.

Qutlook

The production target for FY2010 is around
197,000 PGM ounces, which is full production
capacity. There are no major expansion plans
in the short to midterm period. The curent
operations  will, however, be optimised
from nameplate capacity of 185,000tmp to
195,0001pm of milled ore.

Mimosa — annual attributable PGM
production {0000z)
100

80

FY2005 FY2006 FY2007 FY2008 FY2009




Mineral Resources

The tables below encompass the Mineral Resources contained in the South Hill {including oxidised
zones} and North Hill areas at a sioping width of 2.0m.

South Hill: Mineral Resources based on a 2.0m cut (after application of geological losses)

Mimosa = S

Measured 3074 3.90 0.14 01
Indicated 26.89 3.54 014 012
Inferred 1503 385 013 012

3.70 0.13 012

grad

North Hill: Mineral Resources based on a 2.0m cut {after application of geological losses)
Mimesa - North Hill

0.1

Notes on the Mineral Resource statement:  The above Mineral Resources have taken into
e Measured and Indicaled Mineral Resources  account the following loss factors:
are reported inclusive of Proved and Probable  ® Measured Resource — 6% for dykes, faults and
Mineral Reserves respectively. joints, 5% for washouts and abnormal reef;

®

Indicated Resoutce — 6% for dykes, faults and

®

Mineral Resources are quoted af a 2.0m cut
compared to 2.0m in FY2008 and 1.95m joints, 8% for washouts and abnormial reef;
in FY2007 as a result of the conversion of inferred Resource — 6% for dykes, faults and
mining methods from a combination of semi- jcints, 8% for washouts and abnormal reef;

mechanised and mechanised to a fully @ Oxides and bad ground — 13% for dykes,
mechanised bord-and-pillar operation. taults and joints, 8% for washouts and
e The North Hill Resource esfimate was revised abnormal reef;
afier the inclusion of the 2006 exploration  ® North Hill Inferred Resouice — 14% geological
drilling programme and is now only based on losses.
the new assay data. e Known anomalous zones and  washout
e In sitv grades have been used for the channels have been excluded from the
estimation of Mineral Resources. Mineral Resources.
¢ Defermination of the economic channel is @ Oxide material is quoted separately as on-
based on opfimisation of the PGE metal going  mefallurgical testwork is  being
content only (excluding base mefal content). conducted fo verify the economic viability of
* No pillar losses have been applied fo the these resources.

Mineral Resources.




Operations review — Mimosa Mine cont.

Mineral Resources cont.

BO0O0C Y 85000 Y PO ROOY
)

&

2

&

L North Hill
. ' Mimosa Mineral Resources
| Measured

Indicated
Inferred

5 . Bad ground

8

it Inferred oxides
Anomalous zone

' Mined out
Qe Hili !
South Hill Dyke
o 2009 exploration borehole

5

it

&

St

0 1 ke
SCAL S
A tofal of 14 exploration boreholes have e assay dato are not yel available for
been drilled in the Phase 6 area and remainder of the holes

10 bareholes in the western portion of the South
Hill orebody: The platinum grade for the Measured Resource
e assay data from six holes have been included  decreased from 1.935g/1 to 1.932g/t due to

in the resource esfimation the additional driflhole information in close
ow-grade area.

ow  proximity to the

thiee holes improved delineation of the
grade area in the southern portion of the

orebody
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Operations review — Mimosa Mine cont.

Mineral Reserves

The tables below encompass the Mineral Reserves contained in the South Hill area at a stoping width
of 2.0m. Current practice af Mimosa is 11 mechanised sections including down-dip development as
well as a half semimechanised feam.

South Hill: Mineral Reserves based on a 2.0m cut

Mimo South Hill

Proved 16.31 368 | 1.93 014 012
Probable L1692 333 18] 015 | 012
+P0RheAu)

g.

Notes on the Mineral Reserve statement:
The above Mineral Reserves have been quoted
as fully diluted delivered to the plont.

Each individual metal has the following decrease/increase from:

In situ fo blasted grades D% 2% 2% 18%  +1% +2%
Blasted 1o mill feed grades 6% 6% 3% 5k +2% 0%

The following losses have been applied duing M asa Mine ~ metal split

conversion from a Mineral Resource to a Mineral

Reserve:

e Proved ~ 13% pillar loss {ranging between
10.4% and 20.8%) and 7% loss for blasted 1o

P 48.8%
% Pd 38.8%

hoisted fonnages;

@ Rh 4.5%
s Probable — 12% pillar loss and 7% loss for
@ Au 7 9%

blasted to hoisted tonnages.

The platinum grade increased from 1.916g/1 fo
1.95g/1 due to exploration boreholes in the
mined out area being removed from the
estimation database.

i
gt




Mineral Reserves cont.
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Mimosa Mineral Reserves
& Proved
14
o Probable
L Mined out
B rnomalous zone
% Dykes
2 N .
. 3 2009 exploration borehole

X000 LS

SCALE:

O G

\),,w:;o ;,f” e G «(;,, S ‘U\\‘V,’r"“(‘j“\‘h‘\!’,\’f“,’\\é’\'(«u e ”,\’ m,?n"’
i f m ,>,> "M\:\cj’,\v; "%’)’Hw\\ R i i

A S L »r»;‘/\“/«r"}"“\“”\ i

o K e L

‘J’r(f\‘v'()\fi\‘\fw/ f,o i \’“’,‘}Q/,/(:\,’;,},\(\y\”,’\,h \L/mr{/» ‘\;\\‘?)‘}7)?:5:"\’ (y\\,\\’,\(\,,\,m\‘ \4”;\‘

i »m,\,\ i )w,/\, \\/lw\‘y\,‘})/‘7‘\'”\7\ g n;w, i i ,,/, g “’f”";g\:,\‘; :r/\‘/;( ‘,‘\,

i x,f,,,
g

i

R
S i
Zr \;J\W %;’«M/,m ‘7/\'0'&\»\ i i
i \‘u’r\\\/“» i i i
“”’;\\»(;’/\/'/»,1/{/’ e :
e :,\;m;\,\ :




544

Operations review —

Chrome Tailings

Retreatment Plant (CTRP)

Review of the year

Key statistics

' FY2009 FY2008*

Tonnes processed 000 246.6 274
Average head grade g/t 2.34 4.20
Cost per PGM ounce R/oz 3,003 2,666
‘ $/0z 332 369

Revenue [net of fareign exchange sales variance) $m 2.6 1.1
Crrmine cash costs $m 2.3 4.2
Gross profit $m 0.3 6.9
Capital expenditure ROOO 711 5617
- $000 79 777
Production of metal in concentrate oz o I
Platirum 4,145 6,114
Palladium 1,512 2,201
Rhodium 1,151 1,513
Gold 15 22
Total PGM production 6,824 9,849
Total atiributable PGM production 3,412 4,924

Safety
Both the DIR and the number of fatalities at the
CTRP were O for the yecr.

Production

Tonnes processed declined by 10% for the year to
246,600 fonnes, a result mainly of variations in
the current arisings from the chromife processing
plant currently supplying CTRP and secondly, the
relocation of the reclamation faciliies on the
chrome dump.

Head grade fell ioo to 2.34g/1, a consequence of
the increased freaiment of the lowergrade material
located af the outer edges of the failings dam, one
of the sources of tailing supply to the plant. Grade
was further negatively influenced by the high
levels of offreef development undertaken by the
chromite  mining operafions currently  supplying
the chromite recovery plant which supplies the
CTRP plant.

The ongoing optimisation of the fine grind circuit
resulied ina significant increase in recoveries, with
an average recovery for the yearof 38%.

lower feed grade resulted in a 31% decline overall
in PGM produciion fo 6,824 PGM ounces, of

which 3,412 ounces were atiribuiable fo Aquarius.

Financial

As the concentiate produced by CTRP is relatively
thodiumerich, its coniribution fo group revenue was
negatively affecied by the slump in the rhodium
price during the year. The reduced levels of PGM
production together with lower prices received led
to o fall in revenue. Although costs rose in rand
ferms these were lower in dollar ferms. Reduced
melal prices and reduced output led 1o a
significant reduction in the cash margin 1o 26%
from 83% in the previous year.

Qutlook

CTRP  continves 1o perform  well.  This
performance has been greally improved with the
successes achieved in the milling circuit which
delivered a much improved recovery from: the
plant for the financial year. looking forward,
significant effort will be directed at securing
medium- and long-term tailings supply sources for
the plant. Significont progress has been made in
this regard.

gt




Operations review — Platinum Mile

Review of the year

Key statistics

: FY2009 FY2008*

Tonnes processed Mt 8.7 3.2
Average head grade g/t 0.67 0.73
Cost per PGM ounce R/oz 3,586 7,890
; ; $/0z 398 1,012
Revenue (net of foreign exchange sales variance] $m 6.8 6.6
Onmine cash coss $m 4.3 4.6
Gross profit $m 2.5 2.0
Capifal expenditure Rm 53.3 4.7
- - ;, g 60 03
Production of metal in concentrate oz
Platinum 9,484 4,047
Palladium 5,069 2,197
Rhodium 1,471 661
Gold 329 135
Total PGM production 16,353 7,040
Total atiributable PGM production 8,176 3,520
Labour ~ total {including confractors) 61 51
* for the period March 2008 = June 2008 - ’ ’
Safety Financial

The DR for the vear was zero and there were
no fatalities.

Operation

The Platinum Mile plant processed 8.7Mt for the
full year at an average head grade of 0.67g/1
as compared fo a grade of 0.73g/1 in FY2008.
Recaveries of 9% were recorded for the year.

Total PGM production was 16,353 ounces of
which 8,176 ounces were affributable o
Aquarius.

As part of the planned opfimisation project,
the first of two new ulrafine-grind Deswick
mills was commissioned. The mills will make @
significant contribution to higher metal recoveries
for the plant.

Capital expendilure on the plant optimisation
roject fotalled -R53 million. {R27.: million
atiibutable 1o Aquarivs] for the year.

The results for the vear are not comparable
with those of FY2008 as Platinum Mile only
contributed to the Aquarius group for four months
of that year. The average basket price received
for the year was $855 per PGM ounce and
aitribuiable revenue was RG4.5 million. Cash
costs of R3,586 per PGM ounce were down, a
result of increased volumes processed.

Outlook

Torgel production remains at 35,000 POM
ounces annually, this level of production should
be achieved in the first half of FY2010, once the
commissioning of the plant optimisation project
has been concluded.




Operations review — Regulatory compliance

The Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves for
Aquarius were prepared under the guidance of
the company's Competent Persons who are duly
registered with the South African Council for
Natural Sciendific Professions (SACNASP). This
ensures that the Mineral Resource statements are
compliant with the SAMREC code which is
analogous with the JORC code. The company's
Competent Persons have faken inio account the
definifions included in both codes and the
Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve quantities
reporied here are considered 1o be fully
compliant in all material aspects 1o the
requirements of both codes.

Definitions of the different Mineral Resource and
Mineral Reserve calegories, the requirements
for reporting of exploration resulis as well as
the requirements for qualification as a Competent
Person can be found in the expanded Mineral
Resource and Mineral Reserve Technical Statement
2009 which is available on the Aquarius
corporate website, www.aquariusplatinum.com.
These definitions may also be found by downloading
the SAMREC code af www.samcode.co.za or
the JORC code al www.jarc.org/main.php.




Operations review —

The Competent Persons of the Mineral Resources
and Mineral Reserves and technical statements
have siriven to rteport in an unbiased and
balanced manner and acknowledge the release
of this document info the public domain by
Aquarius Platinum Lidl.

Competent persons for mining
operations:

A. (Adrian) Colloty (B.Sc.Homs., Pr. Sci.
400110/06}). Adrian Colloly has nine years'

experience in the platinum industry.

}.E. {Ernie} Venter (B.Sc.Hons.,,
400241 /07, GSSA 60352).

40024 /07 GSSA 60 352) Emle \/enfa: has

16 years” experience in the platinum industry.

All Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve
estimations for AQPSA mines were audited by
an independent Competent Person:

FH. (ina) Cilliers [M.Sc., Pr. Sci. Nat,
400032,/02, GSSA 965781) Ina Cilliers has
22 years’ experience in the mining industry, of
which 13 vears have been in platinum mining.

. Sc., Pr. Sci. Nat. 20002/05)
Dumisani Mapundu has 18 years’ experience
in the mining industry, 15 years of which have
been in platinum mining.

An audit of Mimosa's Resource and Reserve
estimates is conducted annually by:

FH. {lna) Cilliers (M. ch Pr. Sci. Nat.
400032/02, GSSA 96578 - on behalf of
Aquarius) and

JJ. (Seef) Vermaak (M.Sc., Pr. Sci. Mat.
400015/88 — on behalt of Implats). Ina
Cilliers has 22 years' experience in mining and
exploration (13 years of which have been in
the platinum mining industryl and  Seef
Vermaak, 23 years” experience in ihe platinum
mining inclustry.

Competent persons

Competent persons for projects:

. [Adrian) ty | .
400110/06). Adkrian Co/ofy has o years
experience in the plafinum industry.

?WM A 1 e
0 /W@A@Q’] #ﬁ‘ .* 5

[Ernie) Venter

ons., Pr. Sci.

2C.

/’0024 /07, GSSA 60352). Emie Venler has

16 years experience in the platinum industry.

C. {Cecilia) Hattingh [B.Sc.Hons., Pr. Sci.
Nat. 400019/03, GSSA 963902 Cecilia
Hatiingh has 12 years' experience in the
industry, of which nine years have been in the
platinum sector.

Co-signatories

The following technical specialisis were also
involved in the preparation of the Mineral Reserves
and have appropriate experience in their field of
experfise 1o the activity thai they are undertaking
and consent 1o the inclusion in the repart of the

matters based on their technical information in the
form and context in which it appears.

A. {Anton) Lubbe (B.Sc. [Mining), GDE, MBA)

Operations Director: West.

A. (Anton} Lubbe (B.Sc. (Mining), GDE, MBA)
Operations Director: West.

A. [Anton) Wheeler (Pr Tech Eng, ECSA 2004
70061). Operations Director: East.

(Harber?} S. Mashanyare | aC,’ M Phil,
/\/\Sc Eng, DIC). Technical Director: Mimosa
Mining Company.

Curriculum vitae for the cosignatories may be
found on pages 72 to 74 in the section on
Operotiona1 management.
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Operations review

Exploration for Mimosa Mine was limited fo

i

Duting the past

infill drilling in the orebody. g

&

financial year, a tolal of 14 boreholes were

drilled of which three improved the delineation
i

of the low-grade area in the southemn

portion of the orebody. Apart from the Mimosa

mining right, Aquarius does not hold options,

Exploration review
claims or prospeciing rights 1o any other PGE-

mineralisation in Zimbabwe.

Exploration drilling in South Afica entailed m‘i»l?
drilling on existing mines as well as execution of
the exploration programmes as described in the
prospecting works programmes of the granted

prospecting righls.

Location of Aquarius’ exploration projects and prospects on the Bushveld Complex

A AQPSA projects or mines

)her PGM exploration

Amand

Union -

S

Bofokeng

RPM
Rasimone e

i ¢ Eland Platinum
Impala
Townlands ——

Kroondal =~
Marikana

Exploration activities

Project

Western Sterkfontein

Resource
quqcem o twi est Mine
(,hlemlns Plain Chieftains Plain
Nalhalla Walhalla

Zondermaam Kaffernek, Die

DSIO0!,

{Bokgaga and Minkx)
Tabakplaats
Molsgar

heba's Ridge

targel the Mineral Resources iabulated bel

Fonteinplaats, Grooldraai,

Zondernaam

Messina  /
/
lebowa
 Marvlo

.
 Modikwa

_ Two Rivers
_— Vygenhoek
Chieftains/Walhalla

Everest
Hoogland

Blue Ridge

Category

Inferred Mineral Resource

UG2 Reet
Merensky Reef Inferred Mineral Resource
UG2 Reef

Merensky Reef
tic;z |

erred Minerol Resource

lmferroc | Mineral Resource
wfewed Mineral Resource
Reef

Sk\/ ?<Gf>{

Exploration in progress

Exploration in progress

. Zondernaam,
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1850 ' New oider prospecting right for PGMs
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Opemf:@ns review — Exploration review cont.

Tﬁwzziﬁncfs Preieci'

The TOWF]Qﬂdo prospect is located adjgcent
35t of the Townlands block of -

and 1o the oufh
 Kroondal Min oromically, the addition o Fihe
prospecting rght crea 1o the existing Townlands
b!ock viiil xiend the life of mine by tpto:1 5

1 xplen}hon boreholas were dilled during
Q’“{EQO‘? Jo date, the exploration
et @mgefed 12 boreholes with or

sfogramme
O,@H@wl@ﬂ

~ Minerol Resources

Meosured
\nd{cafed .

gmde o
Mine: The Mine
Proje

Minerel Resources whter application cﬁi
getlogical losses -

623
588
645

30

HO05 e

2z

%

qmdes aie repcmmﬁ eﬂxciusw@ o{ exeral
waste dl tfion,

the estimation of Mmefu] Resoume&

Townlands Prospect Mineral Resources

» The geosialistically estimated density is used

forthe chiomitite and 3. 12t

miterial:
lcal losses applied: 28 0%

S Awaiste




Hoogland Project

The Hoogland Rescurce s located approximately
12k directly south of the Everest Mine orebody.
The UGY Reeb occurs s an outcrop or subr
ouicrop: around most of the. perimefer of the two
srosional cutliers. - The UG2 Reef infersected i
the exploration - boreholes resembles that - of
the Everest orebody i that it consists of an
upper chromitite ond o lower chiomitite seam,
swith-or without-an -intermal waste” band occuring
within the chromitite:

The exploration progrdrmme began subseqgiient o
the granting of the prospecting right for the
Hoogland erebody by the DMR. This consisied of
field  reconnaissance mapping - fo- confirm -~ the

Mineral Resourees

Indicated
Inferied

4.32
7.33

2.68
2.88

scciirence and - event of the UG2 Reel os
previously -documented. Aninitial borehole
D) was drilled on the Hoogland Project area
in the central part of the orebody in the latier part
ot 2003

The second phase of drilling commenced in
Maich 2007, During this phase, 35 cored holes
were difled Tor & tolal lengih ot 3,503.97m.
Of these holes, 21 intersected the UG2 Reef.
All boreholes were geologically logged and the
ek interssctions - sampled and submified  for
assaying. The geclogical model has been revised
and the Minsral Resouice reestimated based on
all available informatior:

Mineral Resources after application of

geological losses

Total

| AF ertde (PrePdeRh

B6:600Y.

7000 Y

|
|

|

00T 5L

KO0 98L

K000 L8L

Hoogland Project Minerdl Resources

Indicoted
" nferred
A Dyke

@ Exploration borehole




Operations review - Exploration review cont.

Hoogland Project cont.

Notes on the Mineral Resource siatement: e The qaosic ally estimated density s used.
* The Mineral Resource fonnages and PGE e A buffer zone of 10m eilbier side of the major

grades are repc’m&%’%:] “elkes b | EXCHD :

waste diluion: ' : o The Mireral Resour yUpper ond
o he insity cottectec POE grade s us :

the astimation of Mineral Resouices.




Vygenhoek Project

Aquarivs dcquired  the mineral fights over’ the
sastern ‘quarter of the Everest. North UG2
Resource on the farm Vygerhosk 10 JT: fom
Implats in the year 2000: The mineral right was
subsequenily converted 1o a new order right i
terms of the MPRDA.

The - Vygenhoek - Project is - situated 3 5k

southwest ol the town: of Mashishing and 30km

st of Roossenckal in Mpumalanga South

- The exploration of the. Wgenhosk

“prospect. |

explaration: agréement enfered info betwveen
AQIPSA and Sylvania Resources-Ud.

being underiaken “inferms ol an

Mineral Resources

0.51

5.11 0.51

Mineral Resources [affer application of
geological losses)

Notes on the Mineral Resource statement:
o The ‘Mineral “Resource tonnages “and” PGE
grades are reported: exclusive’ of infernal and
extemnal waste dilution.
The in situ corrected AF PGE grade is used for
the estimation of Mineral Resources.
All-dyke volumes are EXCLUDED from:Mineral
Resource estimations.
The geostatistically estimated density is used,
Geological losses applied: 10.0%

The deposiional- model of the UG2 Reef being
explored for is thought 1o have been deposited in
synclinal stuctures inthe floor tocks in- which
rinstalisation has “ponded” such as at Aguarivs’
Everest South and Marikana Mines on' the eastem
and western limbsof “the  Bushveld - Complex
respeciively. g

frenching os well s surface mapping. In folal
seven Trenches “were ~dug-and - 2 1 boreholes
drifled resulting in 62 UG2 Reet  infersections

The: exploration programme cornsisted of drilling;

for o total “of - 22635 25m dilled. “The Mineral -

Resource s indicaied below has - subsequently
been reestimaled.

8600 Y B5000Y

%000 124

Vygenhoek Project- Mineral Resources
Measured
Dyke
& Exploration borefole
= Trerch




Operations review — Exploration review cont.

Sterkfontein Prospect

The Sterkfontein Resource is a confinuation of the
Everest orebody under the Groot Dwars River
towards the western boundary of the Everest
Mine mining license tenements, and occurs at
depths of 0-110m below the river. The Resource
consists of two erosional outliers, with the UG2
occurring as oulcrop or suboutcrop on the
eastern side. The outcrop positions have been
mapped in the field and handheld GPS co-
ordinates of these positions were used to create
the Resource boundary. There is no indication
that the stratigraphy, lithology or geological
structure would be different fo that encountered
at the Everest Mine orebody.

This prospect resides under the mining right
granted to Everest Mine and exploration will
only commence after completion of the
Hoogland project.

Chieftains Plain and
Walhalla Prospects

Two prospecting rights on the farms Chiefiains
Plain and Walhalla were granted by the DMR.
Since these two prospects on the eastern limb of
the Bushveld Complex are adjacent to each
other and their exploration activities in the
prospecting works programme overlap, they will
be reported as one project. Reconnaissance
field mapping of the project area was completed
and an aeromagnetic survey conducted. Based
on the interpretation of the aeromagnetic data, a
target area on each of the farms was identified.
Focusing on these delineated targets, a drilling
programme commenced in October 2008 and
two boreholes with a total core length of
4,648.86m have been drilled, one on each
farm. The exploration drilling will continue as per
the prospecting works programme. Aerial
photography will also be conducted during
FY2010.
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The borehole cores from the three boreholes
previously drilled' by Implats on Walhalla were
purchased and transported to the core shed at
Everest Mine.

Zondernaam Project

Aquarius Platinum Limited through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, ASACS, concluded the
consolidation of a number of exploration
properties info a special purpose vehicle know
as Zondernaam Mining. The consolidation
included the exploration rights of Bakgaga
Mining (Pty) Ltd and that of MinEx Projects
{Pty) Lid. This consolidation brings together a total
of seven contiguous farms approximately 35km
east of Lebowakgomo in the Limpopo Province
to the north of the Phosiri dome, and to the
west of the producing lebowa Mine. Once the
required regulatory processes have been
concluded, ASACS will have a 74% interest
in Zondernaam Mining, with Bakgaga Mining
holding a 26% interest.

The exploration programme on the Zondernaam
properfies has been on-going for a number of
years and commenced with reconnaissance
field mapping, coreviewing and description, a
re-inferprefation of the existing geological
data, a radiometric survey and ultimately an
aeromagnetic survey. Deepening of an exploration
borehole drilled by Bakgaga Mining resulted
in a Merensky Reef infersection with very
promising results. Exploration drilling has been
continued over the last year with a total core
length of 4,471.07m being drilled from
two exploration boreholes. Although at depths
exceeding 1,500m below surface, both the
Merensky and UG2 Reefs were infersected and
the assay results received are encouraging.



Corporate citizenship — a summary

Agquarius is committed to ethical and responsible conduct in all aspects of its
business, and to act in compliance with the laws and regulations of countries
in which it does business. Aquarius recognises that its operations can, and will
have an impact on the communities and natural environment, and is
committed to achieving an appropriate balance between the economic, social
and environmental spheres of its business.

The Group produces an annual Corporate
Citizenship Report, which will be published in
November 2009. This report, which has been
developed in line with the Global Reporting
Initiative’s {GRI} G3 guidelines, provides further
information on the operations directty managed
by Aquarius, through its subsidiary AQPSA, and
some information on Mimosa.

The following is a summary drawn from that report.

Approach to sustainable
development

Aquarius acknowledges that it has a
responsibility to its stakeholders — shareholders,
employees, contractors, local communities,
governments, and investors. The Group is
commitied to operating efficiently and profitably,
while at the same time ensuring the well-being of
its employees — this responsibility also extends to
the employees of contractors who work on site.
The Company engages with and is considerate
of the communities living in areas where it
operates and every effort is made to preserve
and conserve the environment of which it is a
custodian. The consumption of scarce resources,
such as water and power, is monitored and
measured, and Aquarius is parficipating in
the response fo the global challenge of climate
change.

Given that the Company’s primary operations
are located in South Africa, compliance with the
targets set in the Broad-Based SocioEconomic
Charter for the South African Mining Industry

{the Mining Charter] and its accompanying
Scorecard, which have been developed in
alignment with the Mineral and Pefroleum
Resources Development Act (MPRDA}, are
deemed to be critical. The Company submits
annual reports to the Department of Mining
Resources [DMR) on its compliance with the
Social and Labour Plans {SLPs) that the Company
has developed to meet these targets, as
well as its compliance with its environmental
management plans (EMP) and mine works plans

(MWVPs).

Code of conduct

The Aquarius Code of Conduct has been
developed by the Board to provide an ethical
and legal framework within which all employees
conduct the business of the Company.

The Aquarius Board and management have a
clear commitment to the Code of Conduct,
which covers the following:

e Conflicts of interest

* legal and regulatory compliance

¢ Corporate opportunities

 Confidentiality

® Fair dealing

e Use of company assets

¢ Shareholder value

e Trading in company securities

e Political donations

® Fairness and equity in the workplace

* Health and safety

¢ HIV & AIDS, and

® The environment
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A summary of the Code of Conduct is
available on the corporate  website,
www.aquariusplatinum.com.

Risk management — strategic
risk oversight

As an integral part of its corporate governance,
Aquarius has adopted a continuous review
process whereby strategic risks are identified,
monitored and actively managed through the
allocation of appropriate resources to address
such risks. These include: risks related to
sustainability.

* Safety, health and environmental performance,
with the aim of achieving the goal of ‘zero
harm’;

Attracting and retaining the requisite skills, and
ensuring that structures are in place to deliver
on production objectives, in an efficient
manner, as set out in the Group’s stated
strategic plan. The Company places an
emphasis on organisational diversity and
improved employee engagement and
participation in all business activities; and
Maintaining unit production costs in the lowest
quartile of the industry.

Maintaining the safe, efficient and productive

use of contractors on key operations of
the Group.
® Maintaining effective project management
processes and skills to ensure successful
project implementation and delivery on our
operations.
Protecting and maintaining the security and
reliability of physical assets.
Retaining process, systems and technological
competitiveness.
Continually reviewing, evaluating and
developing growth opportunities for the Group
through acquisition, organic growth and
exploration.
Refaining permission fo operate, on a fully
compliant basis, within a dynamic legal and
regulatory environment.
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* Managing the socio-political uncertainties that
affect the Zimbabwe operation.

® Addressing relevant issues regarding corporate
responsibilit, and being recognised as a
good corporate citizen in the countries and
communities in which the Company operates.

® Ensuring that impacts on the business in terms
of utility supply disruptions are minimised.

® Ensuring that risks associated with suppliers
and logistics are minimised.

* Managing, through appropriate health
policies, the impact of HIV & AIDS on
employees.

Economic empowerment

Black economic empowerment {BEE} is a vital

policy instrument to broaden the economic base

of South Africa and to stimulate greater

economic growth and employment.

Aquarius contributes to BEE by:

® Turing fo account assets or portions of assets
that were previously believed to be
unavailable, and through the equity ownership
of its operations by BEE entities.;

® Job creation and personal development of
employees;

® Implementation of procurement practices that
promote the creation and development of
smalk and mediumsized enferprises while
favouring those classed as being previously
disadvantaged.

At yearend, the Savannah Resources Consortium
{SavCon), a leading BEE entity, held a 20%
stake in Aquarius. SavCon consists of three
individual companies:

e Savannah Resources, a blackowned mining
and resources invesiment company focussing
on precious and nonferrous metals mining in
South Africa. Headed by Zwelakhe Sisuly,
Savannah Resources forms the core of the
BEE consortium.

e Chuma Holdings, a BEE fund owned by
women and led by Andy Kawa and HRH
Princess Zenani Mandela-Dlamini. The primary
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beneficiaries of the fund are two trusts created
to benefit HDSAs in the fields of education,

health and social weltare. Chuma is a private
company incorporated in Chuma Holdings
[Pty Limited.

Malibongwe, a controlled investment of

the Malibongwe Women's Development
Organisation, a nongovernment, non-profit
organisation focusing on the women of South
Alrica, and an the plight of the poorest of the

cor in particular.
P P

In line with the procurement guidelines and
targels sef in the MPRDA and the Mining Charier
regarding the progressive transformation of the
South  African  economy, AQPSA has  given
preferred supplier stalus o HDSA companies,
and some 79% of the Group’s expenditure in
FY2009 was with BEE companies.

Safety and health

Safety is o prority for Aguarivs, and a
key performance evaluation parameter for
management, employees and contractors alike.

AQPSA = FIFR per 200,000 hours worked
0.05.

0.0A'
0.03
0.02 .
0.01

FY2007. FY2008 FY200%

There was an improvement in safety performance
during the vyear. Regrettably, however, three
faicliies (FY2008: nine) were reporied during
the review period: two at Kroondal and one
at Marikana. The Board and management of

Aquarius extend their condolences to the families

and colleagues of:

o My Siyabonga Hlungwani, fitter assistant,
an employee of former mining contractor
Redpath Mining, at Kroondal's K& shalt, on
5 September 2008

e M. Castigo Machel, a lood haul dumper

operator and employee of Redpath Mining, at

the Kroondal Mine on 18 December 2008

M. Victor Ndou, a mechanical assistant and

employee of MCC Contracts at the Marikana
mine, on / January 2009.

The fatal injury incidence rate (FIFR) for AQPSA
of 0.03 per 200,000 hours worked was 24%
lower than in FY2008, while the disabling
injury incidence rafe (DIR], was 0.86 per

200,000 hours worked.

AQPSA ~ DIIR per 200,000 hours worked
1.0

o.sE
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During  the year, ‘Aquarius embarked on an
intensive safety risk review  process. During
investigations, it became: apparent that the focus
of the assessment areas reeded 1o be expanded
in” terms -of ‘the baseline risks for the Group.
Initially, expanded “risk” reviews will focus on
the four primary risk areas, namely falls of
ground, trackless mobile machinery, belis and
underground fire. The process has resulted in
improved safety management measures, as
well as the means fo improve and susiain safe
behaviour at all its operations. A successful pilot
programme using computer simulated training fo
demonstiate a fall of ground accident and its
consequences, as well as beltrelated accidents
was implemented at Everest. The programme was
so well received that it is now being exponded o
incorporate frackless equipment accidents too.
The programme is fo be rolled out at Kroonddal
and Marikana during the next financial year.

The rollout of the Groupwide corporate
strategy also has a positive impact on safety
performance. The behaviourbased Areboleleng
inifiative reinforces this sirategy and embeds the

o : ) ‘
values of working safely as a team. Kroondol
mine achieved a significant milestone when
it recorded one million fatality free shifts during

+

the year It is encouraging that the Group

Employees and contractors-{30 June 2009}

recorded o period of six faidlityfree calendar
months during the year.

Health

The Group's occupational health pariner, Platinum
Health, is based in Rustenburg and offers AQPSA
employees quality medical care at an affordable
rate. In addition to the hospitol available 1o
employees, two 24-hour clinics are siationed at
Kroondal and Marikana, both of which are
manned by professional nursing stoff. Platinum
Health also provides ambulance and emergency
services as well as immediate life support, both
above and below ground,

From an occupational health point of view, noise-
induced hearing loss (NIHL) and iuberculosis
[TB} present the greatest challenges. Ongoing
medical surveillance of all employees and
confractor  employees ensures  thot  these
ilnesses are identified and treated as early as
possible, and that trectment and compensation
are provided.

Human capital

All the Group's South African aperations reported
an improvement in industrial relations following
the introduction of the Areboleleng inifiative.

FY2009
QPSA ~‘Cop0mae and
management division 19 O
Kroondal 28 4,483
Marikana 11 1,628
Everest™ 47 0
Platinum Mile 4 57
Total {excluding Mimosa) Q0 6,168
Mimosa (50%} B o 81? ]54
Total (including Mimosa) 921 6,322

*Af the end of [

i SANG
fas at june 2009
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At the end of June 2009, the Group employed

7,243 people, employess 13% employees and
8/% contractors. This excludes 1,867 employees
who left the Company in December 2008,
following the temporary cessation of operations at
Everest mine.

Employee tumover for the Group femployees
directly employed by Aquarius) as a whole
was 38% lexcluding those employees who left
the Company as a resull of the cessation
of operations at Fverest]. This was mainly a result
of restructuring at Kroondal and Marikana as
well as af the metallurgical and the safety, health
and environment departments.

Mining and processing operations af Kroondal
and Marikana continue o be underiaken largely
by specidlist contractors. In FY2009, these were
further consolidated under the contractor Murray
and Roberts Cemeniation.

AQPSAs  SiPs  continue fo address the
requirements of the MPRDA, including human
resource development, skills development, the
recruitment and  advancement of histerically
disadvantaged  South  Africans {HDSAs] and
women in mining, as well as local economic
development.

Al the end of June 2009, around 9% of AQPSA's
workforce was made up of women in mining,
and 39% of management were HDSAs.

Training and development continued fo be a
significant area of focus, with almost all AQPSA
and contracior employees having undergone
various  training  programmes  during  the
vear. Altention confinved o be paid o adult
basic education and fraining [ABET), with
733 employees (including contracior employees|
having participated in ABET.

During the review period, AQPSA supported
18 bursars/interns [FY2008: 18} in the following
fields of study: electrical engineering, mechanical
engineering, and meia
engineering.

lurgical and chemical

Collective bargaining struciures are in place at
all AQPSA operations, and are largely run under
the auspices of the confracior companies. A fofal
of 80% of employees were members of a union
in FY2009, with the primary unions represented
being the National Union of Minewarkers
INUM]} [62%), and Solidarity {35%].

Respect for human rights is enfrenched within the
constitution and labour relations regulations in
both South Afiica and Zimbabwe. Collective
bargaining and freedom cf association, forced
labowr, child labour and indigenous rights are
also all encapsulated within the  Company’s
code of practice. These rights are not deemed to
be under threat by the Company af any of ifs
operations, although the right to siike is couse
for concern in Zimbabwe.
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HIV & AIDS

HIV & AIDS remains a national health priority in
southern Africa. In South Africa, AQPSA and its
contractors have in place HIV & AIDS
programmes, and voluntary counselling and
testing (VCT) is offered ot all operations. In
FY2009, employees were tested, with HIV-
positive employees being referred to a
practitioner or clinic. All employees and their
dependents have access to antiretroviral
treatment {ART).

Community development

During the review period, the Group has
supported many worthy community development
initiatives, primarily focusing on local economic
development and the uplifiment of those
communities closest to its operations.

Maior projects underiaken include:

¢ The formalisation of the lapologang village
into an officially certified township in
December 2008 and its official handover to
the Rustenburg Llocal Municipality (RLM)
in May 2009. lapologang is located
approximately 2km from Marikana mine, on
part of the land purchased for mining acfivity.
Before the formalisation of Lapologang,
AQPSA entered into a service level agreement
with the RIM in terms of which Marikana mine
would provide the village with basic essential
services and management of the village for a
period of five years. By formalising
lapologang, each household received a fitle
deed confirming the ownership of the land
and property in which they live.

Funding of the construction of a new
administration block at a cost of more than
R1.25 million at Retief Primary School. The
new building has been handed over to the
North West Province Department of
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Education. This has alleviated space constraints
at the school, thus benefiting leamers from
Lapologang and the surrounding communities.
AQPSA, together with local landowners and
the RIM, devised a development plan for
the informal setflement of lkemeleng, located
adjacent to the Kroondal mine. The plan,
which is seen as being integral to the
longterm sustainability of lkemeleng, is
intended to help achieve coordinated
development in a way that promotes health,
safety, order and general welfare as well as
efficiency, economy and participation in the
development process.

Formalisation of lkemeleng as a fully
recognised township and hand over to the
RLM in much the same way as was
lapologang within the next financial year.
However, as lkemeleng has not yet been
formalised and handed over to RIM, this
setlement does not yet qualify for the provision
of basic services from the RIM. To alleviate the
situation Kroondal provides Ikemeleng with
20,000 litres of water daily from tankers
situated in the settlement as well as the rental
of 150 fully serviced chemical toilets. The tofal
cost of these services in FY2009 was
R290,587.

In 2008, the RIM applied for a Municipal
Infrastructure Grant {MIG) to initiate bulk water
supply, yard connections and to provide
ventilation improved pit (VIP) foilets. AQPSA
made financial provision to fund the 30%
portion of the project cost not covered by
MIG. This funding included R2.9 million for
yard connections and R3.4 million for VIP
toilets. These amounts will only be paid at the
end of the project implementation phase.
AQPSA built two new classrooms at
Rustenburg Primary School ot a cost of
R260,558 and renovated existing buildings
and constructed an administration block and
two new classrooms at Kroondal Farm School



at a cost of R217,024. Tirelong Intermediate
School dlso received a new administration
block and five new classrooms at a cost of
R511,962.

e AQPSA dalso allocated R3]
design, architectural services and construction

of

million to the

an early childhood development centre in
lkemeleng. This project was completed in

2009,

June

Environment

Environmental management is an integral part of
the management of the cperaiions. EMPs are
in place af all operations and guide both
the shrategic and dayto-day environmental
management programmes. These plans were
developed hom the original environmental
impact assessments [ElAs) developed for each
operation and are dynamic documenis  that
consider changing circumstances, new legislation
and developments in environmental practices.
These EMPs have been agreed with the
regulatory authorifies and a compliance audit is

undertaken on an annual basis by an external
consuliant. These audits are submitied 1o the
DMR in support of AQPSAs mining licences.
Audits, which were undertaken in late 2008,
and then again prior o the end of the 2009
finoncial year, indicated that Aquarius s
principally in compliance and minor issues of

nonrcompliance have been addressed.

The primary areas of environmental concern are:

& Minimising resource usage;

¢ Opfimising and reducing energy and waler
usage. Energy is a primary driver of coss,
both currently and in the fulure, Water is a
scarce resource in southern Africa. [AQPSASs
operations are zero discharge operations).

Understanding risks and opportunities relafing
o climale change, and effecting greenhouse
gas emissions reductions.

e \Waste management.

Aquarius participated in the Carbon Disclosure
Project [CDP) 2009 survey. This submission may
be viewed at www.CDProject.nef.
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Aquarius — South Africa

Stuart A Murray*

B.Sc. {Chem.Eng), AMI ChemE

Executive Chairman

After obtaining his degree in Chemical
Engineering from Imperial College, london,
Mr. Murray commenced his career in 1984
with Impala Platinum Holdings Limited.
Following a@ 17-year career in the South
African plafinum indusiry, Mr. Murray joined
Aquarius Platinum Llimited in May 2001 and
was appointed Chief Executive Officer.

Hugo Hall*

BSc (Chem Eng), MBA

Managing Director

Mr. Héll joined AQPSA in 2002 as Project
Manager responsible for the Everest South
Feasibility Study. Mr. Holl was appointed
General Manager: Everest in 2004 to
manage the Everest project from construction
to commissioning and subsequently assumed
operational responsibility. Mr. Héll was
appointed General Manager: Projects and
Transformation in November 2007 and was
appointed as Managing Director in
September 2008. Mr. Hall brings with him 15
years' experience in the mining industry, 12 of
which were at senior management level.

Paul A Smith

B.Sc (Chem, Geo), DMT (Extractive
Metallurgy), B.Com [Hon], MBA

Director: New Business — Aquarius Platinum
{SA) Corporate Services

Mr. Smith joined Aquarius as Director: New
Business in July 2008. Mr. Smith has 12 years
of stock broking and corporate finance
experience in the South African and African
natural resources sector. Prior to joining the
finance industry Mr. Smith worked for five
years in metallurgical operations management
in the then Gencor group of companies, in the
gold, chrome and manganese sectors.

* Denotes Board member of AQPSA.
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Anton Lubbe*

BSc (Mining), GDE, MBA

Operations Director: West

M:r. Lubbe joined AQPSA in October 2008 as
Operations Director Western Limb Operations.
M. Lubbe has 28 years of mining experience,
with exposure to gold, platinum, chrome and
copper. He has 10 years of experience as
General Manager, three years as Divisional
Director New Business for DRDGOLD, and
three years contracting experience as
Operations Director of JIC {Mining). He also
served on the boards of DRDGOLD and its
subsidiaries, and Westdawn Investments
{Trading as JIC Mining].

Anton Wheeler*

Pr Tech Eng

Operations Director: East

Mr. Wheeler joined AQPSA in April 2006
as Operations Director and after a term
as Managing Director was appointed
Operations Director: East in September 2008.
Mr. Wheeler began his career in gold and
coal mining, moving fo platinum mining in
1988 when he joined Impala Platinum
Holdings Limited (Implats) where he held
various senior positions including that of
Operations Director of Zimplats.

Héléne Nolte*

CA[SA)

Finance Director

Ms. Nolte joined AQPSA in July 2008 as
Finance Director. She began her career at
KPMG where she spent 10 years providing
services to predominantly mining industry
clients, her last position being that of Senior
Audit Manager. She has been involved with
AQPSA since 1999 in an audit capacity and
from 2004 in a consulting capacity.



Hulme Scholes*

BA law & LIB

Commercial Director

Mr. Scholes joined AQPSA as Commercial
Director in August 2008. Mr. Scholes holds a
BA law and LLB degree from the University of
the Witwatersrand and is an Admitted
Attorney of the High Court of the Republic of
South Africa. Mr. Scholes specialises in
mining and mineral law and has practiced
exclusively in the field for 15 years. Prior to
joining AQPSA, Mr. Scholes was a partner at
Werksmans Attorneys from 1999 and a non-
executive director of AQPSA from 2004.

Gabriél (Gawie] de Wet

B.Sc. Eng (Mech)

General Manager: Engineering

Mr. de Wet obtained his mechanical
engineering degree from the University of
Pretoria in 1986 and dfter graduation joined
Iscor Mining Company. He also holds a
Post Graduate Diploma in Maintenance
Engineering. Mr. de Wet held various positions
at lscor's Coal division until he joined
Kroondal Mine in March. 2000 as Engineering
Manager. Mr. de Wet was subsequently
appointed as General Manager Engineering
in March 2003.

Mkhululi Duka

B.Soc.Sc. [UCT), P.G.D. HRM, Cert.
Advanced OD, Cert. Financial Management
{UNISA}

General Manager: HR and Transformation
Mr. Duka began his career as a human
resources professional at Eskom in 1994 after
graduating in a Bachelor of Social Sciences
& Humanities degree from the University
of Cape Town. Mr. Duka acquired and
shared his experience and human resource
experlise in various industries such as energy,
government, banking, mining, and oil and
gas. He was Senior Human Resources
Manager at the Petroleum Oil & Gas
Corporation of South Africa (Pty) Ltd (PetroSA)
before joining AQPSA as Group Human
Resources Manager in June 2008. Mr. Duka
was subsequently appointed General Manager:
HR and Transformation in August 2008.

Graham Ferreira

B.Compt, (Hons) B.Acc, CPA

General Manager: Group Administration
and Company Secretary

Mr. Ferreira has been with AQPSA and
its forerunners from May 1998. Mr. Ferreira
was appointed General Manager Group
Administration and Company Secretary in
2001. He commenced his career with Ernst &
Young in 1976 mostly servicing the mining
industry clients and later gaining experience
in the retail and trade exhibition industries.

Wessel Phumo

NHD [Mining Engineering} B.Tech {Mining
Engineering)

General Manager Operations: Marikana

Mr. Phumo began his career as a learner
official at Saaiplaas Gold Mine in January
1988 and held various positions in the
Harmony Group until he joined AQPSA in
May 2007 as Mine Manager. Mr. Phumo
was appointed General Manager Operations:
Marikana in December 2007.

Gus Simbanegavi

BSc (Mining), MBA , MAusiMM

General Manager Operations: Everest

Mr Simbanegavi joined AQPSA in May 2008
as mine manager for Marikana operations.
He was recently appointed General Manager
Everest Mine. Prior to joining AQPSA, Mr
Simbanegavi was employed by Zimplats in
2001 and held several senior management
positions for both open pit mining and
mechanised underground mining. He has
more than 10 years’ mine management
experience in both gold and platinum mining.

Abraham van Ghent

BSc Mining Engineering

General Manager Operations: Kroondal
Mr van Ghent joined AQPSA in July 2009. A
mining engineer with 25 years’ relevant mining
experience, Mr van Ghent was previously
employed by Murray and Roberts [MRC) as
senior project manager at the Kroondal and
Marikana mines. He started his mining career in
1985 as a learner official at Elandsrand Gold
Mine and worked for AngloGold Ashanti
Limited for 20 years before moving to MRC.
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Aquarius — Zimbabwe

Winston Chitando

B Acc

Managing Director

M. Chitando was appointed Managing Director
with effect from 1 October 2007 and is
responsible to the board for the implementation
of Mimosa’s strategic plan. Mr. Chitando has
been Executive Director of Mimosa since 2002.
Up untl 30 September 2007 he was also
Commercial Director of Zimasco. On leaving
college in 1985 Mr. Chitando joined Wankie
Colliery Company. From 1990 he worked for
Anglo American Corporation Zimbabwe before
joining Zimasco in 1997.

Herbert S. Mashanyare

B.Sc (Chem), MPhil (applied Research in
Metallurgy), M Sc. Eng; DIC (Diploma of imperial
College)

Technical Director

M:r. Mashanyare was appointed Technical Director
in July 2004 and is responsible for projects,
research and development, and the implementation
of best practice ot Mimosa. He reports directly to
the Managing Director. Mr. Mashanyare was
previously the Metallurgical Executive responsible
for process projects and improvements. His prior
work experience includes eight years at Rio Tinto
Zimbabwe, six years at the Institule of. Mining
Research and 13 years at Zimasco.

Peter R Chimboza

B.SC. {Physical Science]

Production Director

M. Chimboza joined Mimosa Mining Co. (Pv) Lid
in August 2004 as General Manager and was
appointed Production Director in January 2006. Mr.
Chimboza is responsible for operations at Mimosa
Mine. Prior to joining Mimosa, Mr. Chimboza
worked for Zisco Steel and Zimasco in senior
management positions at their metallurgical
processing operations.
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Fungai Makoni

B.Comm Accounting, CTA, Part Il FQE ICAZ
General Manager Finance and Company
Secrefary

Mr. Makoni joined Mimosa in December 2004 as
Finance Executive in the Harare Office and was
appointed Company Secretary in April 2004. He
was subsequently appointed fo the position of
General Manager Finance and Company Secretary
on 1 October 2007. After college, Mr. Makoni
trained with Deloitte & Touche in Zimbabwe before
joining Zimasco as the Finance Manager in 2002.

Nathan Shoko

B.Comm, PostGraduate Diploma in Applied
Accounting, Diploma in Management Accounting

Commercial Executive

Mr. Shoko joined Mimosa in August 2003 as
Finance Execufive responsible for finance and
administration at the mine. Mr. Shoko was
subsequently appointed Commercial Executive
in February 2008 with responsibilities for
procurement, estates, administration of capital and
contracts management. Prior fo joining Mimosa, Mr.
Shoko was the Finance Manager for Zimasco. After
college, Mr. Shoko trained with Deloitte & Touche in
Zimbabwe before joining Zimasco in 1999.

Tapson Nyamambi

Cefttificate of Competency in Mine Survey
General Manager Mining

Mr. Nyamambi is a qualified Surveyor, who also
pursued a mining career as a learner mining official
with Zimasco (Pvt) lid during the period 1995 to
1997. He joined Mimosa Mining Company in
1998 as Production Superintendent and rose
through the ranks, to become Mining Manager
and eventually Mining Executive in February 2006.
Mr. Nyamambi is currenly employed as the
General Manager {Mining) responsible for all
mining outputs

Admire |. Makuvaro

Bsc Engineering Honours (Mechanical)
Engineering Executive

Mr. Makuvaro joined Mimosa in 2001 as Project
Engineer responsible for Phase lll expansion and
was appointed Engineering Executive in February
2009. Prior fo joining Mimosa Mr. Makuvaro was
project engineer for Zimasco from 1996.



Risk management

Strategic risk oversight

The Aquarius Platinum Board of Directors has
appointed an Audit and Risk Committee. In terms
of its Charter, the Audit and Risk Committee is
responsible to the Aquarius Platinum Board for all
its operations and responsibilities. A copy of this
Charter is available on the Company web site
(www.aquariusplatinum.com). With respect to
the Group risk profile and the management
thereof, the Audit and Risk Commitlee has
appointed an Operational Risk Management
Oversight Committee, chaired by a senior
management executive, independent of direct
line operations management.

The Operational Risk Management Oversight
Committee meets on a quarterly basis to review
and update the Group risk profile and reports
directly to the -Audit and Risk Commitiee on a
quarterly basis.

Strategic risks facing the Group are identified,
monitored and actively managed through the
allocation of appropriate resources to address
the risks identified.

The allocation of resources currently focuses on
the alignment of an organisational strategy that
will ensure:

e Continuous improvement in safety, health
and environmental performance towards
the goal of ‘zero harm'.

* The requisite resources, skills and structures
are in place to deliver on production
objectives, as efficiently and costeffectively
as possible, in line with the Group’s stated
strategic plan.

® The Company afiracts, develops, retains
and motivates the requisite management,
operational, technical and business skills.

e Organisational diversity and improved
employee engagement and participation in
all business activities.

¢ The most efficient management of the
Group's mineral resource base, to maximise

‘the value thereof to the Group and its
business partners.

¢ Maintaining the safe, efficient and productive
use of contractors on the Group’s key
operations.

¢ Sustaining unit production costs in the
lowest quartile of the industry.

* Maintaining effective project management

processes and skills to ensure successful

project implementation and delivery on our

operations.

Profecting and maintaining the security and

reliability of physical assets.

Retaining process, systems and management

technology competitiveness.

Continually reviewing, evaluating and

developing growth opportunities for the

Group through acquisition, organic growth

and exploration.

® Refaining permission to operate, on a fully
compliant basis, within a dynamic legal
and regulatory environment.

® Managing the unceriainties that affect the
Zimbabwe operation.

® Addressing relevant issues regarding

corporate  responsibility, and  being

recognised as a good corporate citizen in

the countries and communities in which the

Company operates.

Ensuring that impacts on the business in terms

of utility supply disruptions are minimised.

® Ensuring that risks associated with suppliers

and logistics are minimised.

Managing through appropriate health

policies the impact of HIV and AIDS on

employees.
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Directors’ report

The Directors of Aquarius Platinum Limited {Aquarius) provide hereunder their
report as fo the results and state of affairs of the Group for the financial year
ended 30 June 2009. The consolidated financial information is presented in

US dollars.
Directors

The names of the Directors of the parent entify in
office during the financial year and until the date
of this report are as follows:

Nicholas T. Sibley

Non-executive Chairman

M. Sibley is a Chartered Accountant, a director
of TanzaniteOne ltd, Comey & Barrow Group
ltd, Wah Kwong Maritime Transport Holdings
ltd and of two investment companies. He was
formerly chairman of Wheelock Capital from
1994 to 1997, as well as executive chairman
of Barclays de Zoete Wedd (Asia Pacific)
Limited, from 1989 to 1993. Mr. Sibley is a
former managing director of Jardine Fleming
Holdings ltd and Barclays de Zoete Wedd
Holdings lid. Mr. Sibley was appointed to the
Aquarius Plafinum Board during October 1999
and assumed the Chairmanship in July 2002.
Mr. Sibley is a member of the Audit/Risk,
Nomination and Remuneration & Succession
Planning Committees of the Group.

Stuart A. Murray

Chief Executive Officer

Mr.Murray joined Aquarius Platinum  Limited
during May 2001 and was appointed Chief
Executive Officer in September 2001. Affer
obtaining his degree in Chemical Engineering
from Imperial College, london, Mr. Murray
commenced his career in 1984 with Impala
Platinum Holdings Limited. He is Chairman of
Aquarius Platinum (South Africa) (Pty) Uid, the
Group's 100% owned subsidiary. Mr. Murray
sits on the Boards of Mimosa Investments Limited
the Group’s 50% owned Zimbabwean
subsidiary, Platinum Mile Resources (Pty} Limited
the Group’s 50% owned tailings retreatment
company, and Aquarius Platinum {SA] Corporate
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Services (Pty) Limited, the owner of 50% of the
Chrome Tailings Retreatment Plant. Mr. Murray is
a member of the Nomination Committiee and
Executive Commitiee of AQPSA.

Sir William Purves

Non-executive Director

Sir William Purves joined The Hong Kong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation in 1954 (now
part of the HSBC Group) being appointed Chief
Executive in 1986 and Group Chairman the
following year. Following its acquisition in
1992, he also became Chairman of Midland
Bank. He refired from the HSBC Group in 1998
after 44 years service. Sir William Purves is a
non-executive director of a number of private
companies and was a nonexecutive director of
Shell Transport and Trading from 1993 to 2002.
He was also a member of the Executive Council,
Hong Kong's highest policy-making body. He
was appointed a Commander of the Order of
the British Empire in 1990 and was knighted in
1993. Sir William Purves was appointed fo the
Aquarius Platinum Board during February 2004
and is Chairman of the Audit/Risk Committee,
Senior Independent Director of the Company
and a member of the Nomination Commitiee.

David R. Dix

Non-executive Director

M. Dix's background is in economics, law and
taxation and he is a Barrister and Solicitor in the
High Court of Australia. He has held various
positions with Shell Australia Limited and worked
for 16 years in Corporate Advisory at both
Macquarie Bank Llimited and UBS AG
specialising in the mining industry, including
Head of Resources for Asia Pacific and in
London as Head of Mining. Mr. Dix is Executive
Chairman of Australian Oil Company, AED Oil
Limited and Chairman of Quadrem Limited, a



company which provides eBusiness solutions to
the resource secior. He brings to Aquarius a
wealth of experience gained in the international
business and resources communities. Mr. Dix
was appointed to the Aquarius Platinum Board
during March 2004 and is a member of the
Audit/Risk, and Nomination Committees.

G. Edward Haslam

Non-executive Director

M. Haslam joined Lonmin plc in 1981 and was
appointed a director of Lonmin plc in 1999 and
Chief Executive Officer in November 2000. He
retired from lonmin plc in April 2004,
Mr. Haslam is Chairman of Finnish Nickel
Mining Company Talvivaara ple, which
completed its listing on the LSE on 1 June 2007
and is Senior Independent Director of the South
African  company Namaokwa Diamonds Lid.,
which completed its listing on the JSE in
December 2008. Mr. Haslam was appointed to
the Aquarius Platinum Board during May 2004
and is Chairman of the Remuneration &
Succession Planning Committee and a member
of the Audit/Risk, and Nomination Committees.

Tim Freshwater

Non-executive Director

M. Freshwater is a solicitor in the UK and Hong
Kong and has been involved in Asian markets for
over 35 years. Mr. Freshwater, Vice Chairman of
Goldman Sachs Asia, is also a director of a
number of companies, including Swire Pacific
Limited, Chong Hing Bank Limited, Cosco
Pacific Limited and Grosvenor Asia Limited. He is
a member of the board of directors of the
Community Chest of Hong Kong and a Council
Member of the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council. M. Freshwater was appointed fo the
Aquarius Platinum Board during August 2006
and is a member of the Nomination Commitiee.

Kofi Morna

Non-executive Director

Mr. Morna is an Executive Director of Savannah
Resources (Ply) Limited (Savannah), the lead

investor in the Savannah Consortium, Aquarius
Platinum's BEE pariner. Prior o joining Savannah
Resources, Mr. Morna worked with the
International  Finance Corporation as an
Investment Officer, Gemini Consulting as
a Senior Management Consultant and
Schlumberger Oilfield Services as a Field
Engineer. Mr. Morna holds an MBA from the
London Business School and a BS from Princeton
University in the United States. He is currently a
director of Mkhombi Holdings and Delta Iron
Ore. Mr. Moma joined the Board of AQPSA in
February 2005 and was appointed to the
Aquarius Platinum Board during February 2007.
Mr. Morna is a member of the Nomination
Commitiee of the Group.

Zwelakhe Mankazana

Mr. Mankazana is an Executive Director of
Savannah Resources, the lead investor in the
Savannah Consortium, Aquarius Platinum's BEE
partner. Mr. Mankazana holds an MSc in
Economics from the Patrice Lumumba University
of Friendship. In addition to his interests in
mining, Mr. Mankazana is also a director of
South African mobile operator Cell C, Emerald
Casinos and Resorts, New Millennium
Telecommunications and Ubambo  investment
Holdings Limited. He is involved in community
development as a trustee on several development
frusts. Mr. Mankazana joined the Board of
Aquarius(SA] in February 2005. He was
appointed fo the Aquarius Platinum Board during
November 2008 and is a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Group.

Company secretary

Willi M.P. Boehm

Mr. Boehm joined Aquarius in June 1995. He
has been with the Company since the
commencement of its involvement in the platinum
sector and is responsible for the Company's
Corporate Affairs. He has 29 years experience.
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Directors’ report cont.

Interests in the shares and
options of the company

As at

> nterest of r%e

Directors in the shares and oplions of Aquarius

date of this report, 1l

Platinum were:

N.T Sibley 1 7/ ///
S.A Murray 1,676,231
Sir W Purves -
DR Dix 100,000
G E. Haslam 16,666
T Freshwater

K. Morna

7. Mankazano

Principal activities

The principal activities of companies within the

Group during the financial year were mine

development, concenirafe production and

investment. During the year, fhe: principal focus
revolved around the operations of the Kroondal

platinum mine, the Marikana platinum mine, the

Mimosa platinum mine, the bve plafinum

oinf venture and the

mine, the Plafinum Mile

rome Tailings Retreatment Plant,

Results of operations

The net loss of the Group afler provision for

income tax and non confrolling inferest was @
loss of $45.742m for the year (2008 net profit

of $236.474m).

Review of operations

Operational highlights during the year included:
e Group afiributable production of 455,675 PGM
on J{ operations of the

3 PGM ounces).

ounces despite suspe
Everest Mine {2008 500

e Improved production af all operating
al fexcluding Everest & Platinum
e operaling margins through the
half of the financial year {2H) ot S
Alrican ations
o Capital raising completed by way of equity
placement, rights issue and convertible
note issu
® of the acquisition of Rldc,e Mining
0%
* Mimosa Wedza  Phase 5.5 expans
uccesstully completed and commissioned.
» &,Qmp!euc;n of the final phase of the Group's

South African B

s

transaction GHQCHV—‘S‘%\;’

ssing Aquarivs’ shareholding in AQPSA

100%

EMpOrary suspe rest in December

,‘uO mdumor‘ itribuiable to  Aquarius
WS L)/) lower af 4\,;,675 PGCM ounces.

decrease

n altributable production was due

enfirely 1o the reduction in production at the

est mine. Er»cmuvc;gimgfy all other operations

Y IAA

annual production by 49,463 PG
) compared o FY2008.

ounces {1 3%

On 27 Ociober 2008, Aquarius Platinum
anrnounced the complefion of the final phase

of its South African BEE hansoction w

SovCon whereby SavCon exchanged its 32.5%
shareholding in AQPSA for 65,042 856 new

shares

Aguarius, comprising approximately

20% of the enlarged share capital of Aquarius.

Subsequently, Aquarius increased s holding in
AQPSA to 100% of AQPSA providing a modest

boost 1o eamings.

In March 2009, the Boards of Aquarivs and

Ridge announced their agreement on the ferms of

o possible smmended  all share offer by

Aquarius for the enfire issued and 1o be issued

o
share capital of Ridge at an exchange ratio of

A

I Aquarius share for every 2.75 Ridge Shares.



Subsequent to year end, Ridge Shareholders on
6 July 2009 voted in favour of the acquisition of
Ridge by Aquarius by means of a scheme
of arrangement. Ridge Mining is now 100%
owned by Aquarius Platinum Limited.

During the last quarter of the financial year

Aquarius concluded its capital base restructuring

raising gross proceeds of $270 million by way of:

e $118.5 million from an equity placement of
46,330,000 common shares;

e $73.5 milion from a rights issue of
41,491,737 common shares as part of the
1 for 9 rights issue; and

® $78.0 milion (R650 million) from a
convertible bond issue of 65,000 bonds of
R10,000 par value.

Aquarius utilised funds received from the capital
raising and convertible bond to reduce Group
debt by paying out the RMB bridge facility of
R1.577 billion ($177 million) in May 2009. As
a result, the Group's balance sheet is significantly
stronger; Group debt comprises $8 million of
mainly bank interest bearing debt at Mimosa
and $76 million of convertible bonds issued.

in Zimbabwe, Aquarius the Wedza 5.5 expansion
was successfully commissioned in May 2009,
providing capacity to produce 200,000 PGM
ounces per annum of which 50% is attributable
to Aquarius..

The proposed amendments to the Mines and
Minerals Act in Zimbabwe which were tabled
just before the dissolution of the previous
parliament have been withdrawn by the current
Minister of Mines. The Minister has requested
for input from the industry through the Chamber
of Mines.

Since the announcement of the National Budget
and Monetary Policy Statement in January 2009
that liberalised foreign currency trading in
Zimbabwe there has not been any further
changes in the foreign currency regime.

Operating results

Aquarius recorded a consolidated loss for
the year to 30 June 2009 of $45.7 million
(US$ 13.30 cents per share] compared fo a
prior year profit of $236.5 million. The result is
attributable to a number of factors but in the main
a collapse of PGM prices during the first half of
the financial year and reduced production due to
the suspension of operations at the Everest mine

in December 2008.

Significantly, earnings in the second half of
the financial year {2H 2009) reflected a
$94.4 million swing resulting in a net profit of
$24.4 million in 2H. This net profit was
achieved despite lower production [Everest], the
impact of dollarisation of the Zimbabwean
economy and a significant strengthening in the
value of the SA Rand against the US$ in 2H. The
net profit achieved in the second half is
attributable to improved US$ PGM prices (both
provisional and realised) lifing from the lows
experienced in the December 2008 quarter.

Revenue from ordinary activities for the FY2009
was $311 million (comprising sales revenue of
$300 million and interest income of $11 million),
down from the previous corresponding period
due o the factors described above. Revenue in
2H 2009 was $32 million higher than 1H
2009 despite lower production, reflecting o
return to improved PGM prices.

The Group cash balance was $153.6 million at
30 June 2009.

Dividends

The 2008 final dividend of US$10 cents per
common share was paid during October 2008.
An interim dividend has not been paid during the
year. The Directors have not declared a final
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2009.
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Directors’ report cont.

Significant changes in the
group’s state of affairs

The Directors are not aware of any significant
changes in the state of affairs of the Group that
occurred during the financial year, which has not
been covered elsewhere in this annual report.

Events subsequent to the end
of the financial year

On 6 July 2009, Aquarius Platinum Limited
[Aquarius) acquired 100% of the voting shares of
Ridge Mining plc [Ridge), a company registered
and headquartered in England and publicly
listed on the AIM market of the Llondon
Stock Exchange.

The acquisition of Ridge will build on the
successful transformation of Aquarius into the
fourth largest low cost platinum producer in the
Bushveld Complex. Ridge’s flagship Blue Ridge
Mine is currently enfering production and will
further diversify Aquarius’ portfolio, increase its
resources base, add new production ounces
and longevily to its production profile and add
significant optionality with the new Sheba's
Ridge project.

Ridge is a platinum group metal explorer and
developer with two key projects in the eastern
limb of South Africa’s Bushveld Complex,
the 50% owned Blue Ridge project which is
in the start up phase and which shipped its
first concentrate in April 2009, and the 39%
owned Sheba's Ridge project which is under
feasibility study.

The tofal cost of the business combination was
US$113,108,751 and comprised the issue of
equity instruments — both ordinary shares and
options over ordinary shares. Aquarius issued
33,478,376 ordinary shares with a fair value of
GBP1.968 each, based on the quoted price
of the shares of Aquarius on 6 July 2009. The
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ordinary shares have o total fair value of
GBP65,885,443 or US$107,575,775. Aquarius
granted 14,089,324 replacement options over
ordinary shares to cover the outstanding Ridge
employee share opfions, shareholder warrants,
and options granted to joint venture partners.
The replacement options have a total fair value
of GBP1,857,565 or US$3,032,976.

The consolidated net assets of Ridge at
31 December 2008 was US$108,599,000
from its 31 December 2008 Full Year Results. The
Group is currently undertaking an assessment of the
fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of Ridge. Accordingly it is impracticable
to provide further information.

Likely developments and
expected results

Other than matters referred to in this report, the
Directors make no comments regarding the likely
developments in the operations of the Group
and the expected results of those operations in
subsequent financial years. In the opinion of the
Directors, any further disclosures might prejudice
the interests of the Group.

Environmental regulation and
performance

Companies within the Aquarius Platinum Group
are required, on cessation of mining operations,
to rehabilitate the relevant mining area on
which mining operations have been conducted.
M. Hugo Hall, Managing Director of AQPSA, is
the officer responsible for compliance on these
matters for all South African properties within
the Group. Mr. Winston Chitando, Managing
Director of Mimosa Group of Companies in
Zimbabwe, is the officer responsible on these
matters for all Zimbabwean located properties
within the Group. In South Africa, the Company
makes annual coniributions to established trusts



in order fo provide for its ebligations in respect
of “environmental - rehabilitation. * Environmental
aclivities are confinuously monitored fo efisure
that established eriteria from each” operations’
snvironmental management programme, approved
by relevant authorifies, has been met. There have
been no - known ' sighificant brecches of any
environmental condifions:

Directors’ and officers’
insurance

Doring the vear, the parent entity has paid ari
insurance premium _in respect of o contract
insuring against liability of current Directors and
officers. The Diteclors have not included details
of the nature of the liabifiies covered or the
amount of the premium paid in respect of the
Directors’ and ~officers” liability “insurance

confract, as such disclosure is prohibited under
the: terms of the contract.

Going concern

The Direciars are satisfied that the Compaiy has
adequate - financial - resources o confinue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Meetings of directors

The number of meefings. of the Board of Directors of the parent entify held during the year ended
130 June 2009 and the aumber of mestings oftended by each Ditecior are tobled below: -~~~ -

Number of meetings

T. Freshwater
K. Morma
7 Mankazana

N.T. Sibley 8 1 4
S.A. Murray 8 - -
D.R. Dix 8 - 4
G.E. Haslam 8 1 4
Sir'W. Puives 8 - 4

3

8

8

The financial stetements have been prepared on
the going concern basis:

Directors' and executives’
emoluments

The Board ‘1s responsible for determining and
reviewing -compensation arrangements for the
Directors and executive management. The Board
assesses the ‘appropriateness of the nature and
armount’of emoluments of such officers on an
annual beisis by reference 1o indusiry and market
conditions. In determining the nature and amount
of officers” emolumenis, the Board fakes into
consideration the Company's financial and
operational performance.

Details of the natyre and amount of each element
of the emolument of each Director of the Group
and the other key management personnel in
aggregate during the financial year are shown in
he table below. Refer also Nofe 36 = Share-
Based Payment Plans and Note 37~ Related
Party” Disclosures for participation - by - the
Directors” and the key management personnel in
the Company's Share Plan and Option Plan.

Number of meetings atfended
e e e

5

1 6 ] 4 1
] 8 - - ]
| 5 - 4 ]
] 6 ] 4 ]
1 6 - 4 ]
1 o) - - 1
] 8 - - ]
1 4 - - 1




Directors’ report cont.

Directors’ remuneration

|

. Remune: ‘
ration i s - Base 6 | Retiremient
‘ommitiee or 1 sl Bonus | | options | benefifs |

TRV
R V.

30000 829181 BA3AE 1,682,199

51252

{
i

with d resolution of the Directors:

Stuart-Murray
Director
30 September 2009




Corporate governance statement

The following Statement sets out the governance
practices of the Aquarius Platinum Group.

The Board of Directors of Aguarius Platinum is
responsible for the corporate governance of the
Group. The Board guides and monitors the
business affairs of Aquarius Plafinum on behalf of
shareholders by whom they are elected and o
whom they are accountable.

In accordance with the Australian  Stock
Exchange Corporate Governance Council's (the
Council's) “Principles of Good Corporate
Covernance and Best Practice Recommen-
datfions” {the Recommendations), the Company
will disclose the extent to which it has followed
the guidelines and any reasons for departure
The Board will
review and respond to corporate governance

from these. continve to

requirements. For further information on  the

corporate policies adopted
by Aquarivs Platinum, refer fo our website

www.aquariusplatinum.com

governance

Board of directors

The Board is responsible for the overall
management of the Company. If is governed
by a Charter, a summary of which can

be the

www.aquariusplatinum.com. Among other

found on Aquarius  website  at

matters, the Charter sets out the framework

Board structure

Name of director in office at the

to office

date of this report:

Date appointed

for the management of the Company, the
responsibilities of the Board, its direction,
strategies and financial objectives and how they
will be monitored.

In order 1o refain full and effective control over
the Company and monitor the executive
management team, the Board meets regularly
and cof least on a quarterly basis. Defails of
Directors’ attendance at these meetings is set out
in the Directors” Report. In consultation with the
Chief Executive Officer and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman sets the agenda for
these meetings. All Directors may add a matter fo
the agenda. Key executives of the Company
contribute o board papers and are from time to
time invited to attend Board meetings.

Each Director has the right to seek independent
professional advice on matters relating fo their
position as a Director or committee member of
the Company af the Company's expense, subject
to prior approval of the Chairman, which shall
not be unreasonably withheld.

The names of the Directors in office at the fime of
this Report and their relevant qualifications and
experience are sef out in the Directors’” Report
within this Annual Report. Their status as non-
executive, executive or independent directors
ond tenure on the Board is set out in the
table below.

Executive/

Non-executive  Independent

N.T. Sibley = Chairman 26 October 1999 Non-executive Yes
S.A. Murray = Chief Executive Officer 21 May 2001 Executive No
DR. Dix 31 March 2004 Non-executive Yes
G.E. Haslam 1 May 2004 Non-executive Yes
Sir W. Purves 10 February 2004 Non-executive Yes
T. Freshwater @ August 2006 Non-executive Yes
K. Moma 6 February 2007 Non-executive No
7 Mankazana 6 November 2008 Non-executive No
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Corporate governance statement cont.

The bye-laws of the Company defermine that the
Board consists of not less than two and no more
than nine Directors. At the date of this report,
the Board comprises eight Directors, seven of
whom are nonexecutive directors, and one
executive director, Mr. Stuart Murray, Chief
Executive Officer.

The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman ond the Chief Executive Officer is
reviewed regularly and is defined below:

¢ The Chairman, Mr. Nicholas Sibley, is
responsible for leadership of the Board
ensuring its members receive accurate, timely
and clear information in order to focilitate
effectiveness of its role.

Mr. Stuart Murray, Chief Executive Officer,
leads executive management. He has been
delegalted responsibility by the Board for the
dayto-day operation and administration of the
Company. The Chief Executive Officer
is assisled in managing the business of
the Group by the Managing Director, the
Executive Commitiee and the Board of
Aquarius Platinum (South  Africa) {Pry) LUd.
M. Murray represents the Group’s interests as
a director of the Mimosa Group of companies
which owns the Mimosa Platinum Mine in

Zimbabwe.

Independence of non-executive directors
Independence of directors in essence means
those directors independent of management and
free of any business or other relationship that
could, or could reasonably be perceived to,
materially interfere with the exercise of unfettered
and independent judgement.

In line with the ASX Principles of Good
Corporate Governance and Best Practice
Recommendations, the Board has accepted the
guidelines outlined below in defermining the
independence of nonexecutive directors. In
accordance with these, all Directors, with the
exception of Mr. Stuart Murray as CEO of the
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Company, Mr. Kofi Moma and Mr. Zwelokhe
Mankazana, who represent the Savannah
Consortium's BEE interests, are deemed
independent.

The Board has accepted the following definition
of an independent director.

An Independent Director is someone who is not
a member of management, is a non-executive
director and who: '

a) is not a substantial shareholder {5%) of the
Company or an officer of, or otherwise
associated directly with a substantial
shareholder of the Company;

b) within the last three years has not been
employed in an executive capacity by the
Company or another Group member, or
been a director afer ceasing to hold any
such employment;

c} within the last three years has not been a
principal of a material professional adviser
or a material consultant to the Company or
another Group member, or an employee
materially associated with the service
provided;

d} is not a material supplier or customer of the
Company or other Group member, or an
officer of or otherwise associated directly or
indirectly with a material supplier or
customer;

e} has no material contractual relationship
with the Company or another Group
member other than as a Director of
the Company;
has not served on the Board for a period
which could, or could reasonably be
perceived to, materially interfere with the
Director's ability to act in the best interest of
the Company; and
gl is free from any interest and any business or

other relationship which could, or could

reasonably be perceived to, materially
inferfere with the Director's ability o act in
the best inferest of the Company.

f



Senior independent non-executive

director
The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director,
Sir William Purves, is appointed by the Board.

Company secretary

The Company Secrefary, Mr. Willi Boehm, is
responsible for supporting the effectiveness of the
Board by monitoring that Board policy and
procedures are complied with, coordinating the
flow of information within the Company and the
completion and despatch of items for the Board
and briefing materials. The Company Secretary
is accountable to the Board on all governance
matters. All Directors have access to the services
of the Company Secretary. The appointment and
removal of the Company Secretary is a matter
for the Board as a whole.

Succession planning

The Board brings the range of skills, knowledge,
international experience and expertise necessary
to govern the Group, but it is aware of the need
to ensure processes are in place o assist with
succession planning, not only for the Board,
but within senior management. The Board
periodically assesses its balance of skills and
those of the Group in order to maintain an
appropriate balance within the Company.

Induction training and
continuing professional
development

In order to assist new Directors and key
executives in fulfiling their duties and
responsibilities within the Company, an induction
programme is provided by the Chief Executive
Officer, which includes meetings with the
execufive team and visits o the operating sites of
the Company in South Africa and Zimbabwe.
The program enables the new appointees fo
gain an understanding of the Company's
financial, strategic, operational and risk

management position. Full access to all
documentation pertaining to the Company is
provided. It ensures new Directors and key
executives are aware of their rights, duties and
responsibilities.

Performance review

The Board of Aquarius conducts a performance
review of itself on an ongoing basis throughout
the year. The size of the Company and hands on
management slyle requires an increased level
of interaction between Directors and executives
throughout the year. Board members meet
amongst themselves and with management both
formally and informally. The Board considers that
the current approach that it has adopted with
regard fo the review of its performance and of its
key executives, provides the best guidance and
value to the Group.

Directors’ retirement and
re-election

Aquarius’ byelaws determine that at each
Annual General Meeting, at least one third of the
Board are refired by rotation, therefore holding
their positions for no longer than three years. This
period of time provides continuity. Nom-executive
directors are appointed for a threeyear term and
may be invited fo seek reappointment. A
Director appointed during the year is subject for
election at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting. Pursuant to the byelaws of the
Company, the Chief Executive Office is not
subject to retirement by rotation.

Securities trading policy

The Board has adopted a policy covering
dealings in securities by Directors and relevant
employees. The policy is designed fo reinforce fo
shareholders, customers <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>